# The Effects of an Extracorporeal Circulation on Cerebral Perfusion during Paediatric Critical Care and Cardiothoracic Procedures

Lucy Elizabeth Mary Finnigan

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of

Liverpool John Moores University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

This research was carried out in collaboration with

Alder Hey Children's Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

December 2021

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1: Introduction20
1.1 Aims and Objectives25
Chapter 2: Literature Review
2.1 Overview of the Literature Review
2.2 The Integrated Control of Cerebral Blood Flow in Healthy and Clinical Populations
22.1 Anatomy of the Cerebral Vasculature
2.2.2 An Overview of Cerebral Autoregulation
2.2.3 Cerebral Pressure Autoregulation
2.2.4 Neurovascular Coupling35
2.2.5 Cerebrovascular Responsiveness to CO <sub>2</sub>
2.2.6 Acid-Base Balance and Cerebral Blood Flow
2.2.7 Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity and Neurological Deficit in Paediatric Patients
2.2.8 Summary40
2.3 Critical Care Procedures and Cerebral Perfusion42
2.3.1 Acute Respiratory Failure42
2.3.2 Veno-Arterial Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation and Cannulation Types
2.3.3 The Prevalence of Neurological Deficit in ECMO Survivors45
2.3.4 Reasons for Neurological Deficit in ECMO- Factors affecting Cerebral Blood Flow
2.3.5 Interventions affecting Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation
2.3.6 Measurements of Neurological Deficit in Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Patients47
2.3.7 Cranial Ultrasounds47
2.3.8 Magnetic Resonance Imaging
2.3.9 Computerised Tomography Scans48
2.3.10 Near Infrared Spectroscopy49
2.3.11 Transcranial Doppler Ultrasonography49
2.3.12 Summary

2.4 Impact to Cerebral Perfusion during Cardiothoracic Procedures in Congenita Heart Disease
2.4.1 Congenital Heart Disease52
2.4.2 Neurological deficit in Congenital Heart Disease
2.4.3 Aortic Arch Repair54
2.4.4 Hypoplastic Left Heart Syndrome55
2.4.5 Potential Disruptions to Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Aortic Arcl Repair
2.4.6 The Adverse effects of Cardiopulmonary Bypass
2.4.7 Blood Viscosity changes during Cardiac Surgery
2.4.8 Anaesthesia and Cerebral Blood Flow
2.4.9 Neuroprotection during Aortic Arch Repair
2.4.10 Measurements of Cerebral Perfusion of Cerebral Perfusion during Aortic Arch Repair
2.4.11 Near Infrared Spectroscopy
2.4.12 Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound62
2.4.13 Summary
2.5 Chapter Summary
Chapter 3: Experimental Methods6
3.1 Introduction
3.2 3.2 Literature Review of Cerebral Perfusion Measurements6
3.2.1 Measuring Cerebral Perfusion in Clinical Populations6
3.2.2 Near Infrared Spectroscopy6
3.2.3 Limitations of Near Infrared Spectroscopy
3.2.4 Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound70
3.2.5 Limitations of Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound7
3.2.6 Methodological Considerations for Measurements of Cerebral Blood Flow in Healthy' Populations
3.2.7 Methodological Considerations for Measurements of Cerebral Blood Flow in Critically III Paediatric Populations
3.3 Methods
3.3.1 Participants
3.3.2 Experimental Protocol
3 3 3 Measurements 7

3.3.4 Data Reduction79
3.4 Results79
3.4.1 Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity in 'Healthy' and Sedated Populations80
3.4.2 Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity in 'Healthy' Neonates
3.4.3 Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity in Sedated Paediatrics
3.5 Discussion
3.6 Conclusion
Chapter 4: Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Paediatric Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation with a Focus on the Weaning Period
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Methods
4.2.1 Participants
4.2.2 Research Design
4.2.3 Treatment Pathway92
4.2.4 Respiratory Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation
4.2.5 Cardiac Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation93
4.2.6 Weaning from Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation
4.2.7 General Principles of Veno-Arterial Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation
4.2.7 Measurements of Cerebral Perfusion96
4.2.8 Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound96
4.2.9 Near Infrared Spectroscopy97
4.2.10 Statistical Analysis
4.3 Results
4.3.1 Overall Patient Characteristics
4.3.2 Patient Characteristics (Peripheral Cannulation)
4.3.2 Patient Characteristics (Central Cannulation)
4.3.3 Daily Changes in Cerebral Perfusion during Full Flow Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation102
4.3.4 Cerebral Perfusion during the Weaning Period103
4.3.5 Cerebral Perfusion during Decannulation105
4.3.6 Near Infrared Spectroscopy and Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound Correlations107

<b>4.4 Discussion</b>
4.4.1 Measuring Cerebral Perfusion during Full Flow Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation
4.4.2 Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Weaning and Following Decannulation
4.4.3 The Correlation Between Near Infrared Spectroscopy and Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound
4.4.4 Methodological Considerations and Limitations111
4.4.5 Research Implications112
<b>4.5 Conclusion</b> 114
Chapter 5: Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Neonatal Aortic Arch Repair115
<b>5.1 Introduction</b> 116
<b>5.2 Methods</b> 118
5.2.1 Participants118
5.2.2 Research Design119
5.2.3 Surgical Technique for Hypoplastic Aortic Arch and Interrupted Aortic Arch Repair
5.2.4 Additional Surgical Technique for the Norwood Procedure122
5.2.5 Measurements of Cerebral Perfusion
5.2.6 Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound123
5.2.7 Near Infrared Spectroscopy123
5.2.8 Antegrade Cerebral Perfusion Target124
5.2.9 Statistical Analysis125
<b>5.3 Results</b>
5.3.1 Overall Patient Characteristics125
5.3.2 Patient Cooled to 20°c126
5.3.3 Patient Cooled to 25°c129
5.3.4 Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity from Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound129
5.3.5 Cerebral Oxygenation from Near Infrared Spectroscopy129
5.3.6 Cardiopulmonary Bypass Flow Rates132
5.3.7 Arterial Blood Gas Analysis
5.3.8 Repeated Measures Correlations between Near Infrared Spectroscopy and Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound
<b>5.4 Discussion</b>
5.4.1 The Difference between Temperature Groups

#### Abstract

The developing brain is highly vulnerable to physiological and pharmacological insults, which can impact cerebral blood flow (CBF), resulting in neurological deficit. Within the clinical environment, a group of patients at particular risk of neurological insult are those who require an extracorporeal circulation. This has a profound effect on CBF due to the use of non-pulsatile blood flow, pharmacological agents and periods of hypo/hyperperfusion. As a result, effective cerebral monitoring is essential to prevent periods of ischaemia and subsequently, enhance quality of life in survivors. Patients requiring an extracorporeal circulation include those treated for acute respiratory and/or cardiac failure using extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO), and the use of cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) during cardiac surgery for congenital heart defects. The overarching aim of this thesis was to examine how an extracorporeal circulation impacts cerebral perfusion throughout the entire treatment process and following recovery in paediatric intensive care.

Measurements of cerebral perfusion used throughout the thesis are described in the experimental methods chapter. These include transcranial doppler ultrasound (TCD) and near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS). Another aim of the experimental chapter was to collect TCD data and compare the values to previously published research. Measurements were taken in a 'healthy' neonatal population and then compared to previously published age-matched comparisons. Measurements were also taken in clinically ill patients and then compared to values from previously published ventilated population. Values were comparable to previously published data which suggested the TCD operator was proficient in isonating the middle cerebral artery (MCA).

An observational study was conducted using TCD to measure CBFv at multiple time points during ECMO with a focus on the weaning period in a paediatric population. Fourteen patients that underwent veno-arterial (V-A) ECMO were enrolled. Eight (mean age 69 days) had central cannulation for post-cardiac surgery support, while six (mean age 84 days) had neck cannulation for respiratory support. CBFv was measured from the MCA during weaning at several time points: full flow ECMO, <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub> flow, <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> flow, <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> flow, minimum flow, when off ECMO and post decannulation. NIRS, blood pressure, heart rate and arterial oxygen saturation were recorded at the same time points. During the first 5 days of full flow ECMO, CBFv remained relatively stable (p=0.54). During weaning, those that successfully decannulated had on average a higher CBFv of 9.1 cm/s compared to those that failed weaning. From the patients decannulated, those receiving conventional treatment had an average higher CBFv of 9.9 cm/s compared to patients on high frequency oscillatory ventilation. Overall, the relationship between NIRS and TCD was positive but weak.

Another study was undertaken to examine CBFv and an extracorporeal circulation during aortic arch repair. Neonates requiring aortic arch repair are unable to maintain adequate oxygenation levels and require surgical intervention. A high percentage of survivor's exhibit signs of neurological deficit possibly due to inadequate CBF during surgery. The aim was to continuously monitor MCA velocity (MCAv) during surgery. A secondary aim was to examine the impact of temperature on CBF, with cooling ranging from 18 to 25°C based on surgeon preference. MCAv was monitored in 24 neonates (age 19±6 days, body mass 3.6±0.6 kg) undergoing surgery on the aortic arch, alongside NIRS, blood pH, pO<sub>2</sub>, pCO<sub>2</sub>, HCO<sub>3</sub>, lactate, Hb, Htc (%) and temperature (core and rectal). Using general linear models, MCAv was compared at several time points. These included: initial sedation; cardiopulmonary bypass (CBP); cooling at 30°c, 25°c, the lowest temperature; during selective cerebral perfusion; whole body perfusion; rewarming at 25°c, 30°c, 36°c; off cardiopulmonary bypass; and after surgery. During and following surgery, MCAv was lower compared to previously published healthy age-matched controls, except during cooling period. CBFv increased during cooling at 30°c, 25°c and the lowest temperature

respectively when compared to CBP (p=0.03). Once off CBP, MCAv returned to presurgery values. No significant difference was noted between patients cooled to 20 or 25°c.

Overall, this thesis provides evidence of disruptions in cerebral perfusion during different stages of treatments involving an extracorporeal circulation. The current clinical tool for monitoring cerebral perfusion is NIRS, which may not provide sufficiently sensitive data on cerebral perfusion during treatments using an extracorporeal circulation. Taken together, the findings provide important data for clinicians treating paediatric patients requiring an extracorporeal circulation. It provides data identifying specific time periods of reduced cerebral perfusion, while highlighting limitations of current methods of monitoring.

# Declaration

No portion of the work referred to in the thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of this or any other university or other institution of learning.

Poster Communications directly based on the work described in this thesis:

**Finnigan, L.E.M.,** Lotto, A., Lotto, R. and Jones, H. Cerebral Perfusion during Treatment for Acute Respiratory Failure. International Health Conference. Liverpool, UK (2018).

**Finnigan, L.E.M.,** Lotto, A., Lotto, R. and Jones, H. Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Aortic Arch Repair. International Symposium on Intracranial Pressure and Neuromonitoring Conference/CARNet meeting. Leuven, Belgium (2019).

**Finnigan, L.E.M.,** Lotto, A., Lotto, R. and Jones, H. Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Aortic Arch Repair. International Health Conference. Liverpool, UK (2019).

**Finnigan, L.E.M.,** Lotto, A., Lotto, R. and Jones, H. Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Aortic Arch Repair. Future Physiology, Liverpool, UK (2019).

**Finnigan, L.E.M.,** Dhannapuneni, R., Guerrero, R., Horan, M., Lotto, R., Lotto, A. and Jones, H. Does Cerebral Blood Flow Provide an Insight into Successful Weaning from Paediatric Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation. European Extracorporeal Life Support Organisation. London, UK (2020)- Poster Presentation accepted abstract (Abstract accepted- cancelled due to Covid-19).

# Oral Communications directly based on the work described in this thesis:

**Finnigan, L.E.M.,** Horan, M., Lotto, R., Lotto, A. and Jones, H. Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Aortic Arch Repair in Neonates. LJMU Faculty of Science Research Day. Liverpool, UK (2019).

**Finnigan, L.E.M.,** Horan, M., Lotto, R., Lotto, A. and Jones, H. Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Aortic Arch Repair in Neonates. LJMU Faculty of Science Research Day. Liverpool, UK (2019).

**Finnigan, L.E.M.,** Dhannapuneni, R., Guerrero, R., Horan, M., Lotto, R., Lotto, A. and Jones, H. Does Cerebral Blood Flow Provide an Insight into Successful Weaning from Paediatric Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation. Okanagan Cardiovascular and Respiratory Symposium, SilverStar, (Canada, 2020). (Abstract accepted- cancelled due to COVID-19).

**Finnigan, L.E.M,** Dhannapuneni, R., Guerrero, R., Horan, M., Lotto, R., Jones, H. and Lotto, A. Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Weaning of V-A ECMO in Paediatrics. Society for Cardiothoracic Surgery in Great Britain and Ireland. Online, UK (March 2021).

**Finnigan, L.E.M.,** Dhannapuneni, R., Guerrero, R., Horan, M., Lotto, R., Jones, H. and Lotto, A. Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Weaning of Veno-Arterial ECMO in Paediatrics. European Congenital Heart Surgeons Association. Online, UK (June 2021).

# Acknowledgements

I was surprisingly a little emotional writing this, the stress of the last few months completely disappeared as I reflected on my whole PhD experience. The conclusion I came to was this has been some of the best years of my life. This has been a learning journey which has extended beyond the realms of this thesis. I have met some incredible people, made lifelong friends, had the opportunity to travel to new countries and been witnessed to lives literally being saved before my very eyes. In fact, I could not have asked for a better PhD topic. When I look back at pre-PhD Lucy, I have grown into a completely better, mature version of former self. This has opened so many new doors and completely turned my life around, making any challenges I faced along the way completely irrelevant. I have four people to thank for giving me this opportunity: Prof. Helen Jones, Prof. Attilio Lotto, Dr. Robyn Lotto and Dr. Marie Horan. Thank you will never be enough for the opportunity they gave me and the guidance over the last few years. They will never know how grateful I am.

I would like to thank Alder Hey Children's Hospital, Liverpool Women's Hospital and Liverpool John Moores University for allowing me to complete this research. Alder Hey is a truly amazing place where I learnt so much. Special thanks go to the all the perfusionists, PICU staff, anaesthetists, theatre staff and cardiac surgeons. They were patient, friendly and helpful in guiding me through this learning process.

Thank you to all patients in the study and their parents. They were living any parents worst nightmare. I was overwhelmingly humbled with how open they were to research and their desire to be part of anything that could possibly help others in the future. They were an inspiration. I will always remember each and every one of them.

Thank you goes to my friends and my colleagues at LJMU. There is far too many to name individually! But I have honestly gained some lifelong friends. Thank you to everyone

that made this an enjoyable experience and accepted me for being the rowdy northerner that disrupted everyone in the office. We live all over the world now, but I am sure we can find some conferences to meet up to re-live our PhD youth. I would also like to thank Dr. Andrew Thompson for his help with the stats.

I sort of need to acknowledge my previous places of work, even though I hated every minute of working there. The crazy ramblings of disgruntled customers taught me key life skills. Also working there made me want to follow my dreams....because it was truly horrendous. I did however have some amazing colleagues that encouraged me to pursue a PhD.

Overall, I have been blessed to have a solid, indestructible support network. I have grown up with some fantastic family and friends that are always there for me and willing to listen to my problems. Again, there are far too many to name everyone individually. These are the most important people in my life that have been fundamental to my journey. I have been very lucky to be surrounded by people that love me, encourage me to fulfil my dreams and that convince me I could do anything in life. Someone that needs a special mention is my best friend Bex, who keeps me relatively sane with our daily phone calls. A special mention goes to my brothers and nephews who keep me grounded by reminding me I am just a science nerd. My grandparents who were always so proud of me and made me feel like I was special enough to do anything in life. And of course, my biggest cheerleaders, my parents. There is no way I could have ever done any of this and achieved so much in my 28 years without my Lynn and John. I honestly believe I have the best parents in the world. They have given me the best start in life, have always supported me and encouraged me to follow my dreams. They have never put any pressure on me, other than to be happy and have facilitated that happiness at every step of my life. I am VERY lucky to have them.

All in all, there are so many people I needed to thank individually, and it would have been a thesis on its own. They will know exactly who they are. I am lucky to be surrounded by amazing people, and I thank you all for being there for me. I hope you enjoy reading this thesis, this is much more than a lot of words on many sheets of paper. It is a testament to a lot of peoples belief, love and determination.

Figure	Heading	Page	
3.1	Transcranial doppler velocities of the middle cerebral artery in	<b>1 70</b>	
	healthy, awake children through the temporal window.		
3.2	Transcranial doppler velocities of the middle cerebral artery in	76	
	sedated, mechanically ventilated.		
3.3	Patient information of 'healthy' patient group.	79	
3.4	Patient information of ventilated patients.	79	
4.1	Individual patient characteristics of each ECMO patient.	100	
5.1	Individual patient characteristics and operation information.	127	

List of Tables

Figure	Heading	Page
2.1	Inferior view of the circle of Willis with intra- and extracranial	32
	blood vessels which supply CBF throughout the brain.	
2.2	Figure 2. Cerebral blood flow and cerebral blood flow velocity	61
	with Alpha vs pH stat management during cardiopulmonary	
	bypass.	
3.1	Figure 3. Image of the Fore-sight NIRS monitor.	69
3.2	Figure 3.3 CBFv obtained from the temporal window every 5	81
	seconds over one minute for each healthy neonate from the	
	temporal window. Error bars are SD. The box represents the	
	normative previously published range for the same age group	
3.3	Paediatric patients ventilated through conventional treatment.	82
	Measurements were obtained for $\sim 1$ minute form the temporal	
	window. Mean and standard deviation is represented using	
2.4	error bars.	
3.4	One HFOV patient aged 1381 days with CBFV measurements	82
	deviation is represented using array here.	
2.5	11 day old patient supported using HEOV over two days with	87
5.5	CBEy measured from the temporal window. Mean and standard	02
	deviation is represented using error bars	
3.6	CBFy from three cardiac patients for ~one minute from the	82
5.0	temporal window in 3 patients <6 months old Mean and	02
	standard deviation is represented using error bars.	
4.1	Schematic showing the timings of opportunities of	95
	measurements following cannulation onto full flow ECMO.	
4.2	Representation of each individual patients ECMO journey. All	101
	patients were on ECMO for a minimum of one day and a	
	maximum 24 days. Black circle indicates a day on full flow	
	ECMO, grey circle indicates an attempted wean, red indicates	
	patient decannulated onto conventional ventilation and blue	
	indicates patient decannulated onto HFOV.	
4.3	Individual CBFv (a) and NIRS (b) values for the first 5 days of	1052
	full flow ECMO for 8 individual patients. Red lines represent the	
	mean.	10.1
4.4	CBFv (a), NIRS (b) and flow rates (c) values during the weaning	104
	period, separated by those that successful weaned and failed	
	(data are mean $\pm$ SD).	105
4.5	Heart rate (a) and MAP (b) values during the weaning period,	105
	separated by those that successful weaned and failed (data are	
1.6	$\frac{\text{mean} \pm \text{SD}}{\text{CDE}}$	10.0
4.0	UBEV OF patients that were successfully decannulated onto either conventional ventilation $(n - 7)$ or UEOV $(n - 5)$	106
17	NIDS and CDEV completion during daily massymmetry during $\frac{1}{2}$	107
4./	full flow ECMO (a) and during the weaping process (where	10/
	nossible: first reduction half flow quarter flow minimum flow	
	and bridge) (b) Each colour represents an individual patient	
5.1	Cerebral blood flow velocity (a) NIRS (b) and CRP flow rates	130
	(c) throughout aortic arch repair (mean $\pm$ SD). Black line	100

List of Figures

	represents cooled to 20°C and the grey lines 25°C. Blue shading is cooling, green shading is selective cerebral perfusion and whole-body reperfusion and red shading re-warming. # represents significant difference from baseline. * denotes significant difference from CPB.	
5.2	Correlations between CBFv and target lowest temperature (a), actual lowest rectal temperature (b) and actual oesophageal temperature (c). Correlations between NIRS and target lowest temperature (c), actual lowest rectal temperature (d) and actual oesophageal temperature (e).	131
5.3	Individual patient CBFv (a) and NIRS (b) values from the lowest temp, selective cerebral perfusion and whole-body reperfusion with the red line representing the mean. The blue line represents the mean CBFv and NIRS at CPB time point which was used as a reference point for CPB flow rates.	132
5.4	Mean and standard deviation hemodynamical data (mean $\pm$ SD). Black line represents cooled to 20°C and the grey lines 25°C. Blue shading is cooling, green shading is selective cerebral perfusion and whole-body reperfusion and red shading re- warming. # represents significant difference from baseline. * denotes significant difference from CPB.	135
5.5	pO2 and pCO2 throughout aortic arch repair (mean $\pm$ SD). Black line represents cooled to 20°C and the grey lines 25°C. Blue shading is cooling, green shading is selective cerebral perfusion and whole-body reperfusion and red shading re-warming. # represents significant difference from baseline. * denotes significant difference from CPB.	137
5.6	Mean arterial pressure (MAP) throughout aortic arch repair (mean ± SD). Black line represents cooled to 20°C and the grey lines 25°C. Blue shading is cooling, green shading is selective cerebral perfusion and whole-body reperfusion and red shading re-warming.	137
5.7	Individual CBFv and NIRS at time points throughout aortic arch repair. Each colour represents a patient.	138

Abbreviation	Title
ASD	Atrial Septal Defect
CBF	Cerebral Blood Flow
CBFv	Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity
CHD	Congenital Heart Disease
CMRO <sub>2</sub>	Cerebral Metabolic Rate of Oxygen
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon Dioxide
СРВ	Cardiopulmonary Bypass
СТ	Computerized Tomography
DHCA	Deep Hypothermic Circulatory Arrest
ЕСНО	Electrocardiogram
ECMO	Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation
E-CPR	Extracorporeal Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation
ELSO	Extracorporeal Life Support Organization
HCO <sub>3</sub> -	Bicarbonate
HFOV	High Frequency Oscillatory Ventilation
HLHS	Hypoplastic Left Heart Syndrome
IJV	Internal Jugular Vein
MAC	Minimum Alveolar Concentration
MAP	Mean Arterial Pressure
MCA	Middle Cerebral Artery
MCAv	Middle Cerebral Artery Velocity
MHz	MetaHertz
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
MUF	Modified Ultrafiltration
NaHCO <sub>3-</sub>	Sodium Bicarbonate
NIRS	Near Infrared Spectroscopy
РА	Pulmonary Artery
PCO <sub>2</sub>	Partial Pressure of Arterial Carbon Dioxide
PDA	Patent Ductus Arteriosus
PEEP	Positive End-Expiratory Pressure

List of Abbreviations

PICU	Paediatric Intensive Care
PO <sub>2</sub>	Partial Pressure of Oxygen
rSO <sub>2</sub>	Brain Regional Oxygen Saturation
SctO <sub>2</sub>	Cerebral Tissue Oxygenation Saturation
TCD	Transcranial Doppler Ultrasonography
TGA	Transposition of the Great Arteries
VA-ECMO	Veno-Arterial Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation
VSD	Ventricular Septal Defect
VV-ECMO	Veno-Venous Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation

**Chapter One: Introduction** 

# **1.1 Introduction**

Mortality following admission to a paediatric intensive care unit (PICU) in the United Kingdom has decreased over the past 30 years (Plunkett and Parslow, 2016, Mandalenakis et al., 2020). However, there has been an observed rise in morbidity with survivors exhibiting life-limiting conditions (Fraser et al., 2012). This morbidity concern has led to a shift in the focus of research from mortality rates to improving quality of life in survivors (Cunha et al., 2013). Neurodevelopmental outcomes have become increasingly pertinent (Verstraete et al., 2018). With neurological deficit prevalent in 3-20% of children following admission into PICU (Caprarola et al., 2017). Neurological deficit is a collective term relating to a decline in brain function or problems with the nerve or spinal cord. It can be used to describe a range of problems including mild cognitive delay, speech, and hearing problems. The level of deficit is dependent on a range of confounding factors such as the primary diagnosis, severity of the illness and the interventions required during treatment. One potential cause of neurological deficit is a disruption in cerebral blood flow (CBF). Alterations in CBF, especially in the developing neonatal brain, can cause ischaemia during periods of hypotension and haemorrhaging (Vutskits, 2014). Both of which can contribute to neurological deficit. Several paediatric clinical populations are at high risk of developing neurological deficit including patients with acute respiratory failure, cardiac failure and congenital heart disease (CHD). There are number of potential reasons for the high risk of neurological deficit in these conditions This includes the use of an extracorporeal circulation during treatment or surgery. The adverse effects of an extracorporeal circulation on major organs have been well documented, particularly in the cerebellum (Bauer et al., 2010). This will be further explored in the literature review.

A group of patients that require an extracorporeal circulation are those with severe respiratory and/or cardiac failure. Patients that remain unresponsive to conventional treatments may become a candidate for a cardiopulmonary bypass technique called extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). In the UK, approximately 200-250 neonates and infants receive ECMO each year for both respiratory and cardiac conditions (Robinson and Peek, 2015). ECMO is used to take over the function of the heart and/or lungs to allow them to recover. ECMO is routinely used to help stabilise patients who have arrested following cardiac surgery, a bridge for heart transplantation or to stabilise a patient for further investigations. However, ECMO has been associated with a number of adverse neurological side effects (Nasr and Rabinstein, 2015). The extracorporeal circulation itself can lead to neurological deficit, there are also periods of disrupted nonpulsatile flow, a reduction in blood flow rates during the weaning process and the heavy use of pharmacological substances. These are factors which can impact cerebral perfusion. Due to the high levels of neurological deficit in survivors, one of the aims of the thesis was to understand the impact of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation on cerebral perfusion throughout treatment, while identifying specific time points of disturbed cerebral blood flow velocity (CBFv).

Another group of patients at risk of long-term neurological deficit are patients with CHD (Barkhuizen et al., 2021). CHD is one of the most common congenital anomalies with an estimation of 8 per 1000 births (Norrish and Kaski, 2018). Some forms of CHD can lead to insufficient delivery of oxygenated blood throughout the body such as conditions which affect the aortic arch. These conditions often require surgical repair. During corrective aortic arch surgery, patients are placed onto cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) with periods of deep hypothermic circulatory arrest (DHCA). CPB alone is a challenge for the regulation of CBF. During aortic arch reconstructive surgery there are sudden changes to pulsatile flow, temperature fluctuations (cooling and rewarming), changes to blood viscosity, low CBP flow rates and periods of total circulatory arrest, which all present a challenge for cerebral autoregulation. Previous research has suggested that those with left sided lesions exhibit the highest and most severe levels of deficit (Kaltman et al., 2005). This includes hypoplastic aortic arch, interrupted aortic arch and hypoplastic left heart syndrome. Therefore, an aim of the thesis was to identify periods of disrupted cerebral perfusion before, during and after aortic arch repair in neonates.

Due to the prevalence of neurological deficit in these groups, there are neuroprotective techniques used in clinical practise to monitor cerebral perfusion. Near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) continuously measures cerebral oxygenation in the frontal lobes, however it can only give a regional indication of oxygenation levels. The shortcomings of NIRS have been previously described and are further explored throughout the thesis. A technique used frequently in research, but rarely in clinical practice is transcranial doppler ultrasonography (TCD). The measurements of both NIRS and TCD were implemented throughout the thesis to give a detailed insight into cerebral perfusion during the use of an extracorporeal circulation. TCD can measure flow velocity in the major cerebral vessels and can counteract some of the limitations of NIRS. Specifically, TCD can measure CBFv of the middle cerebral artery (MCA) which provides around 70% of blood flow to the brain. The MCA can usually be visualised via the temporal window in adults and children. In neonates with an open fontanelle, the MCA can also be isonated though this window. The fontanelle window is useful during treatment in a paediatric intensive care unit (PICU) and surgery due to the limited space around the head (temporal window) from clinical equipment. These measurements will be further explored in the experimental methods.

There has been a small body of literature that has previously examined CBFv and NIRS during ECMO and cardiac surgery. A study concluded there are instances during ECMO treatment when cerebral oxygenation levels are low, such as during decannulation (Fenik and Rais-Bahrami, 2009). Other research has focused on specific time points such as the first five days of full flow ECMO, where there have been reports of variation in

daily measurements of TCD (O'Brien and Hall, 2013). However, no research study to date has examined CBF and cerebral oxygenation throughout the entire ECMO treatment and during recovery. Cerebral perfusion has also been examined during paediatric aortic arch repair. CBFv was lower than normal levels with periods of zero cerebral perfusion in one case study (Busch et al., 2016). In a study of adults undergoing aortic arch repair, it was found that TCD was able to identify periods of disrupted cerebral perfusion which NIRS was unable to detect (Estrera et al., 2005). Nevertheless, no research to date has described CBF and NIRS during aortic arch repair and post-surgery in paediatrics. Overall, there are gaps in the knowledge surrounding cerebral perfusion during treatments requiring an extracorporeal circulation. This thesis aims to investigate cerebral perfusion during this time in patients that are suspectable to neurological deficit.

# 1.2 Aims and Objectives

The overarching aim of this thesis was to examine how an extracorporeal circulation impacts cerebral perfusion during procedures associated with high risk of neurological deficits.

Aims of Chapter 3:

- To give a detailed overview of the current measurements of cerebral perfusion in clinical populations which will be used throughout the thesis.
- To establish if the middle cerebral artery was accurate when isonated using transcranial doppler ultrasound by a sole sonographer in a healthy paediatric population.
- Compare values of cerebral blood flow velocity in a clinically ill, paediatric population to previously published ventilated values.

Aims of chapter 3 were completed through the fulfilment of several objectives:

- Produce an overview of measurements of cerebral perfusion (NIRS and TCD) through reviewing previously publish data and establishing strengths/weaknesses of both.
- Collect CBFv from a 'healthy' neonatal population (<10 days) and compare values to previously published normative data.
- Collect CBFv in number of critically ill paediatric populations including those ventilated with acute respiratory failure. Then to compare values to previously published research.

Aims of Chapter 4:

• To understand the impact of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation on cerebral perfusion throughout treatment while identifying specific time points of disturbed cerebral blood flow velocity.

- Gain an understanding of overall cerebral perfusion by taking both global and regional measurements of cerebral perfusion.
- Identify if the method of ventilation following decannulation from extracorporeal membrane oxygenation affects cerebral blood flow velocity.

Aims of chapter 4 were completed through the fulfilment of several objectives:

- Taking measurements of both TCD and NIRS daily throughout paediatric ECMO treatment, including during weaning and recovery following decannulation.
- Both NIRS and TCD were measurement throughout ECMO treatment to give an indication of global cerebral perfusion.
- Collect CBFv measurements in patients decannulated onto conventional ventilation and high frequency oscillation with the foresight of comparing the values.

# Aims of Chapter 5:

- To identify periods of disrupted cerebral perfusion before, during and after aortic arch repair in neonates.
- To understand the impact of temperature changes to cerebral blood flow velocity during aortic arch repair.
- Potentially establish the relationship between NIRS and TCD at each time point during aortic arch repair surgery.

Aim of chapter 5 will be completed through the fulfilment of several objectives:

- Collect measurements of CBFv immediately before, during the aortic arch repair procedure and after surgery.
- Collect measurements of cerebral perfusion in two groups of patients which were cooled to either 20 or 25°C.

• Compare changes in NIRS with CBFv throughout the aortic arch repair procedure, with a focus on antegrade selective cerebral perfusion where the CPB flow rate are determined by NIRS. **Chapter Two: Literature Review** 

# 2.1 Overview

First, this literature review provides an overview of cerebrovascular structure and function to outline the control of CBF. It also discusses the measurements of cerebral perfusion in clinical populations. Second, the review focuses on outlining two paediatric critically ill conditions that require the use of extracorporeal circulation during (i) acute respiratory and/or cardiac failure and (ii) cardiothoracic surgery for congenital heart conditions related to the aortic arch. Third, the literature review highlights modes of clinical monitoring of cerebral perfusion and then finally summarises the risk of long-term neurological deficit in these groups.

# 2.2 The Integrated Control of Cerebral Blood Flow in Healthy and Clinical Populations

As an organ, the human brain is highly suspectable to damage due to its high metabolic demand, despite limited storage capacity (Willie et al., 2014). The adult brain accounts for approximately 2% of body weight, consumes around 20% of resting total body oxygen and 15% of cardiac output (Jain et al., 2011). The complexity of the homeostatic control mechanisms of CBF are described by several key structural components and multiple overlapping regulatory paradigms (Peterson et al., 2011). These components will be described in the current chapter. The term cerebral autoregulation is used to describe the homeostatic controlled mechanism which keeps CBF within narrow limits. Excessive (cerebral hyperaemia) or inadequate (cerebral ischemia) CBF can lead to long term damage to the brain. Arguably, paediatrics may be at a higher risk of neurological deficit as the demand for CBF is crucial for brain development. With the brain volume increasing from 36% of an adult at 2-4 weeks old, to 72% by 1 year and to 83% at 2 years old (Steiner, 2019). Making CBF essential for establishing neuronal networks along with the capacity for the development of cognitive, social, emotional and motors skills. The dramatic changes to brain function and structure make the energetic demands of the paediatric brain pertinent, with an estimation of 60% of basal metabolic rate required for the developing brain. Due to this, there are paediatric critical care populations which are at risk of long-term neurological deficit due to potential disruptions in CBF. The focus of this section is to first describe CBFv in healthy populations and then to explore populations at risk of neurological deficit.

# 2.2.1 Anatomy of the Cerebral Vasculature

The cerebral circulation is related to the movement of blood throughout the brain. This consists of a network of cerebral arteries which supply the brain with oxygen, glucose and other nutrients. In the brain around 60% of the energy is utilised to generate neuron electrical activity including the reversal of ion influxes, underlying synaptic and action potentials (Attwell and Laughlin, 2001). With a lack of oxygen and glucose the neurons and glia die or become injured. The remaining 40% of the total energy consumption is for homeostatic cellular functioning to support the cells in the brain (Fyfe et al., 2014). The brain has low storage of energy thus relies on adequate CBF to ensure a sufficient energy supply to maintain normal brain functioning, along with the clearing of metabolism by-products (Durduran and Yodh, 2014). CBF is safeguarded by a dual circulation: anterior and posterior (figure 2.1). The posterior cerebral arteries are supplied via the vertebral arteries from the subclavian arteries. Whereas the anterior circulation is supplied from the internal carotid circulation, which is responsible for ~80% of total CBF the brain. These circulations ultimately connect through bilateral posterior to communicating arteries; this describes the circle of Willis (figure 2.1). These circulations branch exuberantly, supplying all deep and superficial regions of the brain. The circle of Willis provides constant flow despite any occlusions to either anterior or posterior circulation.

## 2.2.2 An Overview of Cerebral Autoregulation

Cerebral autoregulation is recognised as a marker of brain function and health (Buckley et al., 2014). The brain is protected by a physiological homeostatic mechanism called cerebral autoregulation that attempts to maintain adequate blood flow despite changes in mean arterial pressures (Vesoulis and Mathur, 2017). To meet the metabolic demand of the adult brain, CBF must remain at 50-60 ml/100g/min, with this figure on average higher in women (Slupe and Kirsch, 2018). To a point, reserve blood flow exists but when flow drops below 22 ml/100g/min ischaemic injury may occur. Clinically, this threshold can change in some pathologies such as traumatic brain injury. The mechanisms that control CBF have been under speculation for decades.

The figure originally presented here cannot be made freely available via LJMU E-Theses Collection because of copyright. The image was sourced from (Shahan et al., 2017).

**Figure 2.1** Inferior view of the circle of Willis with intra- and extracranial blood vessels which supply CBF throughout the brain. Adapted from (Shahan et al., 2017).

Historically it was believed that cerebral vasculature did not control vascular tone but rather that it passively followed changes in blood pressure. In 1959, cerebral autoregulation was first introduced by Lassen who suggested the metabolic demands of cerebral tissue is governed through autoregulation and that it is independent of a wide range of mean arterial pressures (Lassen, 1959). This has been challenged and the contemporary understanding is that the plateau phase is much smaller than first thought (Brassard et al., 2021). In healthy individuals it is believed that CBF can be maintained across a range of blood pressures (60-150mmHg) in healthy individuals with intact cerebral autoregulation (Willie et al., 2014). In clinical situations with the use of pharmacological interventions, this cerebral autoregulatory plateau becomes significantly smaller due to the changes in vascular tone (Brassard et al., 2021). When cerebral perfusion is outside normal ranges, the brain becomes susceptible to excessive or inadequate blood flow (Vavilala et al., 2005), with a reduction in CBF potentially leading to ischemic injury (Endoh et al., 2002). Both regional and global ischaemia causes cerebrovascular dysregulation, furthering the ischemic insult, and subsequently amplifying tissue damage (Kunz and Iadecola, 2008). Conversely, an overabundance of CBF relative to metabolic demand can lead to the transudation of fluid into the interstitum and pericapillary astrocytes. This can breakdown the blood-brain barrier (Tzeng and Ainslie, 2014).

During challenges to cerebral autoregulation the arteries respond to mechanical and chemical stimuli. Vasodilator/constrictor substances and sympathetic nerve activity regulate the vascular smooth muscle which is affected by changes in pulsatile flow patterns. This occurs via the response mechanisms within the extracranial and cerebral vessels to ensure there is adequate blood flow to the brain (Chiu and Chien, 2011). CBF is kept consistent over a range of systemic blood pressure changes through a combination of neurogenic, myogenic and metabolic mechanisms. Overall, the regulation of CBF is complex and speculative, and it is not yet fully understood despite progress. It is thought there are two key structural components and three overlapping regulatory paradigms which regulate CBF. The three main paradigms involved are cerebral pressure autoregulation, neurovascular coupling and neurogenic regulation; along with the two structural components which are endothelial cells and astrocytes (Peterson et al., 2011). Previous research has highlighted that cerebrovascular resistance can be impacted by four categories; chemical (PCO<sub>2</sub> and PO<sub>2</sub>), blood pressure, neurogenic and metabolic (Greisen, 2005).

#### 2.2.3 Cerebral Pressure Autoregulation

The first paradigm described is cerebral pressure autoregulation which attempts to maintain constant CBF in the cerebral vascular tone between a mean arterial pressure (MAP). The relationship between BP and cerebral autoregulation was initially established in 1895 by Bayliss, Hill and Gulland who suggested with an increase in arterial pressure, there was accelerated blood flow through the brain (Bayliss et al., 1895). The conceptualisation of the cerebral autoregulation triphasic curve was first established by Lassen who had plotted average blood pressure (BP) and CBF from multiple studies. The study suggested an upper limit, plateau and lower limit where cerebral autoregulation is maintained stable. In healthy adults, the limits are MAP pressures (60-150 mmHg) or cerebral perfusion pressures (CPP) (60 and 160 mmHg) (Lassen, 1959). Since then, it has been established that the cerebral autoregulation curve is more passive than originally suggested. There has also been speculation as to whether the plateau exists. If it does exist, it is currently thought to be considerably smaller than Lassen suggested (Tan, 2012).

The mechanism behind the relationship between BP and cerebral autoregulation involves changes in cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) and cerebrovascular resistance (Tzeng and Ainslie, 2014). CPP is defined as the difference between intracranial pressure and systemic blood pressure, whereas cerebrovascular resistance is the resistance of flow in the cerebral vessels. Cerebral arteries alter vascular tone in response to changes in transmural pressure. When transmural pressure decreases, the vessels vasodilate. Whereas when it increases, the vessels vasoconstrict. This ensures that autoregulation is maintained within the upper and lower limits. There are two types of assessment to manipulate BP to assess cerebral autoregulation, static (steady state) and dynamic (transient). Static autoregulation relies on cerebrovascular resistance and absolute linear changes to flow/velocity versus changes in pressure. Typically, static autoregulation measures several minutes to hours while correlating the steady state relationship between CBF and BP. Dynamic autoregulation refers to the relationship between acute beat-tobeat changes to both CBF and BP during transient changes. This could be manipulated through a change in posture, a cuff inflation or changes in CO<sub>2</sub>/hypercapnia (Tiecks et al., 1995). Despite the concept of cerebral autoregulation determined by BP being well established, there is still speculation into the mechanisms driving this relationship. A combination of metabolic, myogenic, neurogenic and endothelial factors is thought to be interacting to create this paradigm. There is currently also no 'gold standard' for measuring dynamic cerebral autoregulation (Claassen et al., 2016) and a variety of techniques have been used in previous studies. Studies manipulate BP with the idea that CBF will react to the change and will return to the original value. The faster to return, the more adequate the cerebral autoregulation. BP can be manipulated using bilateral thigh cuffs, the periods of inflation produce supra-systolic levels. But the reliability of this method is questionable, along with induced periods of discomfort for individuals. To minimise this discomfort repeated squat-stand manoeuvres can be used to assess cerebral autoregulation. However, in clinical populations, especially the critically ill, the manipulation of BP using these techniques is not possible.

## 2.2.4 Neurovascular Coupling

Neurovascular coupling or functional hyperemia is another main aspect of autoregulation. It is a mechanism which is preserved during sleep or under general anaesthesia. Regulatory mechanisms are used to control the brain's high metabolic demand. CBF is coupled with neuronal activation and cerebral metabolism (globally and regionally) to ensure an adequate delivery of oxygen over a wide range of perfusion pressures (Junejo et al., 2019). The mechanisms ensure adequate neuronal function. There are increases of blood flow to regions in which neurons are active, this response is called hyperaemia. It was initially thought that a fall in oxygen or glucose concentration (a metabolic signal) triggered an increase in blood flow. However, this has become obsolete.

The discovery of the glutamate neurotransmitter-mediated signalling plays a major role of the regulation of CBF. This leads to a release of nitric oxide from neurons and of arachidonic acid which is controlled by astrocytes. During rest, CBF is paired with cerebral metabolic oxygen rate. Furthermore, during sympathetic nervous system activation, CBF is increased at a greater rate compared with cerebral metabolic rate for oxygen (Udomphorn et al., 2008), leading to a decrease in cerebral oxygen extraction. During neuronal activity, CBF is independent of local tissue levels of oxygen (Mintun et al., 2001).

The exact mechanisms responsible for neurovascular coupling are not well established. The cerebral blood vessels have a close relationship between the smooth muscle wall, neurons and glia, making them unique from other arteries (Willie et al., 2014). When the supply of oxygen, glucose and nutrients is adequate, the state of the pericytes and smooth muscle is basal tone. Outside this range neurotransmitter-mediated signalling controls are regulated by a reduction or increase in oxygen modulates (Attwell et al., 2010). The astrocytes release vasoactive substances causing hyperpolarisation in the pericytes and vascular smooth muscle. The cells either vasodilate (release of nitric oxide, arachidonic acids or adenosine) or vasoconstrict (release of endothelin or thromboxane) (Muoio et al., 2014). In a number of pathologies impaired neurovascular coupling can be seen such as hypertension, stroke and Alzheimer's disease (Girouard and Iadecola, 2006). Impaired neurovascular coupling can lead reduced cerebral vasodilatory reserve through vasodilation of the cerebral arterioles. Visual stimulation can be used to assess neurovascular coupling. Using TCD to isonate the posterior cerebral artery, the magnitude of the response to a visual stimulation is used to assess neurovascular coupling.

#### 2.2.5 Cerebrovascular Responsiveness to CO<sub>2</sub>

Cerebrovascular reactivity is described as the ability of the cerebral vessels to constrict or dilate in relation to vasoactive stimuli such as the partial pressure of arterial
carbon dioxide ( $PCO_2$ ) (Favre et al., 2020). This is an imperative homeostatic mechanism thought to maintain central pH, regulate breathing and cellular function (Ainslie and Duffin, 2009). Previous research has suggested that the cerebral vasculature is highly sensitive to changes in PCO<sub>2</sub> (Willie et al., 2014). During hypercapnia cerebral arteriolar vasodilation occurs, this increases CBF to inhibit the rise in PCO<sub>2</sub>. Conversely hypocapnia leads to vasocontraction (Ainslie and Duffin, 2009). This sensitivity is unique to the cerebrovascular system commencing in the large arteries in the neck through to the large intracranial arteries, pial arterioles and parenchymal vessels (Willie et al., 2012). Previous research studies have employed TCD to monitor MCAv and to examine the effects of PCO<sub>2</sub> to the middle cerebral artery, posterior cerebral artery and basilar artery. These studies have suggested a 3-6% increase and/or a 1-3% decrease in flow per millimetre of mercury change above and below eupnoeic PCO<sub>2</sub> (Skow et al., 2013, Battisti-Charbonney et al., 2011). Suggesting the magnitude of the response to hypercapnia is greater than hypocapnia. This also applies to the internal carotid artery and the vertebral artery in studies using Duplex ultrasound (Sato et al., 2012). The mechanism behind cerebrovascular responsiveness to CO<sub>2</sub> remain theoretical. The vascular endothelium appears to be responsive to changes in pH or PCO<sub>2</sub>. Prostaglandins and nitric oxide induce vasodilation due to an increase in shear stress (Ainslie and Duffin, 2009). There is also sensitivity to changes to  $PO_2$  bellow ~50 mmHg (Willie et al., 2012). In states of hypoxia, CBF appears to increase to counteract the reduction in oxygen. Ultimately, the exact mechanisms associated with cerebrovascular responsiveness to CO<sub>2</sub> are currently speculative.

Cerebrovascular responsiveness to  $CO_2$  reactivity is typically assessed in a seated or supine position. There are several ways to assess cerebrovascular reactivity. The Valsalva manoeuvre involves a moderately forced attempt to exhale against a closed airway. This method can be dependent on participant characteristics such as lung size, age and gender which can impact the CBFv response (Fierstra et al., 2013). PCO<sub>2</sub> can also be manipulated through rebreathing exhaled gases using an exhaled gas reservoir and gas sensors. The favourable method is to use an externally supplied gas with a higher concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> (2-7%). However, these methods can be difficult to perform in clinical settings on critically ill, sedated patients but changes in PCO<sub>2</sub> are clinically important to monitor during extracorporeal circulation.

### 2.2.6 Acid-Base Balance and Cerebral Blood Flow

As discussed previously, CBF is reliant on an integrative relationship between arterial pH, PCO<sub>2</sub>, and cerebrovascular tone. With a great importance placed on the impact of PCO<sub>2</sub> on CBF (Drapeau et al., 2021). Now, pre-clinical studies have suggested that bicarbonate (HCO<sub>3</sub>.) may also directly influence intracellular pH and smooth muscle cell contractility (Caldwell et al., 2021a). Suggesting changes occurring in the bicarbonate buffering system may impact CBF. An essential part of homeostasis is the regulation of pH in the blood, which needs to be maintained within 7.35-7.45. This is largely dependent on how many hydrogen ions are present in the blood. The bicarbonate buffering system ensures that pH is maintained within these limits and can be explained through the equation below:

$$CO_2 + H_2O \iff H_2CO_3 \iff H^+ + HCO_3$$

During an increase in carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) the molecules bind to water (H<sub>2</sub>O) in the blood which then produces carbonic acid (H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>). Carbonic acid is a weak acid which means it is partially dissociated to give hydrogen ions. Once this happens, HCO<sub>3</sub> is also produced, this is a reversible chemical reaction. Levels of CO<sub>2</sub> + H<sub>2</sub>O are regulated through changes to lungs (i.e increased exhalation when CO<sub>2</sub> accumulated). Whereas H<sup>+</sup> + HCO<sub>3</sub> are regulated through the kidneys (adding/reducing the levels of bicarbonate in the blood). Overall, this demonstrates a very close relationship between CO<sub>2</sub>, bicarbonate (HCO<sub>3</sub>) and pH, all of which regulate cerebral autoregulation. This explains why changes in CBF have been found in clinical population with disrupted acid-base balance such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. During acute acidosis or alkalosis there are alterations in arterial PCO<sub>2</sub>, HCO<sub>3</sub> and pH which are now recognised as the proximal compartment of cerebral autoregulation which changes vascular smooth muscle cells, thus regulating CBF (Caldwell et al., 2021a).

The notable study from Caldwell et al., (2021), which was the first study to find evidence in humans of a direct vasodilatory changes in the cerebral vessels mediated through HCO<sub>3</sub>. It concluded that during acute metabolic alkalosis, CBF was regulated by PCO<sub>2</sub> rather than arterial pH. This was due to CBF being continuously matched with PCO<sub>2</sub>, with no changes in CBF following an infusion of a hypertonic solution of sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO<sub>3</sub>.). However, during a NaHCO<sub>3</sub>. with PCO<sub>2</sub> remaining constant, there was an observed rise in CBF ( $\sim 7\%$ ). It is key to highlight this study only included young adult men. There have been studies which have investigated CBF and HCO<sub>3</sub>. in clinical paediatrics populations. A bolus of NaHCO<sub>3-</sub> led to a linear increase in CBF in patients with hypoplastic left heart syndrome (HLHS). The effects of HCO<sub>3-</sub> on cerebral vasculature are through to be more predominant in a sedated population. An increase in  $HCO_3$  led to an increase in pCO<sub>2</sub>. It is well established that an increase in pCO<sub>2</sub> leads to an increase in CBF. Specifically, an increase in pCO<sub>2</sub> elicits shear stress induced vasodilation of the vascular smooth muscle walls via endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation, resulting in increased CBF (Caldwell et al., 2021b). In awake populations this increase in  $pCO_2$  can be cleared through increased breathing. However, in sedated populations this is unable to occur as breathing is usually mechanically regulated. Therefore this may make the response to  $HCO_{3}$  more predominant in these populations (Buckley et al., 2013).

### 2.2.7 Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity and Neurological Deficit in Paediatrics Patients

In the early postnatal period, the human neonatal brain far exceeds the adult brain in terms of CBF demands (Vutskits, 2014). Brain development and maturation is a complex process which relies on cellular and molecular events at specific time points. This begins at the third week of gestation and continues into adulthood (Stiles and Jernigan, 2010). In the first year of life brain volume increases over 100% and an additional 15% after the second year (Knickmeyer et al., 2008). The brain's rapid development and high metabolic demand during childhood, make the paediatric brain susceptible to damage (Georgieff et al., 2018). This early period has been identified as a hallmark of brain development (Stiles and Jernigan, 2010), making damage at this time detrimental in the long term. Autoregulation in the paediatric brain has also been described as fragile and immature (Greisen, 2005), making the developing brain susceptible to ischaemia, during periods of severe hypotension and haemorrhaging during periods of hypertension. Normative CBFv and autoregulation is poorly defined in healthy neonates and paediatrics, with sparse data available around CBFv in paediatric critically ill populations. This is surprising due to the documentation of neurological deficit paediatric critically ill populations throughout lifespan, which can start as early as childhood (IJsselstijn and van Heijst, 2014). By school age a high percentage of children who had experienced an episode of critical illness as a neonate or infant perform at a lower level than their healthy counterparts (Knoester et al., 2007). This deficit includes lower academic achievement, behavioural problems, speech impediments, poor fine and gross motor skills and higher incidences of learning disabilities (Marelli et al., 2016).

# 2.2.8 Summary

There are several specific populations at risk of neurological deficit which will be explored in the following sections of the literature review. These include paediatrics with cardiac and/or respiratory problems stabilised using extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, and patients with congenital heart disease undergoing surgery to repair the aortic arch which also includes extracorporeal circulation.

### 2.3 Critical Care Procedures and Cerebral Perfusion

### 2.3.1 Acute Respiratory Failure

Respiratory distress affects approximately 7% of neonates born at term and is a leading cause of admission onto a paediatric intensive care unit (PICU) (Reuter et al., 2014). Respiratory distress is characterised by abnormally low levels of oxygen, difficulties breathing and cyanosis (a bluish cast to the skin and mucous membrane). Respiratory distress can progress into acute respiratory failure which is a prominent cause of morbidity and mortality amongst neonates and infants (Engle, 2008), with a survival rate of ~35-50% (Dalton et al., 2015). Acute respiratory failure is defined as a common complication following cardiorespiratory disease and exacerbations of chronic respiratory disease (Creagh-Brown, 2016). There are several treatment options available for acute respiratory failure. These are dependent on the patient, symptoms and responses to previous treatments. The use of pharmaceutical intervention such as inhaled nitric oxide and surfactant can be a first line of defence (Rimensberger, 2009). Conventional ventilation is another treatment option in which oxygen is delivered through nasal cannulas, facial masks and intubation (Ware and Matthay, 2000). An alternative to conventional treatment is a high frequency oscillatory ventilation (HFOV) which delivers small tidal volumes via an oscillatory diaphragm or piston at high speeds to deliver high levels of positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP). These treatments usually involve sedation and tracheal intubation, surfactant instillation and extubation. All treatment options may impact CBF. One study investigated the effects of PEEP in patients suffering from acute respiratory failure and suggested PEEP could potentially increase intracranial blood volume, reduce cerebral venous return and that cerebral autoregulation was impaired in 11 out of 20 patients (Schramm et al., 2013). There has been limited investigation into the effects of ventilation types on CBFv in paediatric populations

suffering from acute respiratory failure. This is surprising due to the reduction in oxygen saturations and risk of ischemic injury in this population.

# 2.3.2 Veno-Arterial Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation and Cannulation Types

In cases where patients are unresponsive to conventional treatments for respiratory support, they may be a candidate ECMO (Kane et al., 2010). ECMO is used for cardiopulmonary resuscitation, as a bridge for transplantation/surgery and for the treatment of acute but reversible conditions (Schmidt et al., 2012). This includes acute respiratory and cardiac failure. Survival rates vary between conditions. According to the Extracorporeal Life Support Organisation (ELSO) registry in 2013 the lowest rate of survival was diaphragmatic hernia (51%) compared with the highest being meconium aspiration syndrome (MAS) (94%). Each year in the United Kingdom (Total population 65 million, 15 million children), roughly 200-250 neonates and children receive ECMO support per year (Robinson and Peek, 2015). Of whom, 100 neonates and 45 children receive respiratory support whilst approximately 80 neonates and children receive cardiac support (Robinson and Peek, 2015). During ECMO treatment, venous blood is drained by a central or peripheral cannulation and passed through a membrane to be oxygenated, and carbon dioxide is removed. The oxygenated blood is then returned to the body via a central or peripheral artery (Butt and MacLaren, 2016).

There are two common types of cannulation methods used during paediatric VA-ECMO which are central and peripheral. Patients that are cannulated centrally have venous and arterial cannulas placed through an open chest into the right atrium and aorta. If a patient requires central cannulation, they have significantly impaired cardiac function from both a cardiac output and ejection fraction perspective. This means the brain is solely reliant on the pump for CBFv (Fukuda et al., 1999). Patients cannulated peripherally have venous and arterial cannulas placed into the right internal carotid artery and the right internal jugular artery. There are noticeable differences in the cannulation methods. Higher flow rates can be achieved using central cannulation as larger cannulas can be used. However, there is a higher rate of infections in centrally cannulated patients due to the requirements of an open chest. This means that patients cannot stay centrally cannulated for long periods of time. Whereas patients cannulated peripherally, can stay on ECMO for longer periods. However, the occlusion of major neck vessels may cause disruption to CBF and cerebral venous hypertension (Weber and Kountzman, 1996). In some cases, the vessels cannot be reconstructed and there is a permanent ligation of the neck vessels. Both types of cannulations methods can directly impact cerebral perfusion during treatment, with a high percentage of paediatric ECMO survivors exhibiting neurological deficit later in life.

There are several factors that can contribute to this deficit, these include pre-ECMO severity of the illness, complications during treatment, ECMO management and patient characteristics (Polito et al., 2013). An analysis from the Extracorporeal Life Support Organisation (ELSO) suggested there are several factors which led to higher levels of neurological risk such as neonates weighing <3 kg, prematurity, those recannulated after prior ECMO, those suffering from severe acidosis, those supported with VA-ECMO and neonates that needed CPR prior to ECMO (Polito et al., 2013). Additionally, brain immaturity in general leads to higher susceptibility of neurological complications. Another confounding factor which can impact neurological deficit is the time spent on ECMO. Every 24 hours on ECMO there was a 12% increase in morbidity along with higher hospital stay, higher time duration in ICU, longer length of mechanical ventilation (Gupta et al., 2015). Due to this, clinicians attempt to separate patients from ECMO as early as possible. However, in some cases the patient not ready, meaning they need to be placed back onto ECMO either during weaning or following decannulation. Again, these are factors which can impact CBFv.

### 2.3.3 The Prevalence of Neurological Deficit in ECMO Survivors

The first successful use of ECMO was documented in 1972 (Hill et al., 1972). This resulted in major blood losses and decades past before ECMO was no longer used as a 'final resort'. Despite the improvements in treatment, ECMO has been associated with a number of adverse neurological side effects (Nasr and Rabinstein, 2015). A follow up study of patients that had undergone ECMO and survived were reassessed at five years old, a key age in the development into school. Motor performance was assessed, and out of 174 children, 22% had died before their fifth birthday, of the survivors 13% were diagnosed with severe disabilities and another 9% had impaired motor development which was either combined with behavioural or cognitive problems (Nijhuis-van der Sanden et al., 2009). In a separate study of 98 previously treated ECMO children at five years old, it was found that 17% had neurological defects with 6% being identified as having a major disability and thus did not undergo the neuro-motor assessment. In the remaining children 15% had motor problems, a further 11% were at risk of developing motor problems later on in life and 14% of the children had cognitive delay (Hanekamp et al., 2006). An issue with previous research into neurological deficit in ECMO patients is that the studies generally use comparison with groups with children that do not have equally severe respiratory stress or critical illness. Nevertheless, the potential reasons for neurological deficit during ECMO should be examined alongside exploration of the processes during clinical treatment that might be able to be monitored to help identify neurological deficit.

# 2.3.4 Reasons for Neurological Deficit in ECMO-Factors affecting Cerebral Blood Flow

There may be times during ECMO when CBF is disrupted, which could contribute to neurological deficit. During cannulation, cerebral perfusion is temporarily impaired due to the carotid artery and internal jugular vein becoming ligated (Fenik and Rais-Bahrami, 2009). During the 'weaning' process the ECMO flow rates are reduced over a period of several hours to determine if the infant can survive without ECMO. Nevertheless, no study to date has measured CBFv during these processes. Moreover, during ECMO decannulation, in some cases the arteries and veins cannot be reconstructed, especially if the patient has been on ECMO for prolonged periods. This results in permanent ligation and single sided cerebral perfusion. Potentially the effect of one sided cerebral perfusion may have an impact on these deleterious outcomes such as haemorrhagic and ischemic cerebral lesions (Van Heijst et al., 2004).

The lack of definitive research into the effects of ECMO on cerebral perfusion make it difficult to determine if the underlying cardiac/respiratory issues or the ECMO treatment itself are contributing factors to the neurological issues identified. Presumably both contribute, with many speculative reasons for high levels of deficit in survivors. For example, the ECMO cannulation of arteries may affect the blood flow to the brain and how the brain is perfused by altering pulsatile flow patterns, thus impacting cerebral autoregulation. Additionally, the rate of ECMO flow rates have also impacted on CBF and autoregulation in infants (Papademetriou et al., 2012). Levels of cerebral oxygenation and mean arterial blood pressure fluctuated in 53% of infants undergoing ECMO treatment which subsequently reduced cerebral autoregulation (Tsuji et al., 2000). Moreover, ECMO management itself may also impact CBFv. Anticoagulation parameters are essential for ECMO patients. The blood needs to be thin enough to prevent clots in tubing (Khaja et al., 2010), but viscous enough to prevent excessive bleeding. Anticoagulation is maintained through administering heparin (between 0.3 and 0.7 U/mL), preserving anti-thrombin III levels (>80%) (Agati et al., 2006). The effects of anticoagulation parameters could impact CBFv (Raman, 2017), as blood viscosity has been recognised as an important regulator of CBFv (Akcaboy et al., 2018). The viscosity

is also immediately affected when the blood enters the extracorporeal circulation combined with the effects of anticoagulants. This can potentially lead to hypercoagulations due an inflammatory response (Esper et al., 2014).

# 2.3.5 Interventions affecting Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation

A percentage of paediatric ECMO patients are exposed to cardiac catheterisation as part of treatment, and this could expose the patients to periods of disturbed cerebral perfusion. Cardiac catheterisation is an invasive diagnostic and interventional technique which can provide information or improve cardiac function and structure. Cerebral infarction levels have been shown to be low during cardiac catheterisation (Hamon et al., 2008, Segal et al., 2001). However the rate in unperceived asymptomatic cerebral injury and cerebral embolisms is an unexpectedly high (Büsing et al., 2005, Lund et al., 2005). Moreover, cardiac catheterisation can also lead to reperfusion injuries after an ischemic period. It has been previously suggested that cardiac catheterisation poses a greater risk to cerebral perfusion than previously thought (Kreeger et al., 2012).

### 2.36 Measurements of Neurological Deficit in Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation

#### 2.3.7 Cranial Ultrasounds

Currently, cranial ultrasound scans can be used to monitor any changes to the white matter, the periventricular leukomalacia and to investigate signs of haemorrhaging. This is used in clinical practise in younger patients with an open fontanelle during ECMO treatment (Bembea, 2013). The major limitation to cranial ultrasounds is that they can only be performed on young paediatric patients with an open fontanelle. It is also noted that measurements of CBFv are not commonly assessed or interpreted during cranial ultrasound scans.

### 2.38 Magnetic Resonance Imaging

Arterial spin-labelled perfusion magnetic resonance imaging (ASL-pMRI) has been used to measure CBF clinically. The technique magnetically labels arterial blood by two different techniques, either inversion or saturation proximal to the cerebral tissue (Goff et al., 2010). MRI is also able to look at structures of the brain and potential brain injury. However, this cannot be used as a tool to continuously monitor and can only indicate when brain injury has occurred. MRI is also costly and moving critically ill patients is not always practical. It is also not possible to perform an MRI while the patient is on ECMO due to the ferromagnetism of the circuit. But MRI could be a useful tool in assessing neurological injury following ECMO treatment. There has been some studies which have used MRI scans to investigate neurological deficit in ECMO patients. One study investigated the number of abnormal cranial ultrasounds of 50 neonates during ECMO treatment and compared them to post-ECMO MRI findings. It was concluded that during ECMO the head ultrasounds were abnormal in 24% of the neonates. Whereas the number of abnormal MRI scans post-ECMO was 62% (Rollins et al., 2012).

#### 2.3.9 Computerised Tomography Scans

For older children, cranial computed tomography (CT) scans are the gold standard of detecting cerebral infraction or haemorrhaging during ECMO with one study suggesting that at least 25% of ECMO patients have abnormal CT scans (LaRovere et al., 2017). However, usually CT scans require patients to be mobile, which is rarely possible during ECMO. The portable head CT scans are not widely available in clinical settings and transporting ECMO patients is difficult with the potential of decannulation. The findings of previous neurological monitoring research suggest a clear requirement for optimised neurological monitoring during ECMO treatment to prevent/minimise this deficit (Rhee et al., 2018). Taken together, these findings suggest clinical monitoring of cerebral injuries may be insufficient through NIRS and cranial ultrasounds, which are the current measurement tools employed in clinical practice.

# 2.3.10 Near Infrared Spectroscopy

NIRS is used clinically during ECMO treatment to monitor cerebral oxygenation levels. A study investigated NIRS values during ECMO cannulation and for at least 48 hours post-cannulation in 17 neonates (Fenik and Rais-Bahrami, 2009). It was found that 12 of the neonates experienced low cerebral tissue oxygenation saturation ( $SctO_2$ ) following ECMO cannulation, one neonate experienced  $SctO_2$  levels of <40%. After the onset of ECMO all neonates remained stable and SctO<sub>2</sub> levels remained elevated (~60%). In another study it was reported that during carotid cannulation only the right cerebral hemisphere had a reduction in  $SctO_2$  levels in three individuals (Ejike et al., 2006). Moreover 10 individuals experienced a bilateral reduction in cerebral oxygenation following carotid cannulation (Van Heijst et al., 2004). Another study found that all of the patients in the study (n=20), had a significant drop in bilateral cerebral oximetry during ECMO treatment, leading to increased oxygenation (Wong et al., 2012). Pre-ECMO factors such as hypoxia, hypertension, hypercapnia can affect cerebral perfusion making the brain vulnerable to blood pressure changes and potential damage. One of the major limitations is that NIRS is only able to measure at a microvascular level of capillaries, arterioles and venules (Benni et al., 2005). Meaning NIRS is unable to measure blood flow in the major arteries in the brain and how the blood is perfused. NIRS is ultimately used as a trend monitor, which can give a clinical suggestion that intervention is needed but interpatient variability is high (Van Bel et al., 2008).

### 2.3.11 Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound

Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound (TCD) can measure the flow velocity in the major vessels of the cerebral arteries. TCD is currently not used in routine clinical practice

during ECMO treatment. It has been suggested that during ECMO age-specific normal values of cerebral perfusion were outside of normal ranges during full flow ECMO and de-cannulation (Rilinger et al., 2017). Specifically, the values of cerebral perfusion were lower in all major cerebral vessels (middle cerebral artery, anterior cerebral artery and posterior cerebral artery). Another study found that CBFv in the middle cerebral arteries (MCA) was significantly lower in ECMO patients when compared to published normative values for critically ill, sedated, ventilated age matched values in paediatrics (0-18 years). The study investigated 44 paediatrics without neurological injury. Reduced MCAv was found on the first five days of full flow ECMO (O'Brien et al., 2019). Another study measured MCAv using TCD on the first 7 days of VA-ECMO and one additional day following decannulation in 27 paediatrics. MCAv was significantly lower during full flow ECMO compared to normative age matched values. CBFv then increased following decannulation (Rilinger et al., 2017). However, no research to date has previously investigated continuous changes to CBFv and NIRS throughout ECMO treatment, with a focus on the weaning period and recovery following decannulation.

The weaning period may be an important time in which there are fluctuations in CBFv. During the weaning period, the flow rates of the ECMO machine are reduced as the patient's heart and lungs begin to take over full function. This process takes several hours. Weaning from ECMO is not always successful as the patient may need further time on full flow ECMO. In which case the patient may be exposed to time periods of reduced CBFv. There are no set criteria for understanding when a patient may fail a wean. The decision is based on the clinical team rather than empirical evidence. Understanding the differences in CBFv between patients that fail and are successful could lead to rationale for cerebral perfusion to become a factor that could indicate potential success from weaning. Therefore, the focus of chapter 4 is to describe NIRS and TCD throughout ECMO treatment with a focus on the weaning period.

# 2.3.12 Summary

In summary, patients requiring ECMO are at risk of ischemic brain injury due to disruption in CBFv and cerebral oxygenation. Neurological deficit is prevalent in patients suffering from cardiac and/or acute respiratory failure. The use of TCD could provide more information on daily changes to cerebral perfusion in this cohort and during important times points such as weaning.

# 2.4 Impact to Cerebral Perfusion during Cardiothoracic Procedures in Congenital Heart Disease

High incidence of neurological deficit is also found in survivors of congenital heart disease (CHD). CHD is usually treated by corrective surgery. There are various reasons that could contribute to neurological deficit including the underlying medical condition itself, pre-treatment conditions, anticoagulation parameters, the treatment and patient characteristics. To perform corrective surgery, patients are placed onto cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) which may also include periods of deep hypothermic circulatory arrest (DHCA). It has been well documented that CPB is a challenge for the regulation of CBFv (Rajaram et al., 2020). The sudden changes to pulsatile flow, temperature fluctuations (cooling and rewarming), changes to blood viscosity, low flow rates and periods of total circulatory arrest all present a challenge for cerebral autoregulation. Previous research has suggested that those with left sided lesions exhibit the highest and most severe levels of deficit (Kaltman et al., 2005). This includes hypoplastic aortic arch, interrupted aortic arch and hypoplastic left heart syndrome. It is key to note that survival rates of these patients have dramatically increased over the years due to advances in surgical palliation and knowledge of the conditions/treatment available. Due to the high levels of neurological injury found in this population, the focus has moved towards improving quality of life for these patients. A better understanding is needed regarding how aspects of surgery may compromise CBFv and potentially how it can be prevented/monitored effectively and is the focus of chapter 5 of the thesis.

## 2.4.1 Congenital Heart Disease

Congenital heart disease is associated with multiple risk factors and the aetiology may not be specific to one deformity. It has been estimated that of 1000 live births approximately 8-12 will have a cardiovascular malformation (Hoffman et al., 2013).

Infants born with CHD often weigh less, have small head circumferences, exhibit respiratory distress and are born cyanotic (Lee, 2010, Matthiesen et al., 2016). In most cases following birth, neonates with CHD need surgical treatment which usually occurs within the first few months of life. Research studies suggest that later in life survivors of CHD can have impaired neurological development (Morton et al., 2017). This is because neonates with CHD are at risk of brain injury in the white matter (tissue that connects different regions of the brain). White matter injury is associated with an impairment in cognitive and motor systems, which are imperative to learning and development. Out of 41 term newborns with CHD, 32% had white-matter injury measured using MRI, compared with none in a control group of healthy neonates (Miller et al., 2007). Cardiac arrests are also common in patients with CHD (Lynge et al., 2018). The severity of the cardiac arrest can also cause injury to the structures of the brain due to a deprivation in nutrients and oxygen.

## 2.4.2 Neurological Development and Congenital Heart Disease

The advances in surgical palliation have increased the survival rates dramatically in CHD. Despite these advances it has been identified that these patients are at high risk of neuro-motor, cognitive and psychosocial problems. Due to this improvement in mortality rates, there has been a shift in research focus from improving survival to improving quality in life (Morton et al., 2017), through reducing post-natal neurological sequelae. Research predominately uses psychological evaluations and neuroimaging to assess neurological outcomes. The neurological issues impact most profoundly during school when language, mathematics, organisation, memory and visuospatial skills are needed (Bellinger et al., 2011). A child behaviour checklist was completed by parents of 155 children between the ages of four and eight that had undergone neonatal corrective surgery for CHD. The surgical repair involved deep hypothermia with predominantly total circulatory arrest or predominately low-flow continuous cardiopulmonary bypass. 20% of the children had scores of clinical concern on the child behaviour checklist along with academic challenges at the age of 8 (McQuillen and Miller, 2010). This altered brain development has been suggested to begin as early as the foetal period which may then get progressively get worse due to a number of associations, such as cardiac surgery (McQuillen and Miller, 2010). There is a small number of research studies which have reported reduced CBF and oxygen delivery in the CHD foetus (Kaltman et al., 2005), which may indicate that neonates with CHD have inherently lower CBF prior to surgical repair.

# 2.4.3 Aortic Arch Repair

Aortic arch repair is a term used to describe several procedures which involve increasing the diameter of the aortic arch. These conditions are characterised by aortic coarctation with or without posterior arch hypoplasia (Gargiulo et al., 2008). This includes patients suffering from hypoplastic aortic arch, interrupted aortic arch and hypoplastic left heart syndrome. Patients undergoing aortic arch repair are particularly at risk of cardiovascular complications and neurological deficit (Donofrio and Massaro, 2010). Historically, all the sections of the aorta had been successfully repaired by the 1950's except the aortic arch, this was due to the issues surrounding stopping the flow of blood to essential organs (Coselli and Green, 2009a). During that time attempts to repair the aortic arch were unsuccessful until the development of cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) with an early form of antegrade cerebral perfusion. This led to a successful repair of the aortic arch, although mortality rates and incidences of neurological complications in those that survived were high. There are subtle differences in how an aortic arch repair is performed. Usually, the approach is based on surgeon/centre preference rather than scientific rigour.

### 2.4.4 Hypoplastic Left Heart Syndrome

Neonates born with a congenital heart condition named hypoplastic left heart syndrome (HLHS) require surgery which carries high morbidity and mortality risk. Before the 1980's HLHS was uniformly fatal (Goldberg et al., 2000). Typically, those suffering from HLHS are born with a severely underdeveloped, non-functioning left ventricle and aorta. Typically, during the foetal stage the right ventricle is functioning as the left ventricle. After birth the patent ductus arteriosus closes, causing blood flow to diminish, which without intervention can lead a lack of blood flow to vital organs. HLHS is usually diagnosed early using obstetrical screening ultrasounds. This early diagnosis leads to an initial stabilisation period and precautions are put in place ready for birth. Some centres use cardiac transplantation as a treatment, but the most common treatment is staged therapy. This involves staged surgery to provide the patient with a single ventricle circulation. The Norwood procedure is the first of this staged surgery performed shortly after birth. The operation attempts to increase the aortic arch and make the right ventricle the main pumping chamber. A fenestration is placed between the ventricles, allowing free flow. A shunt is also attached to allow blood to flow to the lungs (Ohye et al., 2010). Brain MRI was used before and at a median of 9.5 days after surgery in patients undergoing the Norwood procedure. It was found that commonly before surgery some patients had cerebral ischemic lesions primary due to pre-treatment conditions associated with CHD. However, following surgery this increased with most patients exhibiting cerebral ischemic lesions (Dent et al., 2006). This high incidence of cerebral injury makes the monitoring of cerebral perfusion essential in preventing cerebral deficit.

# 2.4.5 Potential Disruptions to Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Aortic Arch Repair

# 2.4.6 The Adverse Effects of Cardiopulmonary Bypass

Cardiac surgery requires a bloodless field. To achieve this the patient is placed on CPB machine sometimes known as a heart and lung machine (Sarkar and Prabhu, 2017). The heart is isolated from the rest of the body through a cross-clamp placed on the ascending aorta. The CPB machine takes over control of blood circulation and gaseous exchange in the lungs. The CPB machine drains blood from the venous cannulas in the right side of the heart where it enters a reservoir. Drugs can be mixed with the blood and sent to an oxygenator for gaseous exchange. The blood is then heated, filtered and returned generally to the aorta (Machin and Allsager, 2006). Cerebral injury is prolific factor during bypass, with time spent on CPB a confounding factor (Brown et al., 2000). In paediatrics metabolic indicators of neurological injury are increased following CPB which include glutamine, myoinositol and decreased N-acteylaspartate (Lee et al., 2008). CPB causes an inflammatory response and subsequently leads to damaging effects (Bronicki and Hall, 2016). These can include mechanical shear stress, tissue ischemia/reperfusion, hypotension, non-pulsatile perfusion, and haemodilution with relative anaemia (Kozik and Tweddell, 2006). Due to their higher metabolic demands, immature organ system and reactive pulmonary vasculature, infants are more susceptible to an inflammatory response (Kozik and Tweddell, 2006). Additionally, for neonates the circuit is often between 200-300% greater than the patient's circulating blood volume which also adds to an inflammatory response (Caneo et al., 2018). It is possible that this inflammatory response may contribute to a disruption in CBFv.

The temperature changes used during CPB also impacts cerebral perfusion. Previous research into core body temperature changes and CBFv in healthy adults has suggested that with a one degree increase in core body temperature there is a 10-15% change in MCAv (Bain et al., 2013). Therefore, the use of hypothermia during CPB directly effects CBFv, metabolic activity and the cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen. During cardiopulmonary bypass it was found that 24% of patients had impaired autoregulation and during re-warming patients experienced hypothermia (Joshi et al., 2010b). Finally, separation from CPB has also been found to lead to high incidences of hyperperfusion, cerebral ischaemia and embolisms (Ohmae et al., 2007). Overall, there are many factors associated with CPB which can disrupt CBF. This may be more predominant in paediatric populations which is why it is imperative research is conducted in these patients.

#### 2.4.7 Blood Viscosity Changes during Cardiac Surgery

According to Poiseuille's equation, haemodynamic equilibrium is determined through viscosity, pressure, flow artery and vessel diameter (Çinar et al., 2001), all of which are affected during cardiac surgery. Viscosity is defined as the resistance of a fluid against flow. Flow rates are directly manipulated by the CPB machine. Oedema formation is also common complication that impacts the viscosity of the blood during CPB. Patients undergo a process called modified ultrafiltration (MUF) to remove excess water in the blood, reduce the need for a blood transfusion, filter inflammatory markers and improve post-CPB organ function (Ames, 2019). MUF is a procedure which is performed at the end of CPB until the desired haematocrit level is achieved. It works through the retrograded draining of the blood from the aorta down the arterial line and the MUF circuit where haemoconcentration occurs. During which water and low-molecular weight substances are removed from the blood under a hydrostatic pressure gradient (Luciani et al., 2001). Blood is then reinfused into the right atrium. This has been thought to improve postoperative cardiopulmonary function, improve cerebral circulation and oxygenation, increase haemoglobin content and alleviate oedema through reducing inflammatory markers. Conversely, paediatric cardiologists have suggested that MUF may create a left to right shunt due to the diversion of aortic blood into a high flow, short duration circuit. This in turn may decrease affect CBFv and perfusion along with the drastic changes to blood viscosity that are occurring. To reduce the duration of MUF high flow rates are often used. This could be potentially problematic, especially in infants weighing <10kg. Draining from the aorta can lead to a reduction in the carotid circulation and thus reduced CBFv, this has been labelled as 'cerebral stealing' (Medlin and Sistino, 2006). Moreover, the rapid intravascular and hemodynamical changes can lead to an imbalance which could also be affecting the cerebral circulation.

### 2.4.8 Anaesthesia and Cerebral Blood Flow

It has been suggested that at high doses volatile anaesthetics abolish cerebral autoregulation (Oshima et al., 2003). It is accepted that most intravenous anaesthetics lead to a reduction in cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen (CMRO<sub>2</sub>) and CBFv. Whereas volatile inhalational anaesthetics lead to an increase in CBFv and a decrease in CMRO<sub>2</sub>. Typical neonatal sedation during cardiac surgery consists of midazolam and fentanyl along with inhaled sevoflorane. Sevoflorane is inhaled as it is cardio-depressive which is why it is used in small doses and combined with intravenous agents. It was suggested that sevoflorane is associated with intact cerebral autoregulation even at high doses (as high as 1.5 minimum alveolar concentrations). A study investigating sevofloride found that it increased CBF (25%) and decreased CMRO<sub>2</sub> (37%) in adults anaesthetised with fentanyl and midazolam (Oshima et al., 2003). In healthy children, 0.5, 1.0 and 1.5 minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) sevofloride did not lead to significant changes to CFBv over a 90 minute period (Fairgrieve et al., 2003). Conversely, after an inspired concentration of sevofloride resulted in a 17% decrease in CBF in older adults undergoing elective open valve surgery (Reinsfelt et al., 2011). This appeared to be due to a vasodilatory response that led to a partial loss of flow metabolism coupling. It is important to highlight other anaesthetic agents were used during the surgery along with mild hypothermia which could also be contributing to the reduction in CBFv.

It has been suggested that midazolam decreases CBF through a decrease in cerebral metabolic rate in oxygen. A study compared midazolam and propofol in relation to cerebral autoregulation. It suggested that cerebral dynamic autoregulation was maintained following only midazolam administration through a decrease in transfer function gain in low-frequency range (Ogawa et al., 2010). In preterm neonates a bolus dose of midazolam (0.1 mg/kg) led to a mean decrease in CBFv from baseline by 12% five minutes after administration, this decrease was not significant from baseline. After five minutes CBFv returned to baseline values (Harte et al., 1997). Conversely, it has been suggested that midazolam has minimal effect on CO<sub>2</sub> reactivity, CBF and blood oxygenation (Kiviniemi et al., 2005). When comparing fentanyl and propofol in adults undergoing normothermic CPB, it was found that fentanyl lead to significant lower jugular venous oxygen haemoglobin saturation but neither lead to postoperative cognitive dysfunction (Kadoi et al., 2003).

### 2.4.9 Neuroprotection during Aortic Arch Repair

The above literature suggests that there are many confounding factors that can impact cerebral perfusion during arch repair. Several neuroprotective techniques have been developed, such as keeping complete circulatory arrest to a minimum (<45 minutes) (Andropoulos et al., 2003). Circulatory arrest was the first technique to be widely used for aortic arch repair (Griepp et al., 1975). However, this led to a high number of neurological issues following surgery. Therefore, cooling the patients was implemented to further protect the brain. Theoretically, hypothermia reduces metabolic activity. It has been suggested that cooling should cease when the temperature in the oesophagus has reached 10°C to 13°C and oxygen saturation above 95% in the jugular venous bulb, this

indicates maximal metabolic suppression (McCullough et al., 1999). Cooling should be more than 20 minutes with the ideal being 30 minutes or above to prevent gradual updrift. Additionally, the head should be packed with ice to prevent an increase in cranial temperature during surgery (Griepp, 2001).

The rewarming stage is also important to protect the brain. Rewarming should be gradual and should avoid sudden high perfusate temperatures. Haemodynamics should also be closely monitored during theatre and in the postoperative period (approximately 8 hours) to ensure appropriate oxygen delivery. Specifically, during lower temperatures the stat management should be switched from Alpha stats to pH stats. It was concluded that pH stats led to higher levels of CBFv during paediatric cardiac surgery at lower temperatures (figure 2.2). This corresponds with findings of a study which investigated the stat management of 52 patients. Those that underwent pH stat management had increased jugular venous oxygen concentrations, which implied an increased in CBFv (Kiziltan et al., 2003). Other research investigating NIRS and pH stat management found that pH stat management led to greater levels of cerebral oxygenation (Sakamoto et al, 2004). Antegrade selective cerebral perfusion with moderate hypothermia is another neuroprotective technique used during cardiac surgery, which has reduced mortality compared to hypothermic circulatory arrest (Taşdemir et al., 2002). This technique has been shown to be advantageous as it allows a longer interval of safe circulatory arrest. The low flow supplying of oxygen and nutrients maintains appropriate levels of oxygen metabolism while the body is hypothermic. This is the most time consuming technique, however has been shown to lead to the higher levels of adequate cerebral protection (Hagl et al., 2001). Especially when compared to previous techniques such as retrograde cerebral perfusion (Okita et al., 2001).

The figure originally presented here cannot be made freely available via LJMU E-Theses Collection because of copyright. The image was sourced from (Polito et al., 2006).

**Figure 2.2** Cerebral blood flow and cerebral blood flow velocity with Alpha vs pH stat management during cardiopulmonary bypass (Polito et al., 2006).

### 2.4.10 Measurements of Cerebral Perfusion during Aortic Arch Repair

# 2.4.11 Near Infrared Spectroscopy

Due to the volume of confounding factors which may affect CBFv during cardiac surgery, the need for continuous monitoring of cerebral perfusion is essential. Currently NIRS is used operatively to monitor cerebral perfusion, to guide the flow rates of CPB and post-operatively to identify adverse outcomes (Andropoulos et al., 2003, Phelps et al., 2009). A study investigated cerebral perfusion using NIRS in neonates undergoing the Norwood procedure. Ischemic lesions were identified using pre and post MRI scans. It was suggested that before surgery ischaemic lesions occur in approximately 23% of infants, and that after surgery 73% of infants had new or worsened ischaemic lesions (Dent et al., 2006). It was also concluded in the same study that there is an association between ischaemic lesions and low postoperative brain regional oxygen saturation (rSO<sub>2</sub>)(<45%). These lesions are associated with behavioural issues later in life. A study measured neurological development at the age of four to five of children that had previously undergone treatment for HLHS (Hoffman et al., 2013). It was concluded that those with low NIRS levels 48 hours postoperatively were at risk of neurological deficit in childhood. A major limitation to the current clinical practice is the sole reliance on NIRS as a method for measuring cerebral perfusion during cardiac surgery. Specifically, NIRS cannot detect hyperperfusion and cerebral embolisms exacerbated by ischemia/reperfusion injuries which are a primary cause of perioperative brain injury (Hogue Jr et al., 2006).

### 2.4.12 Transcranial Doppler

TCD can overcome some of NIRS shortcomings such as its ability to detect hyperperfusion. In a study which implemented TCD during cardiac surgery for 29 patients, they concluded TCD was able to identify perfusion abnormalities early to prevent neurological consequences in four patients, it also identified three patients that had periods of hyperperfusion. It was also able to guide perfusion rates (Catena et al., 2013). Additionally, a case study measuring CBFv during aortic arch repair of a 10-day old neonate found that during DHCA both TCD and cerebral oxygenation levels decreased to near zero at two time points (Busch et al., 2016). This suggests that during aortic arch repair patients are exposed to times of extreme reductions to CBFv and consequently oxygenation. There is a clear disruption to CBFv during aortic arch repair. However, no research to date has described both NIRS and TCD throughout aortic arch repair with a focus on temperature changes between two groups (20 and 25°C), which is the focus of Chapter 5 in present thesis.

# 2.4.13 Summary

In conclusion previous research has suggested that many components of aortic arch repair pose a threat to maintaining CBFv and cerebral autoregulation. In depth cerebral perfusion monitoring during the entire procedure is warranted.

# 2.5 Chapter Summary

The literature suggests that extracorporeal circulatory support has an impact on CBF that likely contributes to neurological deficit. Given that a larger number of patients are surviving following neonatal extracorporeal circulatory support, an enhanced understanding of the changes in cerebral perfusion required and is thus the focus of the present thesis.

**Chapter Three: Experimental Methods** 

### **3.1 Introduction**

This chapter will give a detailed overview of measurements used to assess cerebral perfusion in clinical populations and the limitations to each method. Specifically, the focus was to measure cerebral oxygenation through near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) and cerebral blood flow velocity (CBFv) using transcranial doppler ultrasound (TCD). The chapter will explore normative values of these measurements in healthy and clinical populations. The chapter also included data to demonstrate that the operator of TCD from the thesis collected accurate measurements which are comparable to previous published data, in both healthy and clinical paediatrics. This chapter had several aims which included, firstly to give a detailed overview of the current measurements of cerebral perfusion in clinical populations which were used throughout the thesis, this was achieved through reviewing previous literature. Secondly, to establish if the middle cerebral artery (MCA) was accurate isonated using TCD by a sole sonographer in a healthy paediatric population. Finally, to compare values of cerebral blood flow velocity in a clinically ill, paediatric population to previously published ventilated values.

### **3.2 Literature Review of Cerebral Perfusion Measurements**

# 3.2.1 Measurements of Cerebral Perfusion in Clinical Populations

Measures of cerebral perfusion can provide information of the functional status of the blood vessels, which can indicate cerebrovascular health. Clinically it can be used to ensure patients at risk of ischaemic injury have adequate perfusion to reduce the risk of long-term neurological deficit. In adult patients assessments of cerebral perfusion using transcranial doppler (TCD) can detect and diagnose intracranial arterial steno-occulsive disease and vasospasm (Aaslid et al., 1984, Felberg et al., 2002). While paediatric populations have previously been used to identify risk of stroke in children with sickle cell anaemia (Adams et al., 1990, Adams et al., 1998). More recently, assessing cerebral perfusion has identified patients with traumatic brain injury, hydrocephalus, intracranial hypertension, cerebrovascular disorders, central nervous system infection and stroke (LaRovere and O'Brien, 2015). There are several factors in clinical paediatric settings which can globally affect CBFv such as anaemia, increased cardiac output, changes in body temperature, elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> and the use of drugs which can have cerebral vasodilator responses (Bor-Seng-Shu et al., 2012). There are several ways cerebral perfusion can be recorded in clinical paediatric settings.

### 3.2.2 Near Infrared Spectroscopy

The current method used in clinical practise to measure cerebral perfusion is near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS). Glenn Millikan developed optical methods which were originally developed to measure muscle oximeter in the 1940's (Ferrari and Quaresima, 2012). Following this it was highlighted that brain activity is associated with physiological events such as changes in the optical properties of brain tissue which could be assessed using these techniques. In 1977 the near infrared (NIR) range enabled a real time measurement using a non-invasive technique to detect haemoglobin oxygenation using trans-illumination spectroscopy (Jobsis, 1977). Consequently in 1985, NIRS was used in some of the first human cerebral oximetry studies (Ferrari et al., 1985). NIRS works on the principle that the biological tissue is relatively transparent to light at wavelengths of 700-1000 nm which is the near infrared spectrum (Pellicer and del Carmen Bravo, 2011). The NIRS monitor can produce near-infrared light using laser diodes at the spectrophotometer which is then carried across the tissue via fiberoptic bundles to the distal end known as the optode (Murkin and Arango, 2009). Reflection, absorption and scattering are principles that NIRS relies on to determine oxygenation levels. There are two different approaches to measuring cerebral oxygenation using NIRS. Firstly, NIRS can be used to measure oxygenation from one side of the forehead to the other, which can be positioned as a straight trajectory. The second approach is through an angular arrangement on the same side of the forehead which is a diffused trajectory. The straight trajectory is usually suitable for neonates and infants as it can be used to assess global brain perfusion and oxygenation whereas the angular simply provides regional information of the brain. The first application of NIRS in clinical research was to transilluminate a neonatal head (Brazy et al., 1985). This is now used in routine clinical practice such as in PICU, cardiac theatres, ECMO, acute respiratory failure and traumatic brain injury. NIRS is also used to estimate cardiopulmonary bypass flow rates during cardiac surgery. The advantages of NIRS in a paediatric clinical setting is that it is non-invasive, robust, does not require frequent calibration and once placed on the forehead does not need to be moved (Steiner et al., 2009). It can safely provide continuous measurements of cerebral oxygenation.

# The figure originally presented here cannot be made freely available via LJMU E-Theses Collection because of copyright. The image was sourced from (Davie and Grocott, 2012).

Figure 3.1 Image of the Fore-sight NIRS monitor. Adapted from (Davie and Grocott, 2012).

### 3.2.3 Limitations of Near Infrared Spectroscopy

Currently near infrared spectroscopy is used clinically to monitor cerebral oxygenation. NIRS is a non-invasive estimation of regional tissue haemoglobin oxygenation saturation in the frontal lobes (Hyttel-Sorensen et al., 2015). However, NIRS is only able to measure oxygenation at a regional level (frontal lobes) and cannot fully convey information on blood flow within the main vessels of the brain. Accordingly, an injured brain could potentially show normal levels of oxygenation during periods of ischaemia. Additionally, it has been noted that there is great inter-device variability, issues related to what is absolute versus relative saturations, variability of oxygen saturation targets and thresholds, equating to a lack of confidence in clinical settings (Grocott and Davie, 2013). Another inherent issue with NIRS is its reliance on the algorithm that cerebral blood is 15% venous and 25% arterial, as this has not been verified within paediatric populations. It was also reported that following the induction of a hypocapnia-ischaemia through the inflation of a pneumatic head cuff on the forehead, there was a significant reduction in three different types of NIRS monitors. Suggesting that NIRS values do not solely reflect cerebral oxygenation alone as extracranial tissue desaturation led to a reduction in NIRS values (Davie and Grocott, 2012). Despite these shortcomings, NIRS has been suggested to assist in the detection of low-flow states in paediatric patients at risk of ischaemia (Mittnacht, 2010). Research has found NIRS to be useful in adult cardiac surgery, paediatric cardiac surgery and now intensive care settings (Chan et al., 2017, Mittnacht, 2010, Desmond and Namachivayam, 2016). NIRS has been suggested to be an indication of low CBF rates and has been linked to long term cognitive development. Research into long term implications of low NIRS values has suggested in paediatric populations lower values are associated with lower developmental scores at 2 years old in preterm infants (Alderliesten et al., 2014).

## 3.2.4 Transcranial Doppler Ultrasonography

Another method of measuring cerebral perfusion is transcranial doppler ultrasound (TCD). The principle of Doppler ultrasound was first suggested by Christian Johann Doppler in 1842, however it was initially limited due to the inability to penetrate the skull. It wasn't until 1982 when a lower-frequency (1-2 MHz) ultrasound was used to measure CBF velocities (CBFv) in the vessels of the circle of Willis (Aaslid et al., 1982). This became known as TCD which is now widely used as a non-invasive ultrasound technique which is able to measure real time CBFv in the middle, anterior and posterior cerebral arteries (Verlhac, 2011). Acoustic windows in the skull are used to measure the speed and direction of blood flow in the intracranial arteries. An ultrasound probe is used to send a pulsed Doppler ultrasonic beam to an artery of the circle of Willis, where moving red blood cells scatter sound energy which is reflected back to the probe. This Dopplershift is then proportional to the velocity of the blood (Willie et al., 2011). TCD can be used to isonate the middle cerebral artery (MCA), anterior cerebral artery and posterior cerebral artery. These blood vessels are distinguishable through differences in depth, mean and peak velocities. These can be found in table 3.1.

Age	Depth	Mean Velocity	Peak Systolic Velocity	End-diastolic
		(cm/s)	(cm/s)	Velocity (cm/s)
0-10 days	25	24 (±7)		
11-90 days	25	42 (±10)	46-75 (±15)	12-24 (±8)
3-12 Months	30	74 (±14)	114 (±20)	46 (±9)
1-3 Years	35-40	85 (±10)	124 (±10)	64 (±11)
3-6 Years	40-45	94 (±10)	147 (±17)	65 (±9)
6-10 Years	45-50	97 (±9)	143 (±13)	72 (±9)
10-18 Years	45-50	81 (±11)	129 (±17)	60 (±8)

**Table 3.1** Transcranial doppler velocities of the middle cerebral artery in healthy, awake children through the temporal window (Truemper and Fischer, 1993).

## 3.2.5 Limitations of Transcranial Doppler

TCD has its own inherent limitations. A major limitation to TCD is that it is unable to obtain two-dimensional B-mode ultrasound of the vessel. Without vessel diameter, you cannot measure CBF (absolute metric flow) but rather the velocity of the red blood cells, with only the larger cranial vessels able to provide adequate images. Due to this TCD can only give a global indication of cerebral perfusion as these larger blood vessels are provide the oxygenated blood to the large regional areas of the brain. However, the Hagen-Poiseuille law can be applied to CBF, which states flow in a rigid tube is:

$$F = P * \pi * r^4/8 * \eta * 1$$

P is the difference between the pressure at the beginning and at the end of the tube. r is the radius of the tube.  $\eta$  is the viscosity of the fluid and l is the length of the tube, the relation between the flow and the velocity (v) is:

$$\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{v} * \boldsymbol{\pi} * \mathbf{r}^2$$

From the previous formula and from the Hagen-Poiseuille law we can obtain:

 $v = P * r^2/8 * \eta * 1$ 

These formulas suggest that flow in a vessel is dependent on both the flow velocity and the radius of the vessel. Velocity itself is dependent on the viscosity of the blood (hematocrit), perfusion pressure and the radius of the vessel. If we assume that MCA diameter remains unchanged, the assumption is that changes in velocity equate to changes to flow velocity (Polito et al., 2006). There is evidence that has suggested that vessel diameter does change. But in clinical populations such as those undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass for cardiac surgery, it has been reported that the MCA does not significant change in diameter (Van der Linden et al., 1991).

Another major limitation of TCD is the measurement is operator dependant, which requires knowledge of the cerebrovascular anatomy. This makes the widespread clinical of transcranial doppler potentially difficult, especially for long term, continuous use and in emergency situations. Additionally, in 10-15% of the population, adequate signals are unable to be obtained relating to the porosity and thickness of the temporal bone (Tsivgoulis et al., 2009), however this is not usually an issue in neonates.

Currently there are few studies which have investigated normative data in 'healthy' paediatric populations. From the few studies normative data can be found in table 3.1. CBFv varies throughout childhood, starting at birth. This is also a time in which the paediatric brain is developing rapidly and is vulnerable to ischemic injury for several reasons. Following delivery autonomous nervous system is in a hyper-sympathetic, and drastic changes to the cardiovascular system occur as the neonate is become independent from their mother's circulation. This happens in stages. Firstly, heart rate and respiration decrease while diffuse motor activity reaches its peak then diminishes. The second stage respiration becomes irregular with potential incidences of apnoea and a large variation of heart rates (Theorell, 2002). The foramen ovale closes due to difference in pressure between both sides of the heart. This can take several weeks and in approximately 15-
20% of the population this does not happen at all. This transition to an independent respiratory and circulatory system leads to potential haemodynamic instability, carrying a greater risk of cerebral hypoxia and hyperoxia (Hyttel-Sorensen et al., 2015). There is also an increase in PO<sub>2</sub> and subsequently, a decrease in PCO<sub>2</sub> due to the onset of respiration, leading to a reduced pulmonary vascular resistance. The difference in the decrease in pulmonary vascular resistance and increased systematic vascular resistance results in left to right shunting through the patient ductus arteriosus (PDA) and generally stops after the third postnatal day. CBFv continuously rises after birth until the age of between 6-8 years, then a decline until 18 years old consistent with normal adult values (table 3.1).

# 3.2.6 Methodological Considerations for measuring Cerebral Blood Flow in 'Healthy' Paediatric Populations

There has been limited studies investigating cerebral autoregulation in 'healthy' paediatric populations (Greisen, 2005). In neonates and infants, the direct manipulation of blood pressure is unattainable which could be accountable for the lack of research into the immature brain. Early studies suggested that in full term, stable neonates without an evidence of brain injury, there is a pressure-flow reactivity, suggesting that static autoregulation is intact (GREISEN, 1986, Pryds et al., 1990). Following this, a study measured cerebral autoregulation using NIRS in neonates born between 24 to 34 weeks. It was concluded that the lower threshold for autoregulation in these neonates was less than 30 mmHg (Tyszczuk et al., 1998). Furthermore, in preterm (median 24 weeks or 60% gestation) there was no association between CBF (measured using NIRS) and blood pressure change (Noone et al., 2003). From the few studies investigating autoregulation in neonates, it was suggested that static autoregulation was intact even in those without evidence of cerebral autoregulation. But the number of studies is sparse and lacking consistency.

3.2.7 Methodological Considerations for Measuring Cerebral Blood Flow in Critically Ill Patients

This heightened demand for CBFv throughout childhood makes the paediatric brain more susceptible to damage during critical periods of brain development. There are a small number of studies that have measured CBF velocity in critically ill populations. CBFv is affected in paediatric critically ill populations when compared to 'normal' counterparts. CBFv was measured in children that had undergone a global hypoxicischemic event (cardiopulmonary arrest, asphyxial injury and submersion injury). CBFv was measured every day until either post-injury day 8, discharge or death. It was found that by day three, CBFv was above normal where it then declined. Those that had an 'unfavourable outcome', CBFv was significantly higher following a global hypoxicischemic event compared to those with favourable outcomes (O'Brien, 2015). This study included a variety of ages (birth to 17 years old) with a relatively small number of patients (n = 26) which makes comparisons and conclusions difficult to draw. Nevertheless, TCD has not been used as a clinical tool to monitor the changes in velocity during surgical procedures or treatment. Another study investigated CBFv in mechanically ventilated paediatrics (table 3.2). CBFv was lower than previously published normal values (O'Brien, 2019). However, this study had limited numbers and the reasons for mechanical ventilation varied. Critically ill populations are incredibly heterogenous populations, taking measurements of around 30 patients cannot represent the entire critically ill population.

Cerebral autoregulation has also been investigated in paediatric critically ill populations. A widely used assessment of autoregulation is to increase inhaled CO<sub>2</sub> while monitoring blood pressure response. In neonates this technique has been shown to be reliable while also monitoring oxygenation levels (Durduran et al., 2010). A common reason for admission into a paediatric critical care unit is cardiac arrest. Previous research has suggested following a cardiac arrest various organs recover from global ischemia, including the brain and the heart, this takes weeks (Sundgreen et al., 2001). This has been associated with a high metabolic demand for glucose and oxygen. The neurovascular unit is disturbed and as a result CBF, autoregulation and metabolism are impaired. Current guidelines suggest that a mean arterial pressure of above 65 mm Hg should be achieved due to a rightward shift of autoregulation following arrest. Dynamic autoregulation was also monitored in clinically ill neonates. The researchers combined the measurement of gradient CBFv response to transient blood pressure. Autoregulation was said to be absent in pre-term and high-risk infants but those that were neurologically classed as healthy but admitted to intensive care were said to have intact cerebral autoregulation (Boylan et al., 2000). A study also examining cerebral perfusion after severe traumatic brain injury found that 12 out of 28 children had impaired autoregulation six months after the brain injury (Vavilala et al., 2006). These cohorts are at high risk of neurological deficit and the rationale for this deficit remains speculative.

There has been a limited amount of research comparing NIRS and TCD in adult populations. It was found in a comparison between NIRS and TCD in healthy adults that NIRS was less sensitive to changes in cerebral perfusion during hypercapnia but not hypocapnia (Lipnick et al., 2018). In clinical populations involving older adults undergoing carotid endarterectomy, NIRS or TCD was used to monitor cerebral perfusion during the procedure (Cho and Jang, 2017). They concluded that NIRS was a safe and reliable measurement of cerebral perfusion during cardiac surgery. However, the patients in this study were split into two groups and no patients had both NIRS and TCD, therefore the study was unable to directly compare the two measurements. There is limited paediatric studies that have compared NIRS and TCD. Comparing TCD and NIRS in a paediatric population would give an insight into how NIRS could be utilised regarding changes to flow. Despite previous research using both methods to measure cerebral perfusion, there are limited studies which have directly compared NIRS and TCD.

Table	3.2	Transcranial	doppler	velocities	of tl	ne middle	cerebral	artery	in	sedated,
mecha	nical	ly ventilated (	(O'Brien	et al., 2019	9).					

Age	Number of	Mean Velocity	Peak Systolic Velocity	End-diastolic		
	Participants	(cm/s)	(cm/s)	Velocity		
				(cm/s)		
0-90 days	31	28 (±14)	73 (±21)	19 (±7)		
3-12 Months	25	58 (±15)	103 (±24)	30 (±10)		
1-3 Years	19	66 (±21)	113 (±32)	39 (±14)		
3-4 Years	13	75 (±18)	125 (±28)	45 (±21)		
5-10 Years	12	52 (±18)	87 (±28)	33 (±14)		
(female)						
5-10 (male)	13	62 (±13)	106 (±26)	38 (±9)		
Years						
11-17 Years	12	61 (±21)	115 (±45)	35 (±13)		
(female)						
11-17 (male)	15	58 (±14)	96 (±25)	38 (±11)		
Years						

#### 3.3 Methods

#### 3.3.1 Participants

Neonates (n=12) were assessed at Liverpool Women's Hospital. Neonates were born at term and classed as being 'healthy' with no birth or antenatal complications for neonate or mother (see table 3). Patients had a mean age of  $2 \pm 1$  days, body mass 3 .45  $\pm$  0.65 kg and a ratio of 3:9 (males: females). Clinically ill patients were recruited from Alder Hey Children's Hospital which included paediatrics conventionally ventilated (n=6) with a mean age of 57  $\pm$  days, and ratio of 4:2 (males:females). Patients supported using high frequency oscillator (HFOV) (n=2) both males with a mean age of 696  $\pm$  968 days and stable cardiac patients >6 months old without ventilatory support (n=3). Sedated patients were clinically stable and free from any conditions which are known to affect CBFv such as increased bilirubin levels.

#### 3.3.2 Experimental Protocol

Using a 2MHz or 4MHz doppler probe and a pulsed transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasound system (DWL, Compumedics, Germany), the middle cerebral artery velocity was isonated while patients were at rest. The probe was placed on the temporal window and was adjusted until the MCA was visualised and was then optimised in line with the best practise guidelines (Willie et al., 2011). A continuous measurement was obtained for a minimum of one minute of undisturbed velocity (Healthy n=12, Sedated n =6, cardiac not ventilated n=3). This was repeated for multiple days on the 2 patients in HFOV (9 and 2 days).

#### 3.3.3 Measurements

The temporal window is approximately 1-2 cm above the zygomatic arch and 1cm in front of the external auditory meatus. From here the ultrasonic beam was directed

horizontally, then the depth and sample volume were adjusted until the MCA was visualised using previously published guidelines to assess vessel characteristics. The probes were adjusted until optimal MCAv signal was attained. Real time measurements were observed to ensure probe remained measuring the MCA uninterrupted. The data was also visualised on LabChart Pro version 7 (ADInstruments, Austrailia). Measurements were taken for at least one minute depending on the time and space availability during clinical care. If measurements were able to be performed for longer, than up to three minutes were be taken. The depth and probe placement were maintained in the same position for any repeated measurements. All measurements were recorded on Labchart and then converted into excel where the data was analysed second-by-second.

#### 3.4 Results

Age (Days)	Sex	Type of Birth
1	F	Spontaneous normal vaginal
1	Μ	Induced, normal vaginal
1	Μ	Non-rotational forceps
1	F	Elective c-section
3	F	Emergency c-section
1	F	Elective c-section
2	F	Spontaneous normal vaginal
1	F	Elective c-section
1	М	Spontaneous normal vaginal
2	F	Spontaneous normal vaginal
2	F	Elective c-section
2	F	Elective c-section

 Table 3.3 Patient information of 'healthy' patient group.

 Table 3.4 Information of ventilated patients.

Age (Days)	Sex	Type of Ventilation
1381	М	HFOV
11	Μ	HFOV
53	F	Conventional
26	М	Conventional
47	F	Conventional
25	М	Conventional
175	М	Conventional
14	М	Conventional

#### 3.4.1 Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity in 'Healthy' and Sedated Neonates

Mean MCAv of the healthy neonatal group was  $24 \pm 4$  cm/s, this falls within previously published normative values for healthy neonates which is defined as  $24 \pm 7$ cm/s (Truemper and Fischer, 1993)(Figure 3.2). The mean CBFv for patients conventional ventilated was  $24 \pm 2$ . cm/s, which is low compared to  $42 \pm 10$  cm/s in healthy previously published values (O'Brien et al., 2019) (Figure 3.3). However, this is within the same range of previously published age-matched, sedated, mechanically ventilated paediatrics ( $28 \pm 14$  cm/s) (O'Brien, 2019). The HFOV patient aged 1381 days had a mean CBFv of  $43 \pm 16$  cm/s over 9 days, this was low compared to healthy published normal values of  $94 \pm 10$  cm/s, and previous published conventional ventilated paediatrics  $75 \pm 18$  cm/s (Figure 3.4). Mean CBFv for the 11-day old was  $23.9 \pm 3.3$  cm/s (Figure 3.5) which is lower than 'healthy' age matched normative values ( $42 \pm 10$  cm/s) but comparable to published previously ventilated patients ( $28 \pm 14$  cm/s). The cardiac patients mean CBFv was  $30.1 \pm 2.6$  cm/s which was within normal range (Figure 3.6).



**Figure 3.2** CBFv obtained from the temporal window every 5 seconds over one minute for each healthy neonate from the temporal window. Error bars are SD. The box represents the normative previously published range for the same age group (Truemper and Fischer, 1993).



**Figure 3.3** CBFv obtained in conventionally ventilated paediatrics from the temporal window every 5 seconds over one minute from the temporal window. Error bars are SD. The box represents the normative previously published range for the same age group.



**Figure 3.4** One HFOV patient aged 1381 days with CBFv measurements through the temporal window over nine days. Mean and standard deviation is represented using error bars.



**Figure 3.5** 11-day old patient supported using HFOV over two days with CBFv measured from the temporal window. Mean and standard deviation is represented using error bars.



**Figure 3.6** CBFv from three cardiac patients for ~one minute from the temporal window in 3 patients <6 months old. Mean and standard deviation is represented using error bars.

#### **3.5 Discussion**

This chapter had several aims which included to give a detailed overview of the current measurements of cerebral perfusion used in the clinical practise and research of paediatric clinical populations. The secondary aim was to establish if the MCA was accurately isonated using TCD by a sole sonographer in a healthy paediatric population. This chapter also aimed to compare values of cerebral blood flow velocity in a clinically ill, paediatric population to previously published ventilated values.

Overall, the positives and negatives of TCD and NIRS have been well documented in previous research (Grocott and Davie, 2013). NIRS is only able to give a regional indication of cerebral perfusion in the frontal lobes. This previously has been shown to be a useful tool in clinical populations such during cardiac surgery. Resulting in NIRS being used in routine clinical practise. However, the accuracy of NIRS has been questioned and the confidence in NIRS has been questioned by healthcare professionals. Whereas TCD is able to give a global indication of cerebral perfusion by measuring the blood flow velocity in the major cerebral vessel. When taking these measurements together, it has the capacity to give a more detailed understanding of cerebral perfusion in clinical populations. Through researching both measurements, it may be possible to establish a relationship between the two measurements can give an insight into

Firstly, the MCAv was isonated in a group of healthy neonates (n=12). This data was then compared to previously published normative values in a paediatric population. was within normal ranges when compared to age-matched previously published data (Truemper and Fisher, 1993). Neonates were measured at up to 3 days old. This was chosen as CBFv within the first 10 days is relatively stable (~24 cm/s), but after 10 days this increases rapidly to ~42 cm/s and then continues to do so throughout childhood past normal adult values. Eventually at ~18 years old it reduces to normal adult values where it then remains stable. The comparison to previously published values indicated that

operator was able to correctly identify and obtain data from the MCAv through the temporal window.

Data from a population of critically ill, paediatric patients was also collected. There has been previously published normative data in sedated, mechanically ventilated patients from the temporal window (O'Brien et al., 2019). Values from figure 3.3 are comparable to these previously published values. Again, this suggests that the operator was able to accurately isonate the MCA in a ventilated population. There was one patient ventilated using HFOV that had a lower CBFv than both normative and ventilated normative values. The HFOV patients are harder to directly compare to conventional ventilated patients. Patients are escalated onto HFOV when conventional ventilation is unable to oxygenate the patient sufficiently. Arguably HFOV patient's conditions are worse, with them being less stable and harder to treat. It is key to note that although there appears to be improvements in CBFv in figure 3.4, the patient was withdrawn from treatment. Unfortunately, there is no published data on normative values for HFOV. This may be difficult to establish normative values. These patients as critically ill populations that are heterogeneous. They have unique, individualised treatment pathways, and pre-treatment condition. Making comparisons/normative data difficult to define.

#### 3.6 Conclusion

Measurements of cerebral perfusion through NIRS and TCD were defined in this chapter. NIRS can give an indication of cerebral perfusion through measuring oxygenation at a regional level. Whereas TCD can offer measurements of velocity from a global perspective. Taken together, they can offer an in-depth view of cerebral perfusion in clinical populations. This chapter also aimed to obtain the CBFv within normal ranges to indicate the proficiency of the TCD operator of the thesis. From the data obtained from a healthy neonatal and clinical populations, the mean velocity was within ranges of previously published age-matched research. Overall this suggested that the measurements were taken from the MCA in both populations.

## Chapter Four: Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Paediatric Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation with a Focus on the Weaning Process

#### 4.1 Introduction

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) is an advanced form of cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB). ECMO provides life support via gas exchange and systemic perfusion. It can allow the heart and/or lungs to rest/recover, as a bridge to transplantation or can stabilise patients following cardiac arrest which is described as cardiopulmonary resuscitation (E-CPR) (Thiagarajan et al., 2007). ECMO was initially used as a 'last resort' treatment in critically ill patients but is now a safe, plausible, clinical tool. Despite improvements in ECMO management, survival rates have remained unchanged for 20 years. It is likely this is due to ECMO being used more frequently and for more increasingly complex medical conditions (Zabrocki et al., 2011).

A high rate of neurological deficit is evident in individuals who have undergone ECMO treatment (Xie et al., 2017). Neuroimaging shows ~10-62% of survivors exhibit neurological deficit (Rollins et al., 2012, Wien et al., 2017, van Heijst et al., 2014). Behavioural studies also show long-term deficit in ~10-60% of survivors (Waitzer et al., 2009, Boyle et al., 2018). For example, in one study of 29 respiratory ECMO survivors, 34% were diagnosed with developmental delay; of which 80% had received ECMO as a neonate, 67% had moderate to severe abnormal MRI, and 33% were classed as having severe ischemic changes. Importantly, even in patients diagnosed without any developmental delay, 18% had abnormal MRI scans (Dhar et al., 2020). This high incidence of neurological deficit in survivors may suggest that the neurological monitoring techniques are inadequate at determining cerebral injury during ECMO treatment (O'Brien and Hall, 2013).

There are a number of potential reasons for the high rates of neurological deficit during ECMO, including the extracorporeal circulation itself (Nomura et al., 2018), the onset of surgery (Wang et al., 2020) and the high number of varying pharmacological substances the patients are used for prolonged periods of time (Vutskits, 2014). The monitoring of cerebral perfusion and injury can be challenging during ECMO treatment. CT scans cannot be used as ECMO patients cannot be moved and MRI is not possible during ECMO treatment due to the ferromagnetic perfusion circuitry (Xie et al., 2017). Cranial ultrasound can be used to monitor changes in white matter, the periventricular leukomalacia and for signs of haemorrhaging but only in younger patients with an open fontanelle.

In current clinical practise, the index of cerebral perfusion is near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS). NIRS is a bedside tool which can monitor oxygenation in the frontal lobes. A retrospective study investigating NIRS values in 135 ECMO patients found 44% had abnormal findings neurological imaging. Despite the abnormal findings 64% survived to discharge and 83% were considered to have 'favourable' outcomes. In those with 'unfavourable' outcomes, it was found during ECMO treatment NIRS values were >40% and/or they had >20% decline in NIRS values from a baseline (Tsou et al., 2020). In addition, ECMO has also been associated with complications such as cranial haemorrhaging (Le Guennec et al., 2018). This may lead to instances of hyperperfusion which NIRS alone is unable to detect. It is likely that NIRS monitoring alone cannot provide adequate insight into small changes to cerebral perfusion during ECMO treatment. Previous research studies have employed transcranial doppler ultrasonography (TCD) to investigate CBFv during paediatric ECMO. CBFv was lower when compared to healthy age-matched normative values during ECMO even in patients that suffered no clinical apparent neurological deficit while on ECMO, CBFv then increased following decannulation (O'Brien and Hall, 2013). Whereas those that had suffered haemorrhaging demonstrated higher than normal CBFv days prior to clinical recognition of bleeding (O'Brien and Hall, 2013). In a subsequent study by the same research group, CBFv was measured in 18 paediatric ECMO patients (mean age  $3.8 \pm 7.2$  years), although data was only reported as an average during ECMO and following ECMO. The CBFv values were significantly lower in ECMO patients when compared to published normative values in critically ill paediatric populations not treated with ECMO (O'Brien et al., 2019). It is important to highlight that both aforementioned studies recruited a heterogenous population with ages from 2 days up to 18 years old. They did not report daily measurements during full flow ECMO, weaning or following ECMO decannulation. There was also no record of NIRS measurements (i.e. current clinical practice) to use as a comparison.

The weaning period is an important time point as it is a major challenge to cerebral perfusion. During weaning, ECMO flow rates are gradually reduced over a period of several hours and if patients can maintain sufficient oxygenation without any cardiovascular stress, then a 'bridge' is placed into the circuit. Followed by decannulation onto conventional respiratory support or high frequency oscillation ventilation. This is a process that can take several hours and could potentially be leading to instances where patients are exposed to disturbances in cerebral perfusion. The weaning period is a pinnacle timepoint in treatment where there is a clear need for cerebral monitoring. Despite this, to the authors knowledge there has been no research that has focused on CBFv during the weaning period. Therefore, the aim of this study was to measure CBFv using TCD and NIRS daily throughout paediatric ECMO treatment, including weaning and recovery following decannulation. The secondary aim was to examine the relationship between NIRS and TCD throughout ECMO treatment.

#### 4.2 Methods

#### 4.2.1 Participants

A total of 14 infants were recruited from Alder Hey NHS Foundation Trust. Patients were treated using VA-ECMO for cardiac (n = 6, aged =  $85 \pm 161$  days) or respiratory (n = 8; aged =  $70 \pm 92$  days, weight =) lesions (Table 4.1). Parental informed consent was obtained in two stages. First, consent was obtained to take measurements. After at least 24 hours a second consent form was obtained to use the CBFv data for research purposes. Ethical approval was sought from the NHS Liverpool East Research Ethics Committee (IRAS: 240082). Inclusion criteria were neonates or infants requiring VA-ECMO (<5 years old). Exclusion criteria included those deemed inappropriate by the clinical team and patients suffering from conditions which have been known to affect CBFv including elevated bilirubin levels, sickle cell anaemia and moyamoya disease.

#### 4.2.2 Research Design

Measurements during treatment included cerebral perfusion through a 2MHz or 4MHz doppler probe along with a pulsed TCD ultrasound system (DWL, Compumedics, Germany) and NIRS (ForeSight, Casmed, United Kingdom). Heart rate, mean arterial pressure and ECMO flow rates were all monitored from clinical equipment at Alder Hey Children's Hospital. These measurements were taken at specific time points which included every day on full flow ECMO, where possible during the weaning period (quarter flow, minimum flow and bridge) and once decannulated onto either conventional ventilation or high frequency oscillatory ventilation (HFOV) (Figure 4.1). Due to the nature of the research, taking measurements was not always appropriate due to the potential disruption to medical care. If measurements were taken, then TCD data would be collected for at least one minute, uninterrupted. Timings of measurements can be found for each individual patient on Figure 4.2.

#### 4.2.3 Respiratory Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation

Some patients were referred to Alder Hey Children's Hospital from other regional and national centres for respiratory failure after being unresponsive to conventional treatments. Other patients were already receiving treatment at Alder Hey Children's Hospital but did not respond to maximal conventional ventilation methods, including HFOV, so were assessed as potential candidates for VA-ECMO. All patients were already intubated receiving intensive care treatment prior to ECMO initiation. The clinical team for each ECMO cannulation consisted of consultant intensivist, cardiac surgeon, ECMO coordinator, cardiologist and perfusionist who assessed suitability for ECMO in a Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT). Cannulation was performed in the intensive care unit. All patients were sedated and paralysed before the procedure with an anaesthetic technique involving intravenous administration of fentanyl, midazolam, inhaled servoflurane and rocuronium. Heparin was administered to achieve an Activated Clotting Time (ACT) of more than 300 seconds. Following surgical exposure of the right neck vessels, patients were placed onto full flow VA-ECMO after cannulation of the right internal carotid artery and the right internal jugular vein by arterial and venous cannulas respectively. Once on ECMO, flows were calculated according to body mass of the patient to maintain 150 -200 ml/kg/min flow.

#### 4.2.4 Cardiac Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation

Cardiac ECMO was used in patients with post-cardiotomy syndrome who could not be separated from cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) circulation following open heart surgery. Some patients suffered a cardiac arrest in the postoperative period and were rescued with VA-ECMO as part of E-CPR. In both groups of patients, ECMO was established centrally via an open chest with cannulation of the right atrium and the aorta with venous and arterial cannulas respectively. The cannulation was either performed in theatre, following surgery, or in the intensive care unit as part of E-CPR protocol for postsurgery cardiopulmonary arrest.

#### 4.2.5 Weaning from Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation

The decision to wean was reviewed daily using several clinical investigations including chest X-Ray, CT scans, lung compliance assessment, hemodynamic changes and echocardiograms. Once the patient indicated signs of improvement, a 'stress' echocardiogram was performed. This involved reducing the ECMO flow rates gradually over the course of 10-15 min, the circuit was then clamped, which allowed the patient's heart and lungs to fully function while an echocardiogram was performed for a few minutes. If the 'stress' echocardiogram showed positive features, a plan for a full weaning trial was made. During the weaning process (see figure 4.1), ECMO flow rates were progressively reduced over a period of several hours (approximately 30-minute intervals) to allow a gradual increase of workload while assessing respiratory and cardiac function. If patients remained stable throughout the weaning phase, once at minimal flow, the circuit was clamped with the ECMO tubing maintaining recirculation flow via a bridge. Therefore, if at any point during the weaning process the patient became unstable, ECMO could be re-established using the same circuit and cannulas. If, on the other hand, the patient remained stable and after a variable time of one-two hours their clinical parameters remained favourable, the cannulas were removed from the neck vessels or the intracardiac chambers, and ECMO support was ceased. Some patients needed additional inotropic support or increase of respiratory support. A small number of patients, once decannulated from ECMO, suffered severe clinical deteriorations needing to be placed back onto ECMO. In some cases, the patient never successfully weaned from ECMO, and the decision was made to withdraw treatment (individual treatment pathways are seen on figure 4.2).

#### 4.2.6 General Principles of Veno-Arterial Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation

VA-ECMO drains venous blood through a central or peripheral cannula connected to a centrifugal pump which pumps deoxygenated blood to a membrane oxygenator. The blood is then reinfused at the given temperature into the body via an arterial cannula positioned in a peripheral artery or centrally in the aorta. Target ECMO flow rates are between 150 and 200 ml/kg/min for neonates and infants. Intravenous heparin is administered for anticoagulation purposes to maintain an active clotting time between 180 and 220 seconds. Renal replacement therapy could also be used to aid the fluid balance in presence of oliguria (urine output <0.5ml/kg)



**Figure 4.1** Schematic showing the timings of opportunities for measurements of cerebral perfusion following cannulation onto full flow ECMO. If a measurement could be taken, then data would be collected for at least one minute. Measurements began at daily measurements on full flow ECMO. If patients were withdrawn from treatment, then measurements would stop.

#### 4.2.7 Measurements of Cerebral Perfusion

#### 4.2.8 Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound

First, the MCAv was located through the temporal window, which is approximately 1cm above the zygomatic arch and 1cm in front of the external auditory meatus. From here the ultrasonic beam was directed horizontally, then the depth and sample volume were adjusted until the MCA was located. The MCA was identified, using velocity and depth, using the normative values for age and sex. While patients were on ECMO only one side of the head is available to image due to cannula positioning, these measurements were only obtained from one side of the head or from the open fontanelle depending on the age of the patient. If it was taken from the fontanelle, first measurements from the temporal window would be used to confirm the mean velocity of the MCA. The ultrasonic beam was placed in the open fontanelle and directed vertically, and the depth and sample volume were adjusted until the MCA was located.

#### 4.2.9 Near Infrared Spectroscopy

NIRS monitor (Casmed, Foresight, United Kingdom) was used to measure cerebral oxygenation levels through the Beer-Lambert law. NIRS is a non-invasive optical technique where two sensors are applied to the forehead to the left and right of the midline to assess frontal oxygenation levels. Laser-emitting diodes generate light at four different wave lengths (690, 778, 800 and 850mm). Within each sensor there is spacing between the two light detectors which gives both shallow and deep detection of oxygenation with a maximum penetration of ~2.5cm from the emitter. The NIRS monitor relies on an algorithm that cerebral arterial: venous ratio is 30:70. NIRS was continuously monitored by the clinical team to ensure no catastrophic events and to ensure adequate cerebral perfusion. This involved ensuring that a threshold values of >70% with no fluctuation >15%.

#### 4.2.10 Statistical Analysis

The data was explored for normality using quantile-quantile plots. To explore cerebral perfusion changes daily, patients who received the full flow ECMO for the first 5 consecutive days were included in the one factor linear mixed model analysis (n=7). A two-factor linear mixed model was employed to compare cerebral perfusion during the weaning period when the patient was still on full flow ECMO, when the flow rates had been reduced to a quarter of full flow, at minimum flow (one third of full flow) and bridge time points and whether the patient had successfully weaned or failed to decannulated. Follow up post-hoc comparisons were employed to explore significant interactions using the least significant difference approach. Linear mixed models and post-hoc comparisons were analysed using SPSS (SPSS Version 26, IMB Statistics, USA). To examine the repeated measures correlation (rmcorr) between CBFv and NIRS, data collected during any full flow ECMO day was included in the analysis (this was not limited to the patients with five full flow ECMO days). Repeated measures correlation analysis was also performed using the weaning period data (the first reduction, half flow, quarter flow, minimum flow and bridged off). Rmcorr was employed using RStudio statistical package (RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R, USA). All effects, interactions and correlations demonstrating a p value < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

#### 4.3 Results

#### 4.3.1 Overall Patient Characteristics

Mean age of the cohort was  $81 \pm 124$  days, with a mean  $4.6 \pm 2.6$  kg and a ratio of females: males 8:6. Overall, patients were cannulated for cardiac support through an open chest (n=8) and or respiratory support (n=6) through the carotid artery and internal jugular vein (Table 4.1). All patients were on ECMO for a minimum of one day and a maximum 24 days (Figure 4.2). 8 patients were successfully weaned off ECMO at the first attempt, 5 patients at the second attempt and one patient were weaned off after a further surgical procedure in theatre. Three patients had two ECMO runs where they were decannulated and then needed re-cannulation for profound haemodynamic instability (n=3). Following successful decannulation patients were supported with either HFOV (n=4) or conventional ventilation (n=7). Two patients were unable to be separated from ECMO. The 30-day mortality was 35%.

#### 4.3.2 Patient Characteristics (Peripheral Cannulation)

Six patients underwent peripheral cannulation with mean age  $60 \pm 92$  days, body mass  $3.9. \pm 1.3$  kg and a ratio of female: males 2:6 (Table 4.1). Patients received ECMO support for the following diagnosis: congenital diaphragmatic hernia, persistent pulmonary hypertension in the neonate and respiratory failure (Table 1). 3 patients (17%) died within 30-day following successful decannulation and 2 (12%) were never successfully separated from ECMO. Extracorporeal cardiopulmonary resuscitation (E-CPR) was used in 4 patients and 4 patients underwent cardiac interventions (figure 4.1).

#### 4.3.3 Patient Characteristics (Central Cannulation)

Eight patients underwent cardiac cannulation. Mean age of the patients was  $85 \pm 161$  days, body mass  $5.3 \pm 3.6$  kg and a ratio of female: males of 4:2 (Table 4.1). Patients

received ECMO support for a variety of reasons including cardiac arrest following cardiac surgery, cardiomyopathy, and E-CPR following cardiac surgery (Table 4.1).

Sex	Age	Weight	Cannulation	Cardiac/	Cath	Surgery	E-CPR	No of	Mort	Diagnosis
	(Days)	(kg)	Туре	Respiratory	Lab	0.		Weans	ality	C
М	8	3.1	Neck	Respiratory	No	Pre	No	2	Yes	Left congenital diaphragmatic hernia,
										severe PPHN, hypospadiasis
Μ	406	12.0	Neck	Respiratory	No	No	No	2	No	Adenovirus pneumonia, rhinovirus
_	_									positive
F	2	2.8	Neck	Respiratory /Cardiac	Yes	Yes	No	1	No	Disconnected pulmonary artery, severe PPHN
М	138	3.4	Chest	Cardiac	No	Post	Yes		No	Myhre syndrome, periarrest with
										desaturation. AP window, VSD, RVIT,
										PHTN, sepsis
F	88	7.8	Neck	Cardiac	No	Post	Yes	1	No	Cardiac arrest
Μ	56	4.0	Chest	Cardiac	No	Post	Yes	1	No	Cardiac arrest
F	274	7.0	Chest	Cardiac	No	Post	No	1	Yes	Pericardial effusion, dilated cardiomyopathy
F	11	3.5	Chest	Cardiac	Yes	No	Yes	0	Yes	Cardiac arrest
Μ	17	3.3	Chest	Cardiac	No	Post	Yes	2	No	Cardiac arrest
Μ	29	2.9	Chest	Cardiac	Yes	Post	No		Yes	Cardiac arrest
Μ	25	3.8	Chest	Cardiac	Yes	Post	No	1	Yes	Cardiac arrest.
F	1	3.4	Neck	Respiratory	No	Pre	Yes	1	No	Congenital right sided diaphragmatic hernia
М		3.3	Chest	Cardiac	Yes	Yes	No	1	No	Cardiac arrest
F	3	3.4	Neck	Respiratory	No	Post	No	1	No	Acute respiratory failure
8	$81 \pm 124$	4.6 ±		1						
=M		2.6								
6=										
F										

**Table 4.1** Individual patient characteristics of each ECMO patient.

PPHN= persistent pulmonary hypotension of the newborn, AP= Aortopulmonary window, VSD= ventricular septal defect, RVIT= right ventricular inflow tract, PHTN= pulmonary hypotension.



**Figure 4.2** Representation of each individual patients ECMO journey. All patients were on ECMO for a minimum of one day and a maximum 24 days. Black circle indicates a day on full flow ECMO, grey circle indicates an attempted wean, red indicates patient decannulated onto conventional ventilation and blue indicates patient decannulated onto HFOV.

## 4.3.4 Daily Changes in Cerebral Perfusion on Full Flow Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation

During the first five days of full flow ECMO (n=8) CBFv and NIRS were similar (main effect of time; p > 0.54; Figure 4.3).



**Figure 4.3** Individual CBFv (a) and NIRS (b) values for the first 5 days of full flow ECMO for 8 individual patients. Red lines represent the mean.

#### 4.3.5 Cerebral Perfusion during the Weaning Period

Prior to the weaning period the difference in the two groups at full flow was 1.5 cm/s (15.9, 19.0; p=0.85). During the weaning period (quarter flow, minimum flow and bridge) CBFv was similar (main effect of time: p = 0.67; figure 4.4a). CBFv was on average 9.1 cm/s (0.04, 18.1) higher in those patients who successfully weaned compared to those that failed (main effect of success: p=0.05). There was no interaction between time and success (time\*success interaction; P = 0.47). There was no change over time in NIRS (main effect of success; p = 0.92; figure 4.4b), no difference between those successful or failed (main effect of success; p = 0.92; figure 4.4b), no difference between those success (time\*success interaction; p = 0.94). By design, flow rates were reduced over time during the weaning period quarter flow, minimum flow, bridge) (main effect of time: p = 0.001; figure 4.4c) with an interaction (time\*success interaction; p = 0.001).



**Figure 4.4** CBFv (a), NIRS (b) and flow rates (c) values during the weaning period, separated by those that successful weaned (n= 8) and failed (n=6) (data are mean  $\pm$  SD).

Heart rate did not change over time with a mean of 141 bpm (132, 151) with those successful having no difference than the patients that failed (p = 0.63; figure 4.5a) and no interaction between time\*success (p = 0.51). MAP was not significant during full flow prior to the wean with the mean being 61 mm Hg (53, 69). In the failed group the mean was 65 mmHg (51, 79) and success 57 mm Hg (50, 65). MAP did change overall throughout the weaning period with a mean MAP of 56 mm Hg (52, 61; p = 0.01; figure 4.5b). The mean for those that were successful was 56 mmHg (48, 63) and successful 58 mm Hg (53, 63) with the difference between groups not being significant (p = 0.30). There was no interaction between time\*success (p = 0.10).



Figure 4.5 Heart rate (a) and MAP (b) values during the weaning period, separated by those that successful weaned and failed (data are mean  $\pm$  SD).

#### 4.3.6 Cerebral perfusion following Decannulation

CBFv was  $14.1 \pm 9.9$  cm/s higher in those receiving conventional ventilation compared to HFOV following decannulation (p = 0.09; figure 4.6).



Figure 4.6 CBFv of patients that were successfully decannulated onto either conventional ventilation (n = 7) or HFOV (n = 5).

#### 4.3.7 Near Infrared Spectroscopy and Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound Correlations

A weak relationship was evident between NIRS and CBFv during daily measurements while the patients were on full flow ECMO, this was not statistically significant (r =0.10; p = 0.32; CI= 0.11-0.30; figure 4.7a). There was no relationship between NIRS and TCD during weaning time points (r = 0.02, p = 0.90; CI = 0.28, 0.32; figure 4.7b).



**Figure 4.7** NIRS and CBFv correlation during daily measurements during full flow ECMO (a) and during the weaning process (where possible; first reduction, half flow, quarter flow, minimum flow and bridge) (b). Each colour represents an individual patient.

#### 4.4 Discussion

The aim of the current study was to measure CBFv using TCD and NIRS daily throughout paediatric ECMO treatment which included weaning and recovery following decannulation. The current data indicates that cerebral perfusion measured using CBFv and NIRS are similar across the first 5 days on full flow ECMO in neonates. During the weaning period, patients were divided into those who were successfully decannulated and those who failed decannulation. The data provides some evidence that those who were successfully decannulated had ~9.1 cm/s higher CBFv than the ones who failed but this was not reflected in the NIRS measurements. Moreover, once decannulated, there was some evidence suggesting that those patients supported using conventional ventilation had a higher CBFv than those who required HFOV. Taken together, the data suggest that CBFv measurements during ECMO could provide more detailed insight into cerebral perfusion, especially during the weaning and recovery phases.

## 4.4.1 Measuring Cerebral Perfusion during Full Flow Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation:

In the group of 14 neonatal patients recruited in the current study, the number of days spent on ECMO ranged between 1 and 15 days without an attempted wean. Which eight neonates were on full flow ECMO for five days (days 1-5 of treatment). During this first five days of ECMO, both daily CBFv and NIRS were not statistically different. This finding supports previous research data that also examined CBFv during the first five days of full flow ECMO in paediatrics (0-18 years old) and found no statistical change (O'Brien and Hall, 2013). In the study by O'Brien and Hall, (2013) they also reported that CBFv was significantly lower on the first five ECMO days and then increased on following this period. In the current study the mean over the first 5 days over ECMO remained relatively unchanged. NIRS was also
included within the current study and likewise to CBFv, did to not change daily. Nevertheless, one patient had a difference of 28% over three days between the lowest and highest point during full flow ECMO. Clinically this variation may have some importance. Previous research into neurological outcomes and NIRS during ECMO found that those with a >20% change in NIRS across the entire ECMO period, were more likely to have neurological deficit (Tsou et al., 2020). Whilst overall the means of CBFv and NIRS found little change in perfusion during daily during ECMO, it is still important to monitor daily cerebral perfusion/magnitude of change on an individual basis. As there was some evidence to suggest that individuals may experience daily fluctuations whilst on full flow ECMO.

## 4.4.2 Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Weaning and Following Decannulation

A novel finding of the study was that CBFv was measured during the weaning period. During weaning, flow rates were reduced progressively which may impact CBFv, especially in the patients who may fail to separate. In the current study CBFv was compared in those that had successfully weaned (n=4) and those who had failed (n=4). There was no statistical difference in perfusion between the two groups, but there was a trend for a higher CBFv at each weaning time point in those who were successfully weaned off ECMO. There are no universal guidelines or specific criteria which enables clinicians to know which patients will fail to separate. The decisions occurring during the weaning process, including the timing of the trial itself are mainly based on the experience of the clinical team. Despite our sample size being small, the current data supports the need for a larger study to elucidate the role of CBFv measurements during ECMO weaning, and its potential ability to predicting successful weaning from ECMO.

Another novel aspect of this study is the measurements of CBFv following decannulation with the patients supported on HFOV or conventional mechanical ventilation.

Those placed onto conventional ventilation had a higher CBFv than those on HFOV, even if it did not reach statistical significance. This finding might be somewhat expected, because patients who are haemodynamically unstable are more frequently, post decannulation, in need of HFOV. But compared to previously published normative data for the same age range, CBFv is lower compared to healthy paediatrics. The small sample size needs to be taken into consideration when considering the lack of statistical significance. But the data does provide a base for further investigation.

# 4.4.3 The Correlation between Near Infrared Spectroscopy and Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound

Given that NIRS is the current clinical tool to measure cerebral perfusion, it is important to understand the relationship between changes in NIRS and changes in CBFv measured using TCD during ECMO. In the current study, the relationship was examined daily throughout the ECMO treatment (beyond the fifth day of support). A positive but weak relationship was found between NIRS and TCD measurements. The overall relationship between cerebral perfusion and ECMO is difficult to describe due to the multiple factors involved including flow rates and mean arterial pressure (Papademetriou et al., 2012). From the ECMO circuit perspective, cerebral perfusion is affected by the ECMO fluid dynamics which is not pulsatile due to the centrifugal pumps used. This in turn, can affect cerebral vascular autoregulation (Tian et al., 2017). Centrifugal pumps, on the other hand, have several advantages like reduced haemolysis, increased ECMO circuit durability, prolonged oxygenator lifespan and are less traumatic on the blood cells, reducing the need for blood transfusions (Thiara et al., 2007). However, nonpulsatile flow has been suggested to increase muscle sympathetic nerve activity which may lead in turn to cerebral hyperaemia and hypertension (Markham et al., 2013). It has also been suggested that non-pulsatile flow may also lead to reduced production of nitric oxide by the endothelium and promote endothelial dysfunction (Lanzarone et al., 2009).

Measuring both NIRS and TCD is advantageous. The drugs administered during ECMO reduce the cerebral metabolic demand. NIRS was unable to provide information on both cerebral oxygen supply and oxidative metabolic demand (Kazmi et al., 2018), which TCD is unable to achieve. Whereas TCD measures both hyper- and hypoperfusion which NIRS cannot. This could partially explain the weak relationship between in NIRS and CBFv in this cohort. The reductions in metabolic demand can imply that despite a reduction in CBFv, cerebral oxygenation may still be adequate (i.e NIRS remains elevated). In addition, the relationship was examined throughout all weaning time points where the relationship between NIRS and TCD became weaker. This is possibly due to CBFv being relatively reliant on the CPB flow rates during full flow ECMO. Once the weaning begins the ECMO flow rates are reduced and the heart and/or lungs begin to take over function. In those that fail weaning, the heart and lungs are not able to function adequately enough to be independent from ECMO. This is a sensitive time point when patients would be potentially undergoing cardiovascular stress, this gives less control in understanding why there are differences between NIRS and TCD at this time. Overall, there appears to be a weak relationship between NIRS and CBFv throughout the entire ECMO treatment in neonates. This supports previous research that has reported that NIRS is not an accurate/direct measurement of cerebral perfusion during critical care treatments (Goff et al., 2010). Thus, there is accumulating evidence that NIRS alone, may not be the optimal measurement for neurological monitoring during ECMO.

# 4.4.4 Methodological Considerations and Limitations

It is likely that some of the methodological limitations may have impacted the results. First, CBFv using TCD were obtained from one side of the head and/or the open fontanelle. During ECMO there was limited space, especially when the clinical team were cannulating or decannulating. In addition, during ECMO patients were positioned so that only one side of the head was available, especially in those cannulated peripherally. Given that, previous research has suggested that there is no difference in CBFv between the left and right middle cerebral arteries during ECMO (O'Brien and Hall, 2013), meaning unilateral measurements should provide detailed insight. CO<sub>2</sub> measurements were not taken simultaneously during the scans, as pCO<sub>2</sub> is usually measured through blood samples, which could not be collected by the researcher. It is also important to acknowledge the limitation in the sample size. Due to the coronavirus pandemic, recruitment was terminated early. It is also key to note that this was a single centred observational study. Therefore, the specialist ECMO centre was limited to the number of ECMO patients they can cannulate due to the availability of specialist equipment and staff. Prior to the pandemic, all patients that met the inclusion criteria was approached. Despite the study recruitment being stopped early, the sample size of 14 is comparable to other ECMO studies such as the study by O'Brien and Hall (2013).

## 4.4.5 Research Implications

Overall, the research suggested that there was no significant difference between both NIRS and TCD over the course of ECMO treatment. However, there is potential for the observed changes to be clinically important. Future research should consider investigating what is clinically significant rather than statistically significant. These subtle differences may be impacting neurological development of paediatrics. Further research should also consider focusing on the weaning period. This was the first study to the authors knowledge to focus on cerebral perfusion during weaning. This could be due to the logistical difficulties with taking CBFv measurements at that time. During weaning there is a high volume of individuals bedside, vast amounts of equipment and limited space available. It was also not plausible to take measurements during cannulation and decannulation due to the limited space bedside and the limited space for the surgeons to perform the procedure. This is also a potentially important period of disrupted cerebral perfusion. Future research could also investigate whether TCD would add further clinical information about the potential success of weaning. TCD may be

used as a tool to highlight any variations or reductions in CBFv during weaning, which could be an early indication that weaning may be unsuccessful. This would allow clinicians to recognise earlier that the patient will need to go back onto full flow ECMO. Currently, there is no universal guidelines as to whether a patient will fail weaning. It is based on the decision/experience of the clinical team and the process can take hours to decide. NIRS is unable to give this information which was evident through the weak correlation between NIRS and TCD. NIRS is used clinically, however this may be not reflective as to the flow rates in the cerebral vessels. This may lead to periods of unknown disrupted perfusion and subsequently, neurological deficit in the long-term.

# 4.5 Conclusion

Cerebral perfusion measured using CBFv and NIRS are similar across the first five days on full flow ECMO. During weaning there was some evidence that those that were successfully separated had a higher CBFv than the failed group. Moreover, there was some evidence to suggest that following decannulation, patients supported using conventional ventilation had a higher CBFv than those that required HFOV. Further research is needed to investigate the relationship of NIRS and TCD and to establish if TCD could be an additional clinical tool during weaning.

# **Chapter Five: Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Neonatal**

# **Aortic Arch Repair**

## **5.1 Introduction**

Infants born with hypoplastic or interrupted aortic arch are often born cyanotic requiring immediate medical and surgical intervention. Historically these conditions were fatal (Barron et al., 2009). Now, a high percentage of patients survive to adulthood (Feinstein et al., 2012). Improvements to foetal diagnosis, surgical technique and the management of congenital heart disease (CHD) all contribute to the increases in survival rates (Tabbutt et al., 2008). Yet a high percentage of survivors exhibit neurological deficit (Mussatto et al., 2018). Common neurological complications associated with CHD include cognitive impairment, speech/language disorders, lower academic achievement and fine/gross motor deficits (Wernovsky, 2006). The highest rates of deficit are seen in those with severe left sided lesions such as hypoplastic or interrupted aortic arch (Marino et al., 2012). Potential causes for neurological complications associated with CHD, may be related to the procedures that are required during surgical repair of the aorta. It has been suggested this neurological deficit is multifactorial but involves tissue hypoxia and regional hypoperfusion often within the vascular beds, which may already be abnormal due to the underlying conditions (Serraino and Murphy, 2017). Other direct causes of disruption to cerebral perfusion could be due to the cessation of cardiac function, the use of cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) and the induction of deep hypothermic circulatory arrest (DHCA) (Kinney et al., 2005). Whilst catastrophic brain injury is a well-documented complication (McCrindle et al., 2005). Ensuring adequate cerebral perfusion during surgery is paramount to neurological protection, as subsequently this may enhance the quality of life in survivors.

Surgery itself has been identified as a controlled trauma which occurs alongside the establishment of anaesthesia, directly impacting cerebral blood flow velocity (CBFv) (Slupe and Kirsch, 2018). Currently there are several strategies implemented for neurological protection including minimising the time spent in DHCA; cooling of skull and brain by topical

application of ice packs to further reduce neural activity; and the continuous monitoring of blood gases to optimise oxygen delivery to the brain. Moreover, antegrade cerebral perfusion throughout CPB is used to perfuse the brain with oxygenated blood to reduce prolonged periods of cerebral ischaemia. Nevertheless, there are still instances of neurological deficit in this population and perfusion strategies vary considerably across centres (Meyer *et al*, 2016). There are a lack of universal guidelines regarding the target temperature of cooling, cerebral protection strategies and surgical repair techniques (Ortuno et al., 2019). For example, target temperature for DHCA is usually based on surgeon preference, previous experience, type of procedure performed and its complexity. Taken together, the optimum neuroprotection strategy is currently unknown.

Near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) is used in routine practise during cardiac surgery as an index of cerebral perfusion. Adequate CPB flow rates are largely reliant on NIRS to monitor cerebral perfusion during surgery. NIRS is a simple, cost-effective measurement of cerebral oxygenation. However, the shortcomings of NIRS have been previously well documented (Erdoes et al., 2018). For example, NIRS is only able to measure oxygenation at a regional level (frontal lobes) as an in-direct marker of global cerebral perfusion. An injured brain could potentially show normal levels of oxygenation during periods of ischaemia. Moreover, there has been documentation of high levels of inter-device variability, issues related to absolute vs relative saturations and variability of oxygen saturation targets/thresholds in clinical settings (Grocott and Davie, 2013). More in-depth measurements of cerebral perfusion are available including Transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasound which provides cerebral blood flow velocity (CBFv) of the middle cerebral artery (MCA). One previous study has employed NIRS and TCD during aortic arch repair during full flow CPB. Periods of hyperpefusion were reported which NIRS was unable to detect (Andropoulos et al., 2003). In the aforementioned study CBFv and NIRS were also only measured during pre and post repair while on full flow CPB and not during periods of selective cerebral perfusion. A more recent case study employed TCD and NIRS in one male infant (10 days old) throughout aortic arch repair. An important observation from this case study were that values in TCD and cerebral oxygenation dropped to near zero at two different time points during DHCA (Busch et al., 2016), suggesting the patient was subjected to possible periods of brain ischemia. Therefore, examination of the changes in cerebral perfusion alongside NIRS during each stage of surgery to repair the aortic is warranted. The aim of the current study was to continuously monitor CBFv throughout aortic arch repair surgery. The secondary aim was to examine difference in CBFv between patients cooled to 20°C and 25°C as part of the neuroprotection regime. The final aim was to examine the relationship between NIRS and TCD at each time point during surgery.

## 5.2 Methods

# 5.2.1 Participants

Neonates recruited from Alder Hey NHS Foundation Trust were aged  $19 \pm 7$  days, weighed  $3.63 \pm 0.66$  kg and had a mean height of  $51.8 \pm 3.4$  cm. Patients required surgery for hypoplastic aortic arch repair (n =16), interrupted aortic arch (n = 6) or for HLHS (n = 2). Informed consent to participate in the study was obtained by a member of the surgical team prior to the procedure. Ethical approval was obtained from the NHS Liverpool East Research Ethics Committee (IRAS number: 240082). Neonates or infants (< 1 years old) who required aortic arch repair surgery were included. Exclusion criteria consisted of those deemed inappropriate by the clinical team, patients with previous documented neurological damage and those suffering from conditions which have been known to affect CBFv such as elevated bilirubin levels, sickle cell anaemia and moyamoya disease.

#### 5.2.2 Research Design

Cerebral perfusion measurements included a pulsed TCD ultrasound system (DWL, Compumedics, Germany) using a 2MHz or 4MHz doppler probe alongside NIRS (ForeSight, Casmed, United Kingdom). Serial arterial blood gas analysis (pH, pO<sub>2</sub>, PCO<sub>2</sub>, HCO<sub>3</sub>, lactate, Hb, Htc) was performed by the clinical team, the researcher took note of numbers from the report generated. The researcher recorded mean arterial blood pressure, heart rate and CPB flow rates throughout the procedure from the clinical equipment. The measurement time points were at baseline, which was defined as following induction of anaesthesia before surgery, at CPB initiation, during cooling (30°C, 25°C, lowest temp), cerebral perfusion, body reperfusion, rewarming (25°C, 30°C, 36°C), off CPB and on paediatric intensive care unit (PICU) the following day.

## 5.2.3 Surgical Technique for Hypoplastic Aortic Arch and Interrupted Aortic Arch

A team of three consultant cardiac surgeons, six anaesthetists and six perfusionists were involved in the aortic arch repairs. On arrival to theatre all patients were sedated and prepared for the procedure. Two blood pressure monitors were used (femoral and right radial or brachial artery) to assess distal and cerebral aortic pressures. Anaesthetic technique consisted of intravenous administration of midazolam, fentanyl and inhaled servoflurane. Once the patient was anaesthetised and prepared for theatre 'baseline' measurements was recorded. Preparation for the procedure included dissection of the head and neck vessels, ascending aorta and aortic arch and descending aorta past the aortic isthmus. Cardiopulmonary bypass was achieved with either a single right atrial cannula or bicaval cannulation in those patients requiring intracardiac repairs. After heparin administration and with an activated clotting time of more than 300 sec, CPB was then commenced and cooling towards the target temperature was accomplished. If a patent ductus arteriosus was present, this was ligated to prevent pulmonary over-circulation. Measurements were recorded on initiation of full flow bypass and named 'CBP', this was still during normothermia. CPB full flow rates were calculated at 2.6 L/min/m<sup>2</sup> of body surface area. Body surface area was calculated as the square root of (height (cm) x weight (kg)/3600). During the cooling phase, further dissection of the aorta and its branches was performed to ensure a full mobilisation of the structures. Cooling target was either 25°C or 20°C and cooling times were 20 minutes or longer. Measurements were recorded at 30°C, 25°C and the lowest temperature. Once the patient was cooled to 28°C, the perfusion strategy to manage blood gases (pO<sub>2</sub> and pCO<sub>2</sub>) was switched from alpha-stat to pH-stat. pH-stat management was only used when the patient was at cooled at 28°C or lower.

The aortic cross clamp was applied, and myocardial arrest/protection was achieved with infusion of cold blood cardioplegia (ratio 1:4 blood to St. Thomas solution) in the aortic root. Cardioplegia infusion was repeated at 30 minutes intervals. The head and neck vessels

(innominate artery, left common carotid and left subclavian arteries) were fully dissected ready to be snared when the ascending aorta cannula was advanced into the innominate artery to perfuse the brain with blood. At this point a measurement was taken labelled 'selected cerebral perfusion' An aortic cross clamp in the descending aorta was then positioned and CPB flow rates were manipulated manually to achieve to keep cerebral oxygenation measurements (measured using NIRS) within the antegrade cerebral perfusion target. This target was to maintain NIRS within ~10% of when the patient is placed onto full flow bypass. Five patients underwent complete circulatory arrest (mean time  $22 \pm 37$  minutes). The aorta was transected at the isthmus and ductal tissue completely removed; the arch was opened in the inner curvature till the mid ascending aorta. The back wall of the aorta was anastomosed to the distal descending aorta and a patch of heterologous pulmonary artery homograft was attached to augment the whole arch from the descending to transcending aorta to enlarge the hypoplastic aortic arch. Once accomplished, air was evacuated from the arch by relapsing one of the head and neck vessels and the clamps removed. The neck vessels snares were released, and the tip of the aortic cannula was moved to perfuse the whole body and the heart was re-perfused with blood. A measurement was recoded following whole-body reperfusion labelled as 'wholebody'. Patients were then rewarmed to normothermia. Measurements were recorded at temperatures 25°C, 30°C and 36°C. Again, once at 28°C the stat management was switched from pH to alpha-stats. Once at normothermia, the patient was weaned off CPB. Once the patient maintained stable haemodynamics, a further measurement was recorded labelled 'off CBF'. All patients recovered in the paediatric intensive care unit (PICU), and the following post-operative day a measurement was recorded labelled as 'PICU'.

# 5.2.4 Additional Surgical Technique for the Norwood Procedure

Specific types of arch repair procedures are listed in Table 5.1. Those with hypoplastic left heart syndrome (HLHS) had a different surgical approach to those with hypoplastic aortic

arch or interrupted aortic arch. HLHS often requires staged surgery resulting in the patient acquiring a permanent, single ventricular circulation known as the Fontan circulation (Goldberg et al., 2000). HLHS is characterised as an underdeveloped/non-functioning left ventricle, patent ductus arteriosus, atrial septal defect and an hypoplastic aortic arch (Barron et al., 2009). Mostly, the arch reconstruction needed during the Norwood procedure is more extensive due to the severe arch hypoplasia extending to the ascending aorta. Moreover, the procedure also requires the reconstruction of the arch using the stump of the main pulmonary artery, adding to the complexity of the procedure. Therefore, arch reconstruction and augmentation with homograft patch in the Norwood procedure takes longer thus more time is spent on CPB and DHCA. A surgical atrial septectomy is also performed to increase mixing of blood, and a connection from the RV or systemic circulation (Sano shunt or BT shunt respectively) are constructed to maintain pulmonary blood flow.

#### 5.2.5 Measurements of Cerebral Perfusion

## 5.2.6 Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound

CBFv measurements were obtained through the temporal window, which is approximately 1 cm above the zygomatic arch and 1 cm in front of the external auditory meatus. From here the ultrasonic beam was directed horizontally, then the depth and sample volume were adjusted until the MCA was found using previously published normative values for the age range (see chapter 3, table 3.1). However, during paediatric cardiac surgery access to the temporal window was not always possible due to the draping and positioning of the patient head without disturbing the surgical field. As the patients were neonates with an open fontanelle, this was accessible throughout the procedure. Therefore, during baseline measurements before surgery had begun, the temporal window (which was accessible at this time point) was first used as a reference point, in which the MCAv, depth and power was similar from both windows. For the remaining measurements the probe was placed in the same position and the same depth was maintained at both windows.

## 5.2.7 Near Infrared Spectroscopy

NIRS was used to measure cerebral oxygenation levels through the Beer-Lambert law. NIRS is a non-invasive optical technique where two sensors are applied to the forehead just to the right and left of the midline to assess frontal oxygenation levels. Laser-emitting diodes generate light at four different wave lengths (690, 778, 800 and 850mm). Within each sensor there were spacing between the two light detectors which gave both shallow and deep detection of oxygenation with a maximum penetration of ~2.5cm from the emitter. NIRS monitors rely on an algorithm that cerebral arterial: venous ratio is 30:70. NIRS was continuously monitored by the clinical team to ensure no catastrophic events and to ensure adequate cerebral perfusion throughout aortic arch repair. This involved ensuring that a threshold values of >70% with no fluctuation >15% throughout the procedure from when they are placed on full flow bypass.

## 5.2.8 Antegrade Cerebral Perfusion Target

Antegrade cerebral perfusion is a CPB technique in which a cannula is placed in the innominate artery to exclusively perfuse the brain in neonatal and paediatric aortic arch repair (Fraser and Andropoulos, 2008). This is used as a neuroprotective technique during deep hypothermic circulatory arrest (DHCA) to reduce the likelihood of hypoxic ischaemic injury. Generally, CPB flow rates during selective cerebral perfusion are targeted at ~15% of full flow (CBP measurement). This is because cardiac output to the brain is normally around 15% of total cardiac output. In addition, a NIRS value recorded at CPB time point was also used as a marker of flow. The aim was to maintain NIRS within 10% of the CPB value.

#### 5.2.9 Statistical Analysis

The data was explored for normality using quantile-quantile plots. SPSS (SPSS Version 26, IMB Statistics, USA) was used to perform linear mixed models, All variables were compared during the entire procedure which included the time points baseline, CBP, during cooling at 30°C, 25°C, the lowest temperature, during cerebral perfusion, whole body perfusion, during rewarming at 25°C, 30°C, 36°C, once off CPB and after surgery on PICU (12 time points) and between a priori target temperatures of 20°C and 25°C (2 temperatures). Follow up post hoc comparisons to explore main effect of time, were defined *a priori*. Each time point was compared to baseline and the initiation of CBP (time points used to define cerebral perfusion during the procedure). Pearsons correlation co-efficient were also employed to examine relationships between measurements of cerebral perfusion with an *a priori* target temperature and actual minimum temperature reached at the rectal and oesophageal sites. To examine the correlation between CBFv and NIRS repeated measures correlations (rmcorr) were employed using R statistical package (RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R, USA). The repeated measures variable was time which included 12 levels. Main effects, time\*temperature interactions and correlations demonstrating a P value < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

#### **5.3 Results**

### 5.3.1 Overall Patient Characteristics

Mean age of the patients was  $20 \pm 21$  days, height  $49.8 \pm 10.5$  cm, weight  $3.6 \pm 0.75$  kg and a ratio of female: males 9:15 (Table 5.1). Procedures included type B interrupted aortic arch (n=5), hypoplastic aortic arch (n=17) and hypoplastic left heart syndrome (n=2). Patients were split into 2 groups dependant on lowest temperature achieved during cooling 20 (n=8) or 25 (n=16; Table 1). Mean coronary bypass time during aortic arch repair was  $156 \pm 49$  minutes, with a cross clamp time of  $80 \pm 38$  minutes. Four patients underwent total circulatory arrest (mean time  $22 \pm 37$  minutes). Mean antegrade cerebral perfusion time was  $55 \pm 23$  minutes. Mean lowest oesophageal temperature was  $22.5 \pm 2.2$ °C. Three patients were placed onto veno-arterial extracorporeal life support following surgery. Other intraoperative problems included cases of bleeding, the need for intubation and cardiac catheterisation post-surgery. The 30-day mortality of the patients undergoing aortic arch repair was 4.2%.

#### 5.3.2 Participants Cooled to 20°C

Mean age of participants (n = 8) cooled to 20°C was  $20 \pm 16$  days with a ratio of 1:1 female:males. Mean height was  $48.7 \pm 4.76$  cm and body mass  $3.32 \pm 0.74$  kg. Operation consisted of repair of the hypoplastic aortic arch (n = 4), interrupted aortic arch (n = 3) and hypoplastic left heart syndrome (n = 1). The average bypass time was  $197.2 \pm 44.7$  minutes, cross clamp time  $118.8 \pm 33.8$  minutes and antegrade cerebral perfusion time  $78.1 \pm 17.8$  minutes. Two patients underwent total circulatory arrest, one for interrupted aortic arch repair (90 minutes) and the other for hypoplastic left heart syndrome (7 minutes).

# 5.3.3 Participants Cooled to 25°C

The ratio of males: females of patients was 11:5. Mean age of the patients cooled to  $25^{\circ}$ C was  $18 \pm 19$  days, height  $52.3 \pm 3.9$  cm, and body mass  $3.6 \pm 0.7$  kg. The average bypass time was  $136.2 \pm 38.4$  minutes, with a cross clamp time  $87.8 \pm 105$  minutes and an antegrade cerebral perfusion time  $60.9 \pm 22.8$  minutes. Operations performed were hypoplastic aortic arch (n = 13), interrupted aortic arch (n = 2) and hypoplastic left heart syndrome (n = 1). Three patients underwent complete circulatory arrest. One patient underwent repair of hypoplastic aortic arch (2 minutes), another during interrupted aortic arch (4 minutes) and another during hypoplastic left heart syndrome repair (8 minutes).

	•	Sex	Height	XX7-1-1-4	Bypass Time	Cross Clamp	Antegrade Cerebral	Diagnosis	Operation
	Age (Days)		(cm)	weight (kg)	(Mins)	Time (Mins)	Perfusion Time		
							(Mins)		
Group 20°C	24	F	51	3.1	156	98	62	HAA, VSD, PDA	HAA repair, VSD closure and PDA ligation and division
	14	М	47	2.8	189	134	90	IAA (Type B), Muscular VSD	IAA repair, VSD closure PDA ligation and division
	11	М	52	4.7	207	147	87	IAA (type B), VSD, ASD, PDA and narrow LVOT	T.IAA repair, LVOTO relief, VSD closure, ASD closure and PDA ligation.
	21	F	50	2.8	227	170	80	Truncus arteriosus (Type 2) and interrupted aortic arch (Type B)	IAA and truncus repair, RV-PA conduit
	12	М	44	3.3	201	98	71	IAA (Type B), perimembranous VSD, additional inlet VSD ,PDA,.	IAA repair with PA band, PDA ligation and division
	5	F	50	3.2	285	141	111	HLHS (MA/AA) severe	Norwood stage 1 with Sano modification RV-PA conduit
	59	F	51	2.5	146	73	68	НАА	Arch repair and PDA ligation and division
	14	М	55	4.1	167	89	56	HAA, small VSD, PDA	HAA repair, PDA ligation and division
Mean ± SD	20 ± 15	F =4 M= 4	50 ± 3	3.3 ± 0.7	197 ± 44	119± 34	78 ± 17		
Group 25°C	13	М	54	4.1	94	34	28	HAA with CoAo, large apical VSD	HAA repair, PA band
	18	F	51	3.8	146	106	36	HAA, muscular VSD,	Arch repair and VSD closure
	27	М	56	4.35	142	64	54	IAA (Type B), Muscular VSD	IAA repair, PA band,
	9	F	50	2.7	126	55	39	HAA, borderline LV, MS, Large VSD.	HAA repair, PA banding, PDA closure and ASD enlargement
ligation	6	М	49	3.2	125	72	64	HLHS (Shones' complex) with HAA, borderline LV with bicuspid aortic valve.	HAA repair and aortic valvotomy

 Table 5.1 Individual patient characteristics and operation information.

	8	М	50	3.3	122	58	44	HAA. CoAo with PDA	HAA repair
	8	М	52	3.3	247	112	103	Tricuspid atresia, restrictive VSD, IAA, small PFC	O.Classic Norwood (BT shunt) with IAA repair with
									atrial septectomy.
	18	F	50	3.47	153	57	50	НАА	HAA repair
	8	М	46	3.1	108	36	33	НАА	HAA repair
	9	F	48	3.2	122	70	30	HAA, CoAo, inlet muscular VSD and PDA.	HAA VSD closure, PDA ligation and division.
	20	М	51	3.27	114	69	34	HAA, CoAo, VSD and PFO	HAA repair, VSD closure, PFO closure.
	87	М	62	5.9	125	52	42	HAA, CoAo	HAA repair
	7	F	57	3.4	201	63	38	HAA, ASD, CoAo.	HAA repair and ASD closure
	16	М	54	3.6	113	44	40	HHA, PDA	HAA, PDA ligation and division
	14	М	55	4.01	107	36	56	HAA small muscular VSD	HAA repair, PDA ligation and division
	14	М	51	3.45	134	46	42	HAA, large PDA	HAA repair, PDA ligation and division
Mean SD	$17 \pm$	F = 5	$52 \pm$	$3.6 \pm$	$136\pm38$	$60 \pm 22$	$46 \pm$		
	19	M = 11	4	0.7			18		

HHA-Hypoplastic aortic arch, VSD- ventricular septal defect, PDA- patient ductus arteriosus, IAA- interrupted aortic arch, LVOTO- left ventricular outflow tract obstruction, RV- right ventricle, PA- pulmonary artery, MA- mitral atresia, AA- aortic atresia, CoAo- coarctation of the aorta, LV- left ventricle, MS- mitral stenosis, TGA- transposition of the great arteries, PFO- patent foramen ovale, ASD- atrial septal defect.

#### 5.3.4 Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity using Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound

CBFv changed during the entire arch repair procedure (main effect of time: p=0.001). During cooling CBFv increased by 6.6 cm/s (2.7, 12.8), 10.0 cm/s (5.97, 17.7) and 9.5 cm/s (5.85, 16.6), at 30°, 25°C and lowest temperature, respectively when compared to during CPB (p = 0.03; Figure 5.1a). Once recovering in PICU, CBFv had increased from the baseline by 6.2 cm/s (0.21, 13.4; P = 0.05) and by 7.1 cm/s (1.2, 12.1; p = 0.02) from CPB. CBFv changes were similar between patients cooled to the *a priori* 20°C and 25°C (main effect of temperature: P=0.22; time\*temperature interaction; P=0.86). There were no correlations between CBFv and *a priori* target temperature or temperature reached during cooling (P>0.05, Figure 5.2).

# 5.3.5 Cerebral Oxygenation using Near Infrared Spectroscopy

NIRS values changed during aortic arch repair procedure (main effect of time: p=0.05). NIRS increased during cooling from CPB by 10% (3, 11), 7% (7, 15) at 25°C and the lowest temperature. There was also an increase from CPB at selective cerebral perfusion by 8% (4,12) and whole-body reperfusion by 8% (4, 12%) (Figure 5.1b). NIRS values were similar between patients cooled to the a priori 20 and 25°C (main effect of temperature P=0.19; time\*temperature interaction p = 0.59). There were no correlations between NIRS and *a priori* target temperature or temperature reached during cooling (P>0.05, Figure 5.2).

# 5.3.6 Cardiopulmonary Bypass Flow Rates

The CPB flow rates (Figure 5.1c) were maintained within the start of CPB except for during selective cerebral perfusion where they were reduced by 0.26 l/min<sup>-1</sup> (0.29, 0.41). The main effect of time (p = 0.001), temperature (p = 0.47), and time\*temperature (p = 0.49).



**Figure 5.1** Cerebral blood flow velocity (a), NIRS (b) and CBP flow rates (c) throughout aortic arch repair (mean  $\pm$  SD). Black line represents cooled to 20°C and the grey lines 25°C. Blue shading is cooling, green shading is selective cerebral perfusion and whole-body reperfusion and red shading re-warming. # represents significant difference from baseline. \* denotes significant difference from CPB.



**Figure 5.2** Correlations between CBFv and target lowest temperature (a), actual lowest rectal temperature (b) and actual oesophageal temperature (c). Correlations between NIRS and target lowest temperature (c), actual lowest rectal temperature (d) and actual oesophageal temperature (e).



**Figure 5.3** Individual patient CBFv (a) and NIRS (b) values from the lowest temp, selective cerebral perfusion and whole-body reperfusion with the red line representing the mean. The blue line represents the mean CBFv and NIRS at CPB time point which was used as a reference point for CPB flow rates.

# 5.3.7 Arterial Blood Gas Analysis

Lactate changed during aortic arch repair procedure (main effect of time: p=0.001). When compared to baseline lactate increased by 2.1 mmol/l (0.93, 2.85) and remained significantly higher throughout the procedure. Compared to CPB lactate increased by 1.4 mmol/l (0.08, 2.01; P = 0.03) at 30°C. There was a significant main effect of temperature (p=0.03, Figure 5.4) with 25°C temperature group eliciting the highest lactate levels, but there

was no interaction between time and temperature (p=0.60). HCO<sub>3</sub> changed during aortic arch repair procedure (main effect of time; p= 0.001). When compared to baseline, HCO<sub>3</sub> increased during cooling at 25°C and the lowest temperature by 3.2 mmol/l (0.03, 4.72) and 3.1 mmol/l (0.50, 4.70; p= >0.03) respectively. Then decreased at whole body reperfusion, re-warming at 25°C, 30°C and when off CPB, by 2.0 mmol/l (0.60, 5.29), 3.5 mmol/l (0.78, 7.45), 4.3 (1.27, 8.11) and 2.2 mmol/l (0.92, 5.21) respectively. When compared to CPB, HCO<sub>3</sub> decreased during whole body, 25°C, 30°C and off CPB by 2.1 mmol/l (0.07, 5.78), 3.6 mmol/l (0.29, 7.76), 4.4 mmol/l (0.79, 8.42) and 3.2 mmol/l (0.20, 5.75), respectively. HCO<sub>3</sub> changes were similar between patients cooled to 20°C and 25°C (main effect of temp; P=0.09, time\*temperature p=0.92).

Htc changed during aortic arch repair procedure (main effect of time: p= 0.001). Htc decreased by 5.5% (0.72, 8.92) when on CPB compared to baseline and remained significantly lower until patients were separated from CPB. When compared to CPB there was an increase during whole body perfusion 3.7% (0.72, 6.59), 30° by 3.6% (0.60, 5.92) and when placed off CPB by 5.0% (0.18, 10.2). There was no main effect of temperature (p= 0.17) or time\*temperature interaction (p= 0.96). pH changed during aortic arch repair procedure (main effect of time: p= 0.001). pH increased by 0.14 (0.07, 0.20) when on CPB compared to baseline (P=0.05) and at 36°C by 0.07 (0.03, 0.15). When compared to CPB pH reduced at lowest temperature time point by 0.11 (0.01, 0.19), selective cerebral perfusion by 0.10 (0.04, 0.15), whole body perfusion by 0.22 (0.01, 0.14), 25°C by 0.17 (0.12, 0.25) and 30°C by 0.10 (0.22, 0.67), respectively. pH changes were similar between patients cooled to 20°C and 25°C (main effect of temperature: P=0.82; time\*temperature: P=0.19). Hb changed during aortic arch repair arch repair procedure (main effect of time: p= 0.003). Hb decreased by 1.4 g/dl (0.06,2.40) when on CPB and remained lower until off CPB. When compared to CPB, Hb decreased by 1.5 g/dl

(0.02, 2.20) at selective cerebral perfusion, 1.7 g/dl at whole body reperfusion (0.48, 2.54) and 1.6 g/dl at 25°C rewarming. With a main effect of temperature being higher in the group cooled to  $20^{\circ}$ C (p= 0.05) and main effect of time\*temperature (p= 0.74).



**Figure 5.4** Mean and standard deviation hemodynamical data (mean  $\pm$  SD). Black line represents cooled to 20°C and the grey lines 25°C. Blue shading is cooling, green shading is selective cerebral perfusion and whole-body reperfusion and red shading re-warming. # represents significant difference from baseline. \* denotes significant difference from CPB.

pO<sub>2</sub> changed throughout aortic arch repair (main effect of time: P= 0.001, Figure 5.5a). Compared to baseline pO<sub>2</sub> increased by 11.6 kPa (3.10, 15.9) on CPB (p = 0.005) and by 8.7 kPa (1.47, 14.6) at 30°C. pO<sub>2</sub> remained lower from 25°C of cooling until off CPB. pO2 changes were similar between patients cooled to the *apriori* 20°C and 25°C (main effect of temperature p=0.37; time\*temperature interaction: p=0.16). pCO<sub>2</sub> changed throughout aortic arch repair (main effect of time; p=0.009). Compared to baseline pCO<sub>2</sub> decreased (p = 0.001) by 2.3 kPa (0.93, 3.43) at CPB, by kPa (0.12, 2.64) at 30°C, by 1.9 kPa (0.12, 2.64) at 25°C, by 1.7 kPa (0.33, 2.75) at the lowest temperature of cooling, 1.8 kPa (0.40, 2.85) at selective cerebral perfusion, 1.6 kPa (0.61, 2.55) at 30°C and by 1.8 kPa (0.43, 2.89) at 36°C. Compared to baseline pCO2 increased by 0.5 kPa (0.21, 1.36) at 30°C, by 0.4 kPa (0.10, 0.97) at lowest temperature, by 0.5 kPa (0.17, 1.11) at selective cerebral perfusion, by 1.2 kPa (0.43, 1.07) at whole body reperfusion, by 0.9 kPa (0.63, 1.97) at 25°C, by 0.7 kPa (0.19, 1.55) at 30°C and by 1.0 kPa (0.21, 1.89) off CPB. pCO<sub>2</sub> changes were similar between patients cooled to the *apriori* 20 and 25°C (main effect of temperature p=0.47; time\*temperature interaction p=0.22; figure 5.5b).



Figure 5.5. pO2 and pCO2 throughout aortic arch repair (mean  $\pm$  SD). Black line represents cooled to 20°C and the grey lines 25°C. Blue shading is cooling, green shading is selective cerebral perfusion and whole-body reperfusion and red shading re-warming. # represents significant difference from baseline. \* denotes significant difference from CPB.



**Figure 5.6** Mean arterial pressure (MAP) throughout aortic arch repair (mean  $\pm$  SD). Black line represents cooled to 20°C and the grey lines 25°C. Blue shading is cooling, green shading is selective cerebral perfusion and whole-body reperfusion and red shading re-warming.

# 5.3.8 Repeated Measure Correlations between Near Infrared Spectroscopy and

# Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound

Statistically significant but weak positive correlations were evident between CBFv and NIRS (r=0.25, P=0.001; Figure 6).



**Figure 5.7** Individual CBFv and NIRS at time points throughout aortic arch repair. Each colour represents a patient.

## **5.4 Discussion**

The aim of the study was to continuously monitor CBFv throughout aortic arch repair surgery and to examine differences in CBFv between patients cooled to 20 and 25°C as part of the neuroprotection regime. The current data indicate (i) that cooling to either 20 or 25°C did not alter the CBFv response during aortic arch repair surgery and (ii) during the cooling process there was an increase in CBFv and NIRS, although NIRS appears to have a delayed response following increase in CBFv. Taken together, the results imply CBFv is maintained despite deeper cooling in the more complex and longer surgical time periods. Nevertheless, during the cooling process there are physiologically important increases in CBFv and NIRS. Although, NIRS may not be reflective of cerebral perfusion during the whole aortic arch procedure.

## 5.4.1 Differences between Temperature Groups

Currently in clinical care, the rationale for cooling patients to specific temperature is based on surgeon or centre preference. Consequently, there is a large variation in minimum temperature strategies. Data from the current study suggest there was no difference in CBFv or NIRS between cooling patients to 20 or 25°C. The rationale for cooling to lower temperatures during aortic arch repair is to maximise neurological protection, which is especially important in more complex cases which may require longer cross clamp time where patients are exposed to an extracorporeal circulation for prolonged periods. The target temperature was agreed prior to surgery by the surgeon and the perfusionist. Nevertheless, as shown in the current data the target temperature was not always achieved, this may be due to the time constraints. It is important that cooling takes at least 20 minutes to guarantee an even distribution of cooling throughout the body. The current data suggest that any core temperature below 25°C had little additional impact on changing cerebral perfusion.

#### 5.4.2 Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity changes throughout Aortic Arch Repair

Historically, aortic arch repair was the most challenging cardiac surgery (Coselli and Green, 2009b), due to the direct manipulation of the head and neck vessels (Manetta et al., 2018). Left sided lesions were considered to have the highest risk of neurological deficit (Marino et al., 2012). Survival rates in this population have increased significantly (St. Louis et al, 2015). For example, the mortality rate of the current study was 4%, compared to published results of 30-day mortality rate of 50% in a study from 1977-1997 (Tláskal et al., 1998). Improving quality of life by reducing neurological deficit is now recognised to be one of the most important factors to reduce long term disabilities in this group of patients. Monitoring of cerebral perfusion during such complex and intricate surgery has the advantage of identifying periods of reduced or disturbed perfusion which could be responsible for neurologic damage. A novel observation from the current data shows that cerebral perfusion measured using NIRS, the current clinical practice tool for monitoring perfusion, increased during cooling to minimum temperature. One previous study has also reported an increase in cerebral oxygenation from  $63 \pm 11\%$  to  $88 \pm 7\%$  after 15 minutes of cooling during cardiac surgery (Tobias et al., 2009). It is important to note that the increase in NIRS during cooling does not match CBFv measured using TCD, the current data suggests there was a delay in the increase in NIRS, and the increase begins at lower temperatures rather than during the onset of cooling. Taken together, the increase in NIRS during CBP cooling is a noteworthy physiological observation that provides insight for perfusionists and anaesthetists.

In the current study there was an increase in CBFv during cooling, with a significant increase beginning at the onset of cooling. This observed cooling mediated an increase in CBFv did not cause hyperperfusion as the CBFv values during cooling are comparable to normative values for healthy neonates (i.e. 24-42 cm/s, Truemer and Fisher, 1993). Previous

research studies have focused on investigating cooling and CBFv in healthy adults similarly demonstrate CBFv increases in response to cooling (Brown et al., 2003), Whilst some animal studies suggest CBFv decreases during cooling, (Ehrlich et al., 2002), swine and human neonatal neurological response during CPB and DHCA are different (Mavroudis et al., 2018). The neonatal and paediatric physiological responses to cooling are unclear, with limited research focusing on CBFv throughout the entire cooling process. In one case study by Busche et al., (2016), although not highlighted as a main finding, the data suggested that CBFv increased during cooling which was comparable to the current findings. The data from this study similarly suggests that a higher cerebral perfusion was not mediated by CBP flow rates, which can be manually altered during aortic arch repair, as CPB flow rates were similar during cooling. Haemodynamic and blood gas changes were evident throughout the aortic arch procedure. It is important to highlight the monitoring of haemodynamic variables during aortic arch repair changes during cooling. Once the patient is cooled to 28 °C pH stat management is used rather than alpha stats. The use of pH stats is to prevent and control acidosis. This is a temperature correct method, at lower temperatures pH is kept low at ~7.4. To achieve this CO<sub>2</sub> was added to the CPB oxygen admixture in the oxygenator (pCO<sub>2</sub> is kept at ~40 mmHg) (Hirata, 2018). This is also an advantageous method for maintaining cerebral perfusion as increases in CO<sub>2</sub> will increase CBF at lower temperatures when CPB flows are relatively reduced. One previous study measured TCD differences between pH and alpha stat management during CPB. During pH stat management there was a global CBF and MCAv increase at 28°C by 45.9% and 51.8% respectively. Whereas in patients that underwent alpha-stat management, CBF and MCAv had a decrease by 26.4 and 22.4% respectively at 28°C (Trivedi et al., 1997). Therefore, changing pH stat management might have contributed to the increase in CBFv during cooling but it was not the only contributing factor. CBFv was already significantly elevated before (i.e. at 30 °C) the change to pH stat

management and the elevated CBFv was not maintained during cerebral and whole body perfusion. Another factor which could explain the increases in CBFv during cooling is the changes in HCO<sub>3</sub>. during cooling. It can be seen from Figure 5.4 that changes in HCO<sub>3</sub>- and CBFv follow a similar pattern of change throughout aortic arch repair. The impact of HCO<sub>3</sub>. on CBFv recently been highlighted as an important factor in cerebral autoregulation (Caldwell et al., 2021b). Changes occur through the bicarbonate buffering system. With an increase in HCO<sub>3</sub>-, there is an increase in pCO<sub>2</sub> and hydrogen ions. This activates the gated calcium ion channels, hyperpolarising the endothelial cells leading to vascular vasodilation in the arterioles and precapillary sphincter (Battisti-Charbonney et al., 2011). This is thought to be more predominant in sedated populations (Buckley et al., 2013). When there is an increase in pCO<sub>2</sub>, there is a response to increase breathing to reduce the amount of pCO<sub>2</sub> in the blood. However, this is unable to happen in sedated individuals with muscle relaxants, which is used in paediatric cardiac surgery. This may give an insight into the pattern of change seen in CBFv during paediatric aortic arch repair.

Another neuroprotective technique used during aortic arch repair is selective antegrade cerebral perfusion. During this period the arterial cannula is moved into the innominate artery to ensure only the brain is perfused. At this point the CPB flow rates are reduced based on normal cardiac output to the brain at rest in an attempt to reduce the number of embolisms (Mitchell and Merry, 2015). The CPB flow rates are manipulated manually to maintain NIRS values at ~15% of when the patient was placed onto full flow CPB. At this time point there was a decrease in CBFv. Previous research has suggested that in clinical populations, the cerebral vessels are unable to buffer large reductions in MAP which in turn leads to hypoperfusion (Selnes et al., 2012). A reduction in MAP was observed at this time point, which could explain the reduction in CBFv. Intriguingly, NIRS values at this point were higher than the CBP timepoint during cerebral and whole-body perfusion,

thus not lower like the pattern seen in CBFv, which had decreased to levels similar to the CPB timepoint. Whilst previous research has suggested that during cardiac surgery there are instances when cerebral oxygenation and CBFv follow the same pattern of change (Andropoulos et al., 2003). The current data suggests that NIRS and CBFv does not follow the same pattern at this important period of cerebral and whole-body perfusion. One potential physiological explanation for the elevated oxygenation despite reductions in CBFv could be the reduced brain metabolism as a result of cooling (Manetta et al., 2018). The current data highlights that CBFv decreased, whilst NIRS was maintained as adequate, highlighting that NIRS may not be reflective of cerebral perfusion during the whole aortic arch procedure.

Another novel aspect of this study was that CBFv measurements were taken during rewarming and recovery on PICU. Following selective and whole-body reperfusion the patients were rewarmed and the manual flow rate was increased again to full flow. During this time both CBFv and NIRS levels were maintained at similar levels to CBP timepoint. Nevertheless, CBFv was higher 24 hours post-surgery in paediatric intensive care compared to baseline and CBP (i.e. when sedated) suggesting the repair was adequate. The values evident post-surgery were comparable to normative CBFv in healthy neonates (Truemper and Fisher, 1993).

# 5.4.3 The Correlation between Near Infrared Spectroscopy and Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound

Another aim of the study was to examine the relationship between NIRS and TCD at each time point during surgery. NIRS is used as a clinical tool to assess cerebral perfusion and to ensure adequate CPB flow rates. Previous studies have suggested a moderate and statistically significant correlation (r=0.55, p<0.0001) between NIRS and TCD during CPB

in adult cardiac surgery (Joshi et al., 2010a). This corresponds with previous research that has suggested NIRS is a useful tool during aortic arch repair. In previous research NIRS was correlated with trends in cerebral haemoglobin saturation during aortic arch repair (Santo et al., 2008). However, a number of concerns have been raised about solely using NIRS as a clinical tool during sedation such as the inability to measure hyperperfusion (Grocott and Davie, 2013). In the current study, repeated measures correlations (rmcorr) were employed to examine the relationship at each time point during surgery. Rmcorr was employed as it averages repeated measures for each individual, therefore the assumption of independence is not violated using this method (Bakdash and Marusich, 2017). The current data suggests a statistically significant but weak correlation. Physiologically, small changes in CBFv could have an impact on cerebral perfusion which could potentially be underestimated by NIRS. However, it has been established that in paediatrics undergoing hypothermic CPB, cooling has been exponentially related to a significant reduction in brain metabolism (Ferradal et al., 2016), meaning the requirement of oxygenated blood decreases. In the aforementioned study they measured CBF and cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen to assess the cerebral metabolism in the brain. They had five measurement points and found that after cooling there was a reduction in CBF. However, unlike the current study, they did not take measurements throughout cooling. There was no indication as to the metabolic changes during the cooling phase or when the patients were first placed on to CPB. They did find, despite a reduction in CBF, CBF was still more than cerebral demand which was shown by high levels of oxygenation. Suggesting that during deep hypothermia, despite a reduction in CBFv, the demand for oxygen is adequate during neonatal cardiac surgery. It is noted that 2/9 subjects in the study had neurological sequalae. One patient required ECMO immediately postoperatively for poor cardiac output and another had multiple foci of white matter injury evidential through an MRI 13 day post-surgery.
NIRS is used clinically as a bedside monitor with the foresight of reducing incidences of neurological deficit. NIRS is an easy to administer measurement which has previously been shown to give a good indication of reductions in cerebral oxygenation during cardiac surgery. However, it is unable to measure hyperperfusion and it is only a regional (frontal lobes) indication of cerebral oxygenation. TCD has several methodological advantages over NIRS including measuring velocity within the main cerebral vessels which provides an insight of global perfusion as well as periods of hypo- and hyperperfusion. It is also important to note, although not reported in the results. There was no significant difference between NIRS in the left and right side, so the data was averaged. Then the mean data was used for the analysis. This corresponds with previous research which has found no difference between perfusion in the left and right during neonatal aortic arch repair (Rüffer et al., 2017). In summary, the relationship between NIRS and TCD in the current study suggested that although there was a relationship, it was weak. This corresponds with previous data which has suggested that the relationship between NIRS and TCD is unpredictable, with NIRS overestimating oxygenation especially at lower levels (Ferradal, 2017).

### 5.4.4 Methodological Considerations and Limitations

As part of the planned post hoc comparisons to examine the main effect of time, two time points were chosen to compare CBFv. The time points were baseline (sedated before CBP) and CBP. Previous research suggests when patients are placed onto CPB that CBFv is reduced (Reves, 2019). Moreover, the CBP time point is used clinically to determine CBP flow rates later in the procedure based upon NIRS values. Therefore, both time points were used for comparison. Significant changes from these time points would indicate important changes in perfusion. Whilst TCD is unable to measure flow as it does not measure vessel diameter, in a rested state where vessel diameter is expected to be maintained, TCD can give an accurate indication of flow. The anaesthetic technique can affect vessel diameter. To recue this a combination of fentanyl, midazolam and inhaled sevoflurane was used to sedate the patients during cardiac surgery. Previous research has suggested that the use of fentanyl and inhaled sevoflurane does not affect CBF compared to other anaesthetic such as remifentanil (Abdallah et al., 2002). In regards to midazolam, it was suggested that midazolam has minimal effect on  $CO_2$  reactivity, CBF and blood oxygenation (Kiviniemi et al., 2005).

All CBFv measurements were taken by one trained individual. Given the equipment and space restriction in theatre, access to head was limited and measuring MCAv via the temporal window was not always possible. The MCAv was thus isonated via the open fontanelle in all participants. Where possible, dual measurements were obtained from the temporal window. The TCD probe was placed in the same position on the fontanelle and the same depth (~30-40mm) was used for all measurements.

## 5.4.5 Research Implications

There are no universal guidelines for the minimum temperature achieved during cooling and is often based on centre/surgeon preference. Achieving lower temperatures takes longer and could potentially lead to further complications. However, the current data suggests little difference in CBFv and NIRS between patients cooled to 20 and 25°C. Using a higher temperature could be beneficial as cooling could be quicker, allowing for a shorter time in DHCA. Currently NIRS is used as the clinical tool to monitor perfusion via oxygenation of the frontal lobes and indicated whether the CPB flow rates are adequate. The current data suggest that NIRS might not be reflective of cerebral perfusion at important time periods during the surgery and the correlation between TCD and NIRS is weak.

Therefore, additional measurements of cerebral perfusion might be beneficial to ensure neuroprotection in this patient group.

## **5.5** Conclusion

Cooling to either 20 or 25°C as part of neuroprotection regime does not alter the CBFv response during aortic arch repair surgery. Nevertheless, the process of cooling caused an increase in cerebral perfusion, and these changes appeared to be delayed in the NIRS measurements. This was reiterated with the reported weak relationship correlation between NIRS and TCD. This could be accountable through the changes in pH stat management that occurs at lower temperatures and the changes in HCO<sub>3</sub>. Taken together, cooling to 25°C may be sufficient for neuroprotection but to change clinical practise extensive clinical trials would need to be implemented.

**Chapter Six: General Discussion** 

### 6.1 Aims of the Thesis

The focus of the thesis was to examine paediatric, clinical populations undergoing treatments that included extracorporeal circulatory support who are at risk of neurological deficit. The overriding aim of the thesis was to assess cerebral perfusion throughout their treatment using TCD which is not usually deployed as part of routine clinical care. The experimental studies within the current thesis included both TCD and NIRS. NIRS is used in clinical practice but has many documented shortcomings which were outlined in chapter 4. TCD was used in adjunction to NIRS within the chapters of the thesis to gain a better understanding of cerebral perfusion during the use of an extracorporeal circulation.

A group of patients which were identified as at risk of neurological deficit were those undergoing ECMO for acute respiratory failure and/or cardiac failure. This group are reliant on extracorporeal support for potentially long periods of time (days/weeks) and are prolific in developing neurological deficit lesions. The aim of chapter 4 was to measure cerebral perfusion during ECMO with a focus on the weaning period. This is a pinnacle point in treatment when individuals may be decannulated or placed back onto full flow ECMO. The weaning period is a specific time period when cerebral perfusion is likely to be disrupted for up to several hours, which may be detrimental to the patients that ultimately fail weaning.

Chapter 5 then focused on neonates undergoing aortic arch repair. Again, an extracorporeal circulation is used during this procedure but for shorter periods of time. However, there are temperature manipulations during CPB with patients being cooled to temperatures as low as 18°C. Temperature changes are known to impact cerebral perfusion, but the differences in cerebral perfusion between patients cooled to 20 or 25°C have not been investigated previously, with no universal guidelines available. The overall aim of

chapter 5 was to measure cerebral perfusion before, throughout aortic arch repair and during recovery on PICU. The difference between the two temperature groups was also explored.

## 6.2 Summary of Major Findings

The novel findings from the current thesis include:

- There were daily fluctuations in cerebral perfusion during full flow ECMO, which were not statistically significant, but could potentially be clinically important.
- During the weaning period from ECMO, cerebral perfusion was higher in those that successfully weaned and decannulated, compared to those that failed.
- Decannulated patients that were placed onto conventional ventilation had a higher mean CBFv than those supported using HFOV.
- Cerebral perfusion of patients cooled to 20°C were comparable to those cooled to 25°C during aortic arch repair.
- CBFv significantly increased during the cooling period and returned to pre-CPB levels following separation from CPB during aortic arch repair.
- During both ECMO and aortic arch repair, NIRS and TCD broadly followed a similar pattern of change. The relationship between the two measurements was weak, which declined further during the weaning period of ECMO.

## **6.3 General Discussion of Findings**

# 6.3.1 Changes in Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Full Flow Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation

In chapter 4, NIRS and TCD were measured daily throughout full flow ECMO. Overall during full flow ECMO, CBFv was lower than previously published normal values for healthy age matched individuals (Truemper and Fisher, 1993; Table 3.1). This finding corresponds with previous research which suggested ECMO patients have a lower CBFv than previously published normative values for healthy age matched individuals (O'Brien, 2019). The aforementioned study included paediatric patients up to 18 years old with a large variety of aetiologies. In Chapter 4 a more homogeneous population was recruited with inclusion up to 5 years old (actual age range 1-406 days). This age group has previously been identified as a key age in neurological development, and the focus of previous research into neurological deficit of ECMO survivors. The acute and chronic clinical importance of these daily variations in CBFv are currently unknown. It is possible that such daily variation in CBFv, even at the magnitudes observed within the current thesis, could impact the critically ill paediatric brain. Future research is warranted examining daily variation in CBFv of critically ill neonates, which include longitudinal follow up to examine neurological deficit.

### 6.3.2 Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity during Weaning

In chapter 4, CBFv was also monitored for the first time during the weaning period, a process which most ECMO patients will experience. The weaning period is a crucial part of the treatment process where the patient is attempted to be separated from ECMO. The probability of the patient being successful is currently undetermined. With no clear guidelines as to identify if a patient will successfully wean. Often the view of clinicians is to wean the patient from ECMO as early as possible as the detrimental effects of prolonging ECMO treatment have been established (Gupta et al., 2015). However, if a patient is not ready to wean this can potentially cause CBFv to be disrupted for prolonged periods of up to several hours before being placed back onto full flow ECMO. Being able to add physiological or clinical assessments to further aid this critical clinical decision is imperative. Identifying patients who will fail weaning is important in shortening the exposure to disruptions in CBFv. Chapter 4 has provided preliminary evidence that cerebral perfusion could be an additional measurement that could be useful in providing information on whether a patient will successfully wean. Patients who were successfully weaned maintained a higher CBFv than those which failed. If CBFv is indeed a marker or can provide additional clinical information, it could be a useful tool to aid clinical decisions. Nevertheless, a full powered randomised control trial is required to provide more definitive data on whether CBFv measurements provide insight into the successful weaning from ECMO.

#### 6.3.3 Cooling and Cerebral Blood Flow Velocity

The concept of cooling to lower core temperature to provide neurological protection is a common clinical treatment in paediatric clinical care. The target lowest temperature achieved during aortic arch repair is dependent on a variety of factors. This includes, centre, surgeon preference, type of procedure, estimated cross clamp time or the use of circulatory arrest. Nevertheless, even within similar procedures there are differences between the lowest temperature achieved during the cooling period, with some surgeons cooling to temperatures as low as 18°C and others at 25°C. Chapter 5 investigated for the first-time cerebral perfusion during cooling and compared the perfusion within the two temperature groups. The novel finding was cerebral perfusion was similar between the two temperature groups. This finding could provide the first evidence to suggest that less time is needed to cool during surgery which could be important for all cardiac surgeries employing cooling, especially during longer procedures.

Another novel finding from the current thesis is that CBFv increased during the cooling procedures for aortic arch repair. Cooling to low temperatures during CBP has been explored previously in animal studies. In swine studies it was found that CBFv decreases during cooling whilst undergoing CPB (Ehrlich et al., 2002). However, animal models

cannot simulate the complexity of the developing neonatal brain. Particularly in patients with a cardiac deformity when disturbances in cerebral perfusion begin antenatally (Kaltman et al, 2005). Moreover, human studies also suggest that CBFv increased during cooling. An example would be a case study of a 10-day old neonate undergoing aortic arch repair also reported an increase in CBFv during cooling (Busch et al., 2016). The impact of CBF during cooling also appears to be influenced through the stat management during CPB. In a study directly measuring alpha versus pH stats during paediatric cardiac surgery, it was found when patients had been cooled to 28°C with alpha stat management, there was a decrease in CBF from baseline measurement. Whereas the patients that had undergone pH stat management, an increase in CBF from baseline was seen at 28°c (Polito et al., 2006). However, in the aforementioned study only one measurement was taken when 28°C was achieved. The relationship between pCO<sub>2</sub>, HCO<sub>3-</sub> and CBFv could also be taken into account when understanding the pattern of change in CBFv during cooling. From chapter 5, HCO<sub>3</sub>. and CBFv followed a similar pattern of change through aortic arch repair. Changes in HCO<sub>3</sub>. lead to changes in  $pCO_2$ . When there is an increase in  $HCO_3$ , there is an increase in  $pCO_2$ and hydrogen ions. This cause vasodilation, thus an increase in CBFv. Taken together, the current finding from the thesis suggests that cooling procedures for aortic arch repair increase CBFv.

# 6.3.4 The Relationship between Near Infrared Spectroscopy and Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound

In Chapters 4 and 5 a relationship between NIRS and TCD was evident, albeit weak. Moreover, whilst NIRS and TCD broadly followed the same direction of change, the differences in the magnitude of changes were large, especially during ECMO. The presumption used by clinical teams during ECMO is that if NIRS is within a specific range, the flow rates of the ECMO machine are adequate, and thus the brain is being perfused sufficiently. As outlined previously within the thesis, NIRS has several limitations and only monitors oxygenation in the frontal lobes. The data from the current thesis suggest at important time periods NIRS does not adequately reflect CBF within the main cerebral vessels. Thus, patients may be exposed to periods of inadequate CBFv. The current data suggests additional monitoring of CBF as an adjunct to NIRS could provide further information on cerebral perfusion. Another limitation of NIRS is that it cannot indicate hyperperfusion, which is a common issue in ECMO patients (Lorusso, 2017). Further research is warranted to examine if TCD can detect periods of hyperperfusion during ECMO.

During aortic arch repair, especially when patients are cooled to low temperatures, metabolism in the brain is lower due to a decrease demand for oxygenated blood. Making the reduction in blood flow potentially not detrimental. The NIRS data in chapter 5 could suggest at this time period the oxygenation in the brain is maintained, despite a reduction in CBFv. The demand of oxygen decreases during this period and it has been suggested that there is adequate blood supply and no evidence of ischaemic brain injury using antegrade cerebral perfusion (Pacini et al., 2010). It is key to note that cooling is only performed for a section of the surgical procedure and that overall, the relationship between NIRS and TCD was weak. Once the rewarming period is initiated, NIRS may not be adequate enough at detected reperfusion injuries or changes to CBFv such as hyperperfusion, cerebral ischaemia and embolisms (Ohmae et al., 2007).

### 6.4 Methodological Considerations

Measuring CBFv using TCD in this population is advantageous as it is a noninvasive measurement which can be taken daily at bedside with minimum disruption. TCD has shaped the understanding of cerebrovascular physiology. It is a relatively low cost, easy to use, portable, non-invasive measurement (Willie et al., 2011). Clinically, the use of TCD includes sickle cell disease, brain death, stenosis, vasospasm, shunt and emboli detection (Willie et al., 2011). TCD also has limitations which need to be considered (Willie et al., 2011). An inherent issue with TCD is the inability to measure artery diameter. Changes in vessel diameter affect the accuracy of the CBF measurement with only velocity being measured. Measurements of absolute flow of CBFv is adequate when assuming the vessel diameter remains constant over time (Ainslie and Hoiland, 2014). In a rested state, the assumption that vessel diameter remains unchanged is plausible. In patients undergoing aortic arch repair; cooling, the use of pH stat management, cardioplegia and anaesthesia may impact vessel diameter. Similar principles are applied to ECMO patients who are exposed to anaesthesia, non-pulsatile blood flow, pre-ECMO conditions and underlying medical conditions can all impact vessel diameter. However, previous research has suggested that there is no significant change in MCA diameter during cardiac surgery (Polito et al., 2006). Also, recent advances in ultrasound technology and analysis techniques allow calculations of absolute blood flow using velocity and diameter measurements from a duplex ultrasound. Therefore, it is possible to obtain absolute blood flow of the MCAv in neonates with an open fontanelle, although this would require post-process analysis. This technique may overcome the limitations of both NIRS and TCD.

The clinical populations used in this thesis also need to be considered. Research into critically ill populations is sparse. This is due to the limited number of patients and the access to these individuals. Potential methodological issues are associated with this cohort, such as the availability of taking measurements and disrupting clinical treatments. It is important to take into consideration that these patients have 24-hour care, with constant interventions from the medical team. Opportunity to take additional measurements is limited. Conducting

research of a sensitive nature also needs to consider parental needs, measurements at a sensitive time are not always plausible.

Overall, whilst TCD can offer an additional insight into cerebral perfusion during these treatments, it is not logistically currently possible to implement TCD as part of routine clinical practice, and that was not the aim of the thesis. The thesis aimed to use TCD as an adjunct measurement technique to describe CBFv during treatments and to establish the strength of the relationship between NIRS and TCD. TCD has been demonstrated as a useful tool in scientific research and has paved the way for developing an understanding of the cerebrovasculature and cerebral autoregulation. However, it relies on a trained individual with an in-depth knowledge of the cerebrovasculature. Whereas NIRS can be used quickly and does not require specialist training. In the future, TCD could be used to optimise NIRS through understanding the correlation between changes in NIRS to changes in TCD. This may develop a further understanding of both global and regional cerebral perfusion during treatments.

# 6.5 Recommendations for Future Research which are Based on the Findings of this Thesis

 Future research in CBFv during cardiothoracic procedures and critical care should consider the use of duplex ultrasound to measure vessel diameter alongside flow velocity. This can provide absolute cerebral perfusion within a given vessel (e.g. MCA) and would be possible in younger patients with an open fontanelle. This would be useful in populations such as neonatal ECMO and CHD patients. This could be plausible as most sites conduct daily cranial ultrasounds which are performed to assess structural changes. Therefore, most sites have trained sonographer available within the care team. However, this would require the purchase of additional software, a compatible ultrasound machine and time post imaging to calculate the CBF values.

- Using data from the current thesis, a fully powered multi-centre study examining whether TCD or ultrasound can predict the success of weaning from ECMO would be useful in aiding current clinical practise.
- 3. Longitudinal study is required that measures TCD during ECMO with a follow up period to assess long-term neurological outcomes of survivors.
- 4. Further research is warranted to exam cooling during aortic arch repair surgery. With a focus on the impact of cooling to different temperatures on cerebral perfusion and long-term outcomes. This could lead towards a more universal approach to neuroprotective strategies implemented during cardiac surgery.
- 5. Future research should also consider monitoring cerebral perfusion during cooling procedures in different types of congenital heart surgery in neonates, paediatrics and adults. This can establish differences between conditions, identify patients most at risk of ischaemic injury and to understand the differences between paediatrics and adults.

**Chapter 7: References** 

- AASLID, R., HUBER, P. & NORNES, H. 1984. Evaluation of cerebrovascular spasm with transcranial Doppler ultrasound. *Journal of neurosurgery*, 60, 37-41.
- AASLID, R., MARKWALDER, T.-M. & NORNES, H. 1982. Noninvasive transcranial Doppler ultrasound recording of flow velocity in basal cerebral arteries. *Journal of neurosurgery*, 57, 769-774.
- ABDALLAH, C., KARSLI, C. & BISSONNETTE, B. 2002. Fentanyl is more effective than remifentanil at preventing increases in cerebral blood flow velocity during intubation in children. *Can J Anaesth*, 49, 1070-5.
- ADAMS, R. J., AASLID, R., MCKIE, V., MCKIE, K., CARL, E., STEPHENS, S., THOMPSON, W., MILNER, P. & FIGUEROA, R. 1990. Cerebral vessel stenosis in sickle cell disease: criteria for detection by transcranial Doppler. *The American journal of pediatric hematology/oncology*, 12, 277-282.
- ADAMS, R. J., MCKIE, V. C., HSU, L., FILES, B., VICHINSKY, E., PEGELOW, C., ABBOUD, M., GALLAGHER, D., KUTLAR, A. & NICHOLS, F. T. 1998.
   Prevention of a first stroke by transfusions in children with sickle cell anemia and abnormal results on transcranial Doppler ultrasonography. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 339, 5-11.
- AGATI, S., CICCARELLO, G., SALVO, D., TURLA, G., ÜNDAR, A. & MIGNOSA, C. 2006. Use of a novel anticoagulation strategy during ECMO in a pediatric population: single-center experience. ASAIO journal, 52, 513-516.
- AINSLIE, P. N. & DUFFIN, J. 2009. Integration of cerebrovascular CO2 reactivity and chemoreflex control of breathing: mechanisms of regulation, measurement, and interpretation. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory*, *Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 296, R1473-R1495.
- AINSLIE, P. N. & HOILAND, R. L. 2014. Transcranial Doppler ultrasound: valid, invalid, or both? *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 117, 1081-3.
- AKCABOY, M., NAZLIEL, B., GOKTAS, T., KULA, S., CELIK, B. & BUYAN, N. 2018. Whole blood viscosity and cerebral blood flow velocities in obese hypertensive or obese normotensive adolescents. *Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 31, 275-281.
- ALDERLIESTEN, T., LEMMERS, P. M., VAN HAASTERT, I. C., DE VRIES, L. S., BONESTROO, H. J., BAERTS, W. & VAN BEL, F. 2014. Hypotension in preterm neonates: low blood pressure alone does not affect neurodevelopmental outcome. *The Journal of pediatrics*, 164, 986-991.
- AMES, W. A. 2019. Pro: The Value of Modified Ultrafiltration in Children After Cardiopulmonary Bypass. *Journal of cardiothoracic and vascular anesthesia*, 33, 866-869.
- ANDROPOULOS, D. B., STAYER, S. A., MCKENZIE, E. D. & FRASER JR, C. D. 2003. Novel cerebral physiologic monitoring to guide low-flow cerebral perfusion during neonatal aortic arch reconstruction. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*, 125, 491-499.
- ATTWELL, D., BUCHAN, A. M., CHARPAK, S., LAURITZEN, M., MACVICAR, B. A. & NEWMAN, E. A. 2010. Glial and neuronal control of brain blood flow. *Nature*, 468, 232.
- ATTWELL, D. & LAUGHLIN, S. B. 2001. An energy budget for signaling in the grey matter of the brain. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 21, 1133-1145.
- BAIN, A. R., SMITH, K. J., LEWIS, N. C., FOSTER, G. E., WILDFONG, K. W., WILLIE, C. K., HARTLEY, G. L., CHEUNG, S. S. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2013. Regional changes in brain blood flow during severe passive hyperthermia: effects of PaCO2 and extracranial blood flow. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 115, 653-659.

- BAKDASH, J. Z. & MARUSICH, L. R. 2017. Repeated Measures Correlation. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8.
- BARKHUIZEN, M., ABELLA, R., VLES, J., ZIMMERMANN, L. J., GAZZOLO, D. & GAVILANES, A. W. 2021. Antenatal and perioperative mechanisms of global neurological injury in congenital heart disease. *Pediatric Cardiology*, 42, 1-18.
- BARRON, D. J., KILBY, M. D., DAVIES, B., WRIGHT, J. G., JONES, T. J. & BRAWN, W. J. 2009. Hypoplastic left heart syndrome. *The Lancet*, 374, 551-564.
- BATTISTI-CHARBONNEY, A., FISHER, J. & DUFFIN, J. 2011. The cerebrovascular response to carbon dioxide in humans. *The Journal of physiology*, 589, 3039-3048.
- BAUER, A., DIEZ, C., SCHUBEL, J., EL-SHOUKI, N., METZ, D., EBERLE, T. & HAUSMANN, H. 2010. Evaluation of Hemodynamic and Regional Tissue Perfusion Effects of Minimized Extracorporeal Circulation (MECC®). *The Journal of extracorporeal technology*, 42, 30.
- BAYLISS, W., HILL, L. & GULLAND, G. L. 1895. On intra-cranial pressure and the cerebral circulation: Part I. Physiological; Part II. Histological. *The Journal of physiology*, 18, 334.
- BELLINGER, D. C., WYPIJ, D., RIVKIN, M. J., DEMASO, D. R., ROBERTSON JR, R. L., DUNBAR-MASTERSON, C., RAPPAPORT, L. A., WERNOVSKY, G., JONAS, R. A. & NEWBURGER, J. W. 2011. Adolescents with d-transposition of the great arteries corrected with the arterial switch procedure: neuropsychological assessment and structural brain imaging. *Circulation*, 124, 1361-1369.
- BEMBEA, M. M. 2013. Neuromonitoring of neonatal ECMO patients using serial cranial ultrasounds. *Pediatric critical care medicine: a journal of the Society of Critical Care Medicine and the World Federation of Pediatric Intensive and Critical Care Societies*, 14, 903.
- BENNI, P. B., CHEN, B., DYKES, F. D., WAGONER, S. F., HEARD, M., TANNER, A. J., YOUNG, T. L., RAIS-BAHRAMI, K., RIVERA, O. & SHORT, B. L. 2005. Validation of the CAS neonatal NIRS system by monitoring VV-ECMO patients. *Oxygen Transport to Tissue XXVI*. Springer.
- BOR-SENG-SHU, E., KITA, W. S., FIGUEIREDO, E. G., PAIVA, W. S., FONOFF, E. T., TEIXEIRA, M. J. & PANERAI, R. B. 2012. Cerebral hemodynamics: concepts of clinical importance. *Arquivos de neuro-psiquiatria*, 70, 357-365.
- BOYLAN, G. B., YOUNG, K., PANERAI, R. B., RENNIE, J. M. & EVANS, D. H. 2000. Dynamic cerebral autoregulation in sick newborn infants. *Pediatric Research*, 48, 12.
- BOYLE, K., FELLING, R., YIU, A., BATTARJEE, W., SCHWARTZ, J. M., SALORIO, C. & BEMBEA, M. M. 2018. Neurologic Outcomes After Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation–a Systematic Review. *Pediatric critical care medicine: a journal of the Society of Critical Care Medicine and the World Federation of Pediatric Intensive and Critical Care Societies*, 19, 760.
- BRASSARD, P., LABRECQUE, L., SMIRL, J. D., TYMKO, M. M., CALDWELL, H. G., HOILAND, R. L., LUCAS, S. J., DENAULT, A. Y., COUTURE, E. J. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2021. Losing the dogmatic view of cerebral autoregulation. *Physiological reports*, 9, e14982.
- BRAZY, J. E., LEWIS, D. V., MITNICK, M. H. & VANDER VLIET, F. F. J. 1985. Noninvasive monitoring of cerebral oxygenation in preterm infants: preliminary observations. *Pediatrics*, 75, 217-225.
- BRONICKI, R. A. & HALL, M. 2016. Cardiopulmonary bypass-induced inflammatory response: pathophysiology and treatment. *Pediatric Critical Care Medicinel Society of Critical Care Medicine*, 17, S272-S278.

- BROWN, C. M., SANYA, E. O. & HILZ, M. J. 2003. Effect of cold face stimulation on cerebral blood flow in humans. *Brain Res Bull*, 61, 81-6.
- BROWN, W. R., MOODY, D. M., CHALLA, V. R., STUMP, D. A. & HAMMON, J. W. 2000. Longer duration of cardiopulmonary bypass is associated with greater numbers of cerebral microemboli. *Stroke*, 31, 707-713.
- BUCKLEY, E. M., NAIM, M. Y., LYNCH, J. M., GOFF, D. A., SCHWAB, P. J., DIAZ, L. K., NICOLSON, S. C., MONTENEGRO, L. M., LAVIN, N. A. & DURDURAN, T. 2013. Sodium bicarbonate causes dose-dependent increases in cerebral blood flow in infants and children with single-ventricle physiology. *Pediatric research*, 73, 668-673.
- BUCKLEY, E. M., PARTHASARATHY, A. B., GRANT, P. E., YODH, A. G. & FRANCESCHINI, M. A. 2014. Diffuse correlation spectroscopy for measurement of cerebral blood flow: future prospects. *Neurophotonics*, 1,011009.
- BUSCH, D. R., RUSIN, C. G., MILLER-HANCE, W., KIBLER, K., BAKER, W. B., HEINLE, J. S., FRASER, C. D., YODH, A. G., LICHT, D. J. & BRADY, K. M. 2016. Continuous cerebral hemodynamic measurement during deep hypothermic circulatory arrest. *Biomedical optics express*, 7, 3461-3470.
- BÜSING, K. A., SCHULTE-SASSE, C., FLÜCHTER, S., SÜSELBECK, T., HAASE, K. K., NEFF, W., HIRSCH, J. G., BORGGREFE, M. & DÜBER, C. 2005. Cerebral infarction: incidence and risk factors after diagnostic and interventional cardiac catheterization—prospective evaluation at diffusion-weighted MR imaging. *Radiology*, 235, 177-183.
- BUTT, W. & MACLAREN, G. 2016. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation 2016: an update. *F1000Research*, 5.
- CALDWELL, H. G., CARR, J. M., MINHAS, J. S., SWENSON, E. R. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2021a. Acid-base balance and cerebrovascular regulation. *The Journal of Physiology*, 599, 5337-5359.
- CALDWELL, H. G., HOWE, C. A., CHALIFOUX, C. J., HOILAND, R. L., CARR, J. M., BROWN, C. V., PATRICIAN, A., TREMBLAY, J. C., PANERAI, R. B. & ROBINSON, T. G. 2021b. Arterial carbon dioxide and bicarbonate rather than pH regulate cerebral blood flow in the setting of acute experimental metabolic alkalosis. *The Journal of Physiology*, 599, 1439-1457.
- CANEO, L. F., MATTE, G. S., GUIMARÃES, D. P., VIOTTO, G., MAZZETO, M., CESTARI, I., NEIROTTI, R. A., JATENE, M. B., WANG, S. & ÜNDAR, A. 2018. Functional performance of different venous limb options in simulated neonatal/pediatric cardiopulmonary bypass circuits. *Brazilian journal of cardiovascular surgery*, 33, 224-232.
- CAPRAROLA, S. D., KUDCHADKAR, S. R. & BEMBEA, M. M. 2017. Neurologic outcomes following care in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Current treatment options in pediatrics*, 3, 193-207.
- CATENA, E., TASCA, G., FRACASSO, G., TOSCANO, A., BONACINA, M., NARANG,
   T., GALANTI, A., TRIGGIANI, M., LORENZI, G. & GAMBA, A. 2013.
   Usefulness of transcranial color Doppler ultrasonography in aortic arch surgery.
   Journal of Cardiovascular Medicine, 14, 597-602.
- CHAN, M. J., CHUNG, T., GLASSFORD, N. J. & BELLOMO, R. 2017. Near-infrared spectroscopy in adult cardiac surgery patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of cardiothoracic and vascular anesthesia*, 31, 1155-1165.
- CHIU, J.-J. & CHIEN, S. 2011. Effects of disturbed flow on vascular endothelium: pathophysiological basis and clinical perspectives. *Physiological reviews*, 91, 327-387.

- CHO, J. W. & JANG, J. S. 2017. Near-infrared spectroscopy versus transcranial dopplerbased monitoring in carotid endarterectomy. *The Korean journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*, 50, 448.
- ÇINAR, Y., ŞENYOL, A. M. & DUMAN, K. 2001. Blood viscosity and blood pressure: role of temperature and hyperglycemia. *American journal of hypertension*, 14, 433-438.
- CLAASSEN, J. A., MEEL-VAN DEN ABEELEN, A. S., SIMPSON, D. M., PANERAI, R.
   B. & NETWORK, I. C. A. R. 2016. Transfer function analysis of dynamic cerebral autoregulation: A white paper from the International Cerebral Autoregulation Research Network. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 36, 665-680.
- COSELLI, J. S. & GREEN, S. Y. 2009a. Evolution of aortic arch repair. *Texas Heart Institute Journal*, 36, 435.
- COSELLI, J. S. & GREEN, S. Y. 2009b. Evolution of aortic arch repair. *Tex Heart Inst J*, 36, 435-7.
- CREAGH-BROWN, B. 2016. Respiratory failure. Medicine, 44, 342-345.
- CUNHA, F., MOTA, T., TEIXEIRA-PINTO, A., CARVALHO, L., ESTRADA, J., MARQUES, A., COSTA-PEREIRA, A. & ALMEIDA-SANTOS, L. 2013. Factors associated with health-related quality of life changes in survivors to pediatric intensive care. *Pediatr Crit Care Med*, 14, e8-15.
- DALTON, H. J., GARCIA-FILION, P., HOLUBKOV, R., MOLER, F. W., SHANLEY, T., HEIDEMANN, S., MEERT, K., BERG, R. A., BERGER, J. & CARCILLO, J. 2015. Association of bleeding and thrombosis with outcome in extracorporeal life support. *Pediatric critical care medicine: a journal of the Society of Critical Care Medicine and the World Federation of Pediatric Intensive and Critical Care Societies*, 16, 167.
- DAVIE, S. N. & GROCOTT, H. P. 2012. Impact of extracranial contamination on regional cerebral oxygen saturation: a comparison of three cerebral oximetry technologies. *The Journal of the American Society of Anesthesiologists*, 116, 834-840.
- DENT, C. L., SPAETH, J. P., JONES, B. V., SCHWARTZ, S. M., GLAUSER, T. A., HALLINAN, B., PEARL, J. M., KHOURY, P. R. & KURTH, C. D. 2006. Brain magnetic resonance imaging abnormalities after the Norwood procedure using regional cerebral perfusion. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*, 131, 190-197.
- DESMOND, F. & NAMACHIVAYAM, S. 2016. Does near-infrared spectroscopy play a role in paediatric intensive care? *Bja Education*, 16, 281-285.
- DHAR, A. V., SCOTT, S., ANTON-MARTIN, P., TWEED, J., MORRIS, M. A., MODEM, V., RAMAN, L. & GOLLA, S. 2020. Neurodevelopmental outcomes in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation patients: A pilot study. ASAIO Journal, 66, 447-453.
- DONOFRIO, M. T. & MASSARO, A. N. 2010. Impact of congenital heart disease on brain development and neurodevelopmental outcome. *International journal of pediatrics*, 2010.
- DRAPEAU, A., ANDERSON, G. K. & SPRICK, J. D. 2021. Cerebrovascular control: What's so base-ic about it? *The Journal of physiology*, 599, 2787-2788.
- DURDURAN, T. & YODH, A. G. 2014. Diffuse correlation spectroscopy for non-invasive, micro-vascular cerebral blood flow measurement. *Neuroimage*, 85, 51-63.
- DURDURAN, T., ZHOU, C., BUCKLEY, E. M., KIM, M. N., YU, G., CHOE, R., GAYNOR, J. W., SPRAY, T. L., DURNING, S. M. & MASON, S. E. 2010. Optical measurement of cerebral hemodynamics and oxygen metabolism in neonates with congenital heart defects. *Journal of biomedical optics*, 15, 037004.

- EHRLICH, M. P., MCCULLOUGH, J. N., ZHANG, N., WEISZ, D. J., JUVONEN, T., BODIAN, C. A. & GRIEPP, R. B. 2002. Effect of hypothermia on cerebral blood flow and metabolism in the pig. *Ann Thorac Surg*, 73, 191-7.
- EJIKE, J. C., SCHENKMAN, K. A., SEIDEL, K., RAMAMOORTHY, C. & ROBERTS, J. S. 2006. Cerebral oxygenation in neonatal and pediatric patients during veno-arterial extracorporeal life support. *Pediatric Critical Care Medicine*, 7, 154-158.
- ENDOH, H., HONDA, T., OHASHI, S., HIDA, S., SHIBUE, C. & KOMURA, N. 2002. The influence of nicardipine-, nitroglycerin-, and prostaglandin E1-induced hypotension on cerebral pressure autoregulation in adult patients during propofolfentanyl anesthesia. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 94, 169-173.
- ENGLE, W. A. 2008. Surfactant-replacement therapy for respiratory distress in the preterm and term neonate. *Pediatrics*, 121, 419-432.
- ERDOES, G., RUMMEL, C., BASCIANI, R. M., VERMA, R., CARREL, T., BANZ, Y., EBERLE, B. & SCHROTH, G. 2018. Limitations of Current Near-Infrared Spectroscopy Configuration in Detecting Focal Cerebral Ischemia During Cardiac Surgery: An Observational Case-Series Study. Artif Organs, 42, 1001-1009.
- ESPER, S. A., LEVY, J. H., WATERS, J. H. & WELSBY, I. J. 2014. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in the adult: a review of anticoagulation monitoring and transfusion. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 118, 731-743.
- ESTRERA, A. L., GARAMI, Z., MILLER III, C. C., SHEINBAUM, R., HUYNH, T. T., PORAT, E. E., ALLEN, B. S. & SAFI, H. J. 2005. Cerebral monitoring with transcranial Doppler ultrasonography improves neurologic outcome during repairs of acute type A aortic dissection. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*, 129, 277-285.
- FAIRGRIEVE, R., ROWNEY, D., KARSLI, C. & BISSONNETTE, B. 2003. The effect of sevoflurane on cerebral blood flow velocity in children. *Acta anaesthesiologica scandinavica*, 47, 1226-1230.
- FAVRE, M. E., LIM, V., FALVO, M. J. & SERRADOR, J. M. 2020. Cerebrovascular reactivity and cerebral autoregulation are improved in the supine posture compared to upright in healthy men and women. *Plos one*, 15, e0229049.
- FEINSTEIN, J. A., BENSON, D. W., DUBIN, A. M., COHEN, M. S., MAXEY, D. M., MAHLE, W. T., PAHL, E., VILLAFAÑE, J., BHATT, A. B. & PENG, L. F. 2012. Hypoplastic left heart syndrome: current considerations and expectations. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 59, S1-S42.
- FELBERG, R. A., CHRISTOU, I., DEMCHUK, A. M., MALKOFF, M. & ALEXANDROV, A. V. 2002. Screening for intracranial stenosis with transcranial Doppler: the accuracy of mean flow velocity thresholds. *Journal of Neuroimaging*, 12, 9-14.
- FENIK, J. & RAIS-BAHRAMI, K. 2009. Neonatal cerebral oximetry monitoring during ECMO cannulation. *Journal of Perinatology*, 29, 376.
- FERRADAL, S. L., LIAO, S. M., EGGEBRECHT, A. T., SHIMONY, J. S., INDER, T. E., CULVER, J. P. & SMYSER, C. D. 2016. Functional Imaging of the Developing Brain at the Bedside Using Diffuse Optical Tomography. *Cereb Cortex*, 26, 1558-68.
- FERRARI, M., GIANNINI, I., SIDERI, G. & ZANETTE, E. 1985. Continuous non invasive monitoring of human brain by near infrared spectroscopy. *Oxygen Transport to Tissue VII*. Springer.
- FERRARI, M. & QUARESIMA, V. 2012. A brief review on the history of human functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) development and fields of application. *Neuroimage*, 63, 921-935.

- FIERSTRA, J., SOBCZYK, O., BATTISTI-CHARBONNEY, A., MANDELL, D., POUBLANC, J., CRAWLEY, A., MIKULIS, D., DUFFIN, J. & FISHER, J. 2013. Measuring cerebrovascular reactivity: what stimulus to use? *The Journal of physiology*, 591, 5809-5821.
- FRASER, C. D., JR. & ANDROPOULOS, D. B. 2008. Principles of antegrade cerebral perfusion during arch reconstruction in newborns/infants. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg Pediatr Card Surg Annu*, 61-8.
- FRASER, L. K., MILLER, M., HAIN, R., NORMAN, P., ALDRIDGE, J., MCKINNEY, P. A. & PARSLOW, R. C. 2012. Rising national prevalence of life-limiting conditions in children in England. *Pediatrics*, 129, e923-e929.
- FUKUDA, S., AOYAMA, M., YAMADA, Y., SAITOH, N., HONJOH, T., HASEGAWA, T., FUTAMURA, M., KATOH, J., NIIMI, N. & TANAKA, S. 1999. Comparison of venoarterial versus venovenous access in the cerebral circulation of newborns undergoing extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pediatric surgery international*, 15, 78-84.
- FYFE, K. L., YIALLOUROU, S. R., WONG, F. Y. & HORNE, R. S. 2014. The development of cardiovascular and cerebral vascular control in preterm infants. *Sleep medicine reviews*, 18, 299-310.
- GARGIULO, G., PACE NAPOLEONE, C., ANGELI, E. & OPPIDO, G. 2008. Neonatal coarctation repair using extended end-to-end anastomosis. *Multimed Man Cardiothorac Surg*, 328.
- GEORGIEFF, M. K., RAMEL, S. E. & CUSICK, S. E. 2018. Nutritional influences on brain development. *Acta Paediatrica*, 107, 1310-1321.
- GIROUARD, H. & IADECOLA, C. 2006. Neurovascular coupling in the normal brain and in hypertension, stroke, and Alzheimer disease. *Journal of applied physiology*, 100, 328-335.
- GOFF, D. A., BUCKLEY, E. M., DURDURAN, T., WANG, J. & LICHT, D. J. Noninvasive cerebral perfusion imaging in high-risk neonates. Seminars in perinatology, 2010. Elsevier, 46-56.
- GOLDBERG, C. S., SCHWARTZ, E. M., BRUNBERG, J. A., MOSCA, R. S., BOVE, E.
   L., SCHORK, M. A., STETZ, S. P., CHEATHAM, J. P. & KULIK, T. J. 2000.
   Neurodevelopmental outcome of patients after the Fontan operation: a comparison between children with hypoplastic left heart syndrome and other functional single ventricle lesions. *The Journal of pediatrics*, 137, 646-652.
- GREISEN, G. 1986. Cerebral blood flow in preterm infants during the first week of life. *Acta Pædiatrica*, 75, 43-51.
- GREISEN, G. 2005. Autoregulation of cerebral blood flow in newborn babies. *Early human development*, 81, 423-428.
- GRIEPP, R., STINSON, E., HOLLINGSWORTH, J. & BUEHLER, D. 1975. Prosthetic replacement of the aortic arch. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*, 70, 1051-1063.
- GRIEPP, R. B. 2001. Cerebral protection during aortic arch surgery. *The Journal of thoracic* and cardiovascular surgery, 121, 425-427.
- GROCOTT, H. P. & DAVIE, S. N. 2013. Future uncertainties in the development of clinical cerebral oximetry. *Frontiers in physiology*, 4, 360.
- GUPTA, P., ROBERTSON, M., BEAM, B., GOSSETT, J., SCHMITZ, M., CARROLL, C., EDWARDS, J., FORTENBERRY, J. & BUTT, W. 2015. Relationship of ECMO duration with outcomes after pediatric cardiac surgery: a multi-institutional analysis. *Minerva anestesiologica*, 81, 619-627.

- HAGL, C., ERGIN, M. A., GALLA, J. D., LANSMAN, S. L., MCCULLOUGH, J. N., SPIELVOGEL, D., SFEIR, P., BODIAN, C. A. & GRIEPP, R. B. 2001. Neurologic outcome after ascending aorta–aortic arch operations: effect of brain protection technique in high-risk patients. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*, 121, 1107-1121.
- HAMON, M., BARON, J.-C., VIADER, F. & HAMON, M. L. 2008. Periprocedural stroke and cardiac catheterization. *Circulation*, 118, 678-683.
- HANEKAMP, M. N., MAZER, P., VAN DER CAMMEN-VAN, M. H., VAN KESSEL-FEDDEMA, B. J., NIJHUIS-VAN DER SANDEN, M. W., KNUIJT, S., ZEGERS-VERSTRAETEN, J. L., GISCHLER, S. J., TIBBOEL, D. & KOLLÉE, L. A. 2006. Follow-up of newborns treated with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a nationwide evaluation at 5 years of age. *Critical Care*, 10, R127.
- HARTE, G., GRAY, P., LEE, T., STEER, P. & CHARLES, B. 1997. Haemodynamic responses and population pharmacokinetics of midazolam following administration to ventilated, preterm neonates. *Journal of paediatrics and child health*, 33, 335-338.
- HILL, J. D., O'BRIEN, T. G., MURRAY, J. J., DONTIGNY, L., BRAMSON, M., OSBORN, J. & GERBODE, F. 1972. Prolonged extracorporeal oxygenation for acute post-traumatic respiratory failure (shock-lung syndrome) use of the Bramson membrane lung. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 286, 629-634.
- HIRATA, Y. 2018. Cardiopulmonary bypass for pediatric cardiac surgery. *Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*, 66, 65-70.
- HOFFMAN, G. M., BROSIG, C. L., MUSSATTO, K. A., TWEDDELL, J. S. & GHANAYEM, N. S. 2013. Perioperative cerebral oxygen saturation in neonates with hypoplastic left heart syndrome and childhood neurodevelopmental outcome. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*, 146, 1153-1164.
- HOGUE JR, C. W., PALIN, C. A. & ARROWSMITH, J. E. 2006. Cardiopulmonary bypass management and neurologic outcomes: an evidence-based appraisal of current practices. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 103, 21-37.
- HYTTEL-SORENSEN, S., PELLICER, A., ALDERLIESTEN, T., AUSTIN, T., VAN BEL, F., BENDERS, M., CLARIS, O., DEMPSEY, E., FRANZ, A. R. & FUMAGALLI, M. 2015. Cerebral near infrared spectroscopy oximetry in extremely preterm infants: phase II randomised clinical trial. *Bmj*, 350.
- IJSSELSTIJN, H. & VAN HEIJST, A. F. Long-term outcome of children treated with neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: increasing problems with increasing age. Seminars in perinatology, 2014. Elsevier, 114-121.
- JAIN, V., LANGHAM, M. C. & WEHRLI, F. W. 2011. MRI estimation of global brain oxygen consumption rate. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 31, 1336.
- JOBSIS, F. F. 1977. Noninvasive, infrared monitoring of cerebral and myocardial oxygen sufficiency and circulatory parameters. *Science*, 198, 1264-1267.
- JOSHI, B., BRADY, K., LEE, J., EASLEY, B., PANIGRAHI, R., SMIELEWSKI, P., CZOSNYKA, M. & HOGUE, C. W., JR. 2010a. Impaired autoregulation of cerebral blood flow during rewarming from hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass and its potential association with stroke. *Anesth Analg*, 110, 321-8.
- JOSHI, B., BRADY, K., LEE, J., EASLEY, B., PANIGRAHI, R., SMIELEWSKI, P., CZOSNYKA, M. & HOGUE JR, C. W. 2010b. Impaired autoregulation of cerebral blood flow during rewarming from hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass and its potential association with stroke. *Anesthesia and analgesia*, 110, 321.
- JUNEJO, R. T., BRAZ, I. D., LUCAS, S. J., VAN LIESHOUT, J. J., PHILLIPS, A. A., LIP, G. Y. & FISHER, J. P. 2019. Neurovascular coupling and cerebral autoregulation in

atrial fibrillation. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism, 0271678X19870770.

- KADOI, Y., SAITO, S., KUNIMOTO, F., GOTO, F. & FUJITA, N. 2003. Comparative effects of propofol versus fentanyl on cerebral oxygenation state during normothermic cardiopulmonary bypass and postoperative cognitive dysfunction. *The Annals of thoracic surgery*, 75, 840-846.
- KALTMAN, J., DI, H., TIAN, Z. & RYCHIK, J. 2005. Impact of congenital heart disease on cerebrovascular blood flow dynamics in the fetus. *Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology: The Official Journal of the International Society of Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 25, 32-36.
- KANE, D. A., THIAGARAJAN, R. R., WYPIJ, D., SCHEURER, M. A., FYNN-THOMPSON, F., EMANI, S., PEDRO, J., BETIT, P. & LAUSSEN, P. C. 2010. Rapid-response extracorporeal membrane oxygenation to support cardiopulmonary resuscitation in children with cardiac disease. *Circulation*, 122, S241-S248.
- KAZMI, S. O., SIVAKUMAR, S., KARAKITSOS, D., ALHARTHY, A. & LAZARIDIS, C. 2018. Cerebral pathophysiology in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: pitfalls in daily clinical management. *Critical care research and practice*, 2018.
- KHAJA, W. A., BILEN, O., LUKNER, R. B., EDWARDS, R. & TERUYA, J. 2010. Evaluation of heparin assay for coagulation management in newborns undergoing ECMO. American journal of clinical pathology, 134, 950-954.
- KINNEY, H. C., PANIGRAHY, A., NEWBURGER, J. W., JONAS, R. A. & SLEEPER, L. A. 2005. Hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in infants with congenital heart disease dying after cardiac surgery. *Acta neuropathologica*, 110, 563-578.
- KIVINIEMI, V. J., HAANPÄÄ, H., KANTOLA, J.-H., JAUHIAINEN, J., VAINIONPÄÄ, V., ALAHUHTA, S. & TERVONEN, O. 2005. Midazolam sedation increases fluctuation and synchrony of the resting brain BOLD signal. *Magnetic resonance imaging*, 23, 531-537.
- KIZILTAN, H. T., BALTAL, M., BILEN, A., SEYDAOGLU, G., INCESOZ, M., TASDELEN, A. & ASLAMACI, S. 2003. Comparison of alpha-stat and pH-stat cardiopulmonary bypass in relation to jugular venous oxygen saturation and cerebral glucose-oxygen utilization. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 96, 644-650.
- KNICKMEYER, R. C., GOUTTARD, S., KANG, C., EVANS, D., WILBER, K., SMITH, J. K., HAMER, R. M., LIN, W., GERIG, G. & GILMORE, J. H. 2008. A structural MRI study of human brain development from birth to 2 years. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28, 12176-12182.
- KNOESTER, H., GROOTENHUIS, M. A. & BOS, A. P. 2007. Outcome of paediatric intensive care survivors. *European journal of pediatrics*, 166, 1119-1128.
- KOZIK, D. J. & TWEDDELL, J. S. 2006. Characterizing the inflammatory response to cardiopulmonary bypass in children. *The Annals of thoracic surgery*, 81, S2347-S2354.
- KREEGER, R. N., RAMAMOORTHY, C., NICOLSON, S. C., AMES, W. A., HIRSCH, R., PENG, L. F., GLATZ, A. C., HILL, K. D., HOFFMAN, J. & TOMASSON, J. 2012. Evaluation of pediatric near-infrared cerebral oximeter for cardiac disease. *The Annals of thoracic surgery*, 94, 1527-1533.
- KUNZ, A. & IADECOLA, C. 2008. Cerebral vascular dysregulation in the ischemic brain. *Handbook of clinical neurology*, 92, 283-305.
- LANZARONE, E., GELMINI, F., TESSARI, M., MENON, T., SUZUKI, H., CARINI, M., COSTANTINO, M. L., FUMERO, R., LUCIANI, G. B. & FAGGIAN, G. 2009. Preservation of endothelium nitric oxide release by pulsatile flow cardiopulmonary bypass when compared with continuous flow. *Artificial organs*, 33, 926-934.

- LAROVERE, K. L. & O'BRIEN, N. F. 2015. Transcranial Doppler sonography in pediatric neurocritical care: A review of clinical applications and case illustrations in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Journal of Ultrasound in Medicine*, 34, 2121-2132.
- LAROVERE, K. L., VONBERG, F. W., PRABHU, S. P., KAPUR, K., HARINI, C., GARCIA-JACQUES, R., CHAO, J. H., AKHONDI-ASL, A., THIAGARAJAN, R. & TASKER, R. C. 2017. Patterns of head computed tomography abnormalities during pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation and association with outcomes. *Pediatric neurology*, 73, 64-70.
- LASSEN, N. A. 1959. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption in man. *Physiological reviews*, 39, 183-238.
- LE GUENNEC, L., CHOLET, C., HUANG, F., SCHMIDT, M., BRÉCHOT, N., HÉKIMIAN, G., BESSET, S., LEBRETON, G., NIESZKOWSKA, A. & LEPRINCE, P. 2018. Ischemic and hemorrhagic brain injury during venoarterialextracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Annals of intensive care*, 8, 1-10.
- LEE, J. K., EASLEY, R. B. & BRADY, K. M. 2008. Neurocognitive monitoring and care during pediatric cardiopulmonary bypass—current and future directions. *Current cardiology reviews*, 4, 123-139.
- LEE, J. Y. 2010. Clinical presentations of critical cardiac defects in the newborn: decision making and initial management. *Korean journal of pediatrics*, 53, 669.
- LIPNICK, M. S., CAHILL, E. A., FEINER, J. R. & BICKLER, P. E. 2018. Comparison of transcranial doppler and ultrasound-tagged near infrared spectroscopy for measuring relative changes in cerebral blood flow in human subjects. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 126, 579-587.
- LORUSSO, R. 2017. Extracorporeal life support and neurologic complications: still a long way to go. *J Thorac Dis*, 9, E954-e956.
- LUCIANI, G. B., MENON, T., VECCHI, B., AURIEMMA, S. & MAZZUCCO, A. 2001. Modified ultrafiltration reduces morbidity after adult cardiac operations: a prospective, randomized clinical trial. *Circulation*, 104, I-253-I-259.
- LUND, C., NES, R. B., UGELSTAD, T. P., DUE-TØNNESSEN, P., ANDERSEN, R., HOL, P. K., BRUCHER, R. & RUSSELL, D. 2005. Cerebral emboli during left heart catheterization may cause acute brain injury. *European heart journal*, 26, 1269-1275.
- LYNGE, T. H., JEPPESEN, A. G., WINKEL, B. G., GLINGE, C., SCHMIDT, M. R., SØNDERGAARD, L., RISGAARD, B. & TFELT-HANSEN, J. 2018. Nationwide study of sudden cardiac death in people with congenital heart defects aged 0 to 35 years. *Circulation: Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology*, 11, e005757.
- MACHIN, D. & ALLSAGER, C. 2006. Principles of cardiopulmonary bypass. *Continuing Education in Anaesthesia, Critical Care & Pain*, 6, 176-181.
- MANDALENAKIS, Z., GIANG, K. W., ERIKSSON, P., LIDEN, H., SYNNERGREN, M., WÅHLANDER, H., FEDCHENKO, M., ROSENGREN, A. & DELLBORG, M. 2020. Survival in children with congenital heart disease: have we reached a peak at 97%? Journal of the American Heart Association, 9, e017704.
- MANETTA, F., MULLAN, C. W. & CATALANO, M. A. 2018. Neuroprotective Strategies in Repair and Replacement of the Aortic Arch. *Int J Angiol*, 27, 98-109.
- MARELLI, A., MILLER, S. P., MARINO, B. S., JEFFERSON, A. L. & NEWBURGER, J. W. 2016. Brain in congenital heart disease across the lifespan: the cumulative burden of injury. *Circulation*, 133, 1951-1962.
- MARINO, B. S., LIPKIN, P. H., NEWBURGER, J. W., PEACOCK, G., GERDES, M., GAYNOR, J. W., MUSSATTO, K. A., UZARK, K., GOLDBERG, C. S. & JOHNSON JR, W. H. 2012. Neurodevelopmental outcomes in children with

congenital heart disease: evaluation and management: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 126, 1143-1172.

- MARKHAM, D. W., FU, Q., PALMER, M. D., DRAZNER, M. H., MEYER, D. M., BETHEA, B. T., HASTINGS, J. L., FUJIMOTO, N., SHIBATA, S. & LEVINE, B. D. 2013. Sympathetic neural and hemodynamic responses to upright tilt in patients with pulsatile and nonpulsatile left ventricular assist devices. *Circulation: Heart Failure*, 6, 293-299.
- MATTHIESEN, N. B., HENRIKSEN, T. B., GAYNOR, J. W., AGERGAARD, P., BACH, C. C., HJORTDAL, V. E. & ØSTERGAARD, J. R. 2016. Congenital heart defects and indices of fetal cerebral growth in a nationwide cohort of 924 422 liveborn infants. *Circulation*, 133, 566-575.
- MAVROUDIS, C. D., KARLSSON, M., KO, T., HEFTI, M., GENTILE, J. I., MORGAN, R. W., PLYLER, R., MENSAH-BROWN, K. G., BOORADY, T. W., MELCHIOR, R. W., ROSENTHAL, T. M., SHADE, B. C., SCHIAVO, K. L., NICOLSON, S. C., SPRAY, T. L., SUTTON, R. M., BERG, R. A., LICHT, D. J., GAYNOR, J. W. & KILBAUGH, T. J. 2018. Cerebral mitochondrial dysfunction associated with deep hypothermic circulatory arrest in neonatal swine. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg*, 54, 162-168.
- MCCRINDLE, B. W., TCHERVENKOV, C. I., KONSTANTINOV, I. E., WILLIAMS, W. G., NEIROTTI, R. A., JACOBS, M. L. & BLACKSTONE, E. H. 2005. Risk factors associated with mortality and interventions in 472 neonates with interrupted aortic arch: A Congenital Heart Surgeons Society study. *The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery*, 129, 343-350.
- MCCULLOUGH, J. N., ZHANG, N., REICH, D. L., JUVONEN, T. S., KLEIN, J. J., SPIELVOGEL, D., ERGIN, M. A. & GRIEPP, R. B. 1999. Cerebral metabolic suppression during hypothermic circulatory arrest in humans. *The Annals of thoracic* surgery, 67, 1895-1899.
- MCQUILLEN, P. S. & MILLER, S. P. 2010. Congenital heart disease and brain development. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1184, 68-86.
- MEDLIN, W. M. & SISTINO, J. J. 2006. Cerebral oxygen saturation changes during modified ultrafiltration. *Perfusion*, 21, 325-328.
- MILLER, S. P., MCQUILLEN, P. S., HAMRICK, S., XU, D., GLIDDEN, D. V., CHARLTON, N., KARL, T., AZAKIE, A., FERRIERO, D. M. & BARKOVICH, A. J. 2007. Abnormal brain development in newborns with congenital heart disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 357, 1928-1938.
- MINTUN, M. A., LUNDSTROM, B. N., SNYDER, A. Z., VLASSENKO, A. G., SHULMAN, G. L. & RAICHLE, M. E. 2001. Blood flow and oxygen delivery to human brain during functional activity: theoretical modeling and experimental data. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98, 6859-6864.
- MITCHELL, S. J. & MERRY, A. F. 2015. Perspective on Cerebral Microemboli in Cardiac Surgery: Significant Problem or Much Ado About Nothing? J Extra Corpor Technol, 47, 10-5.
- MITTNACHT, A. J. 2010. Near infrared spectroscopy in children at high risk of low perfusion. *Current Opinion in Anesthesiology*, 23, 342-347.
- MORTON, P. D., ISHIBASHI, N. & JONAS, R. A. 2017. Neurodevelopmental abnormalities and congenital heart disease: insights into altered brain maturation. *Circulation research*, 120, 960-977.
- MUOIO, V., PERSSON, P. & SENDESKI, M. 2014. The neurovascular unit-concept review. Acta physiologica, 210, 790-798.

- MURKIN, J. M. & ARANGO, M. 2009. Near-infrared spectroscopy as an index of brain and tissue oxygenation. *British journal of anaesthesia*, 103, i3-i13.
- MUSSATTO, K. A., HOLLENBECK-PRINGLE, D., TRACHTENBERG, F., SOOD, E., SANANES, R., PIKE, N. A., LAMBERT, L. M., MAHLE, W. T., GOLDBERG, D. J. & GOLDBERG, C. S. 2018. Utilisation of early intervention services in young children with hypoplastic left heart syndrome. *Cardiology in the young*, 28, 126-133.
- NASR, D. M. & RABINSTEIN, A. A. 2015. Neurologic complications of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Journal of Clinical Neurology*, 11, 383-389.
- NIJHUIS-VAN DER SANDEN, M. W., VAN DER CAMMEN-VAN, M. H., JANSSEN, A. J., REUSER, J. J., MAZER, P., VAN HEIJST, A. F., GISCHLER, S. J., TIBBOEL, D. & KOLLÉE, L. A. 2009. Motor performance in five-year-old extracorporeal membrane oxygenation survivors: a population-based study. *Critical Care*, 13, R47.
- NOMURA, Y., FAEGLE, R., HORI, D., AL-QAMARI, A., NEMETH, A. J., GOTTESMAN, R., YENOKYAN, G., BROWN, C. & HOGUE, C. W. 2018. Cerebral small vessel, but not large vessel disease, is associated with impaired cerebral autoregulation during cardiopulmonary bypass: a retrospective cohort study. *Anesthesia and analgesia*, 127, 1314.
- NOONE, M., SELLWOOD, M., MEEK, J. & WYATT, J. 2003. Postnatal adaptation of cerebral blood flow using near infrared spectroscopy in extremely preterm infants undergoing high-frequency oscillatory ventilation. *Acta Paediatrica*, 92, 1079-1084.
- NORRISH, G. & KASKI, J. P. 2018. Congenital heart disease: An ageing problem. *British Journal of Cardiology*, 25, 46-47.
- O'BRIEN, N. F. 2015. Reference values for cerebral blood flow velocities in critically ill, sedated children. *Child's Nervous System*, 31, 2269-2276.
- O'BRIEN, N. F., BUTTRAM, S. D., MAA, T., LOVETT, M. E., REUTER-RICE, K., LAROVERE, K. L. & GROUP, P. N. C. R. 2019. Cerebrovascular physiology during pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a multicenter study using transcranial Doppler ultrasonography. *Pediatric Critical Care Medicinel Society of Critical Care Medicine*, 20, 178-186.
- O'BRIEN, N. F. & HALL, M. W. 2013. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation and cerebral blood flow velocity in children. *Pediatric critical care medicine: a journal of the Society of Critical Care Medicine and the World Federation of Pediatric Intensive and Critical Care Societies*, 14.
- OGAWA, Y., IWASAKI, K.-I., AOKI, K., GOKAN, D., HIROSE, N., KATO, J. & OGAWA, S. 2010. The different effects of midazolam and propofol sedation on dynamic cerebral autoregulation. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 111, 1279-1284.
- OHMAE, E., ODA, M., SUZUKI, T., YAMASHITA, Y., KAKIHANA, Y., MATSUNAGA, A., KANMURA, Y. & TAMURA, M. 2007. Clinical evaluation of time-resolved spectroscopy by measuring cerebral hemodynamics during cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. *Journal of biomedical optics*, 12, 062112.
- OHYE, R. G., SLEEPER, L. A., MAHONY, L., NEWBURGER, J. W., PEARSON, G. D., LU, M., GOLDBERG, C. S., TABBUTT, S., FROMMELT, P. C. & GHANAYEM, N. S. 2010. Comparison of shunt types in the Norwood procedure for single-ventricle lesions. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 362, 1980-1992.
- OKITA, Y., MINATOYA, K., TAGUSARI, O., ANDO, M., NAGATSUKA, K. & KITAMURA, S. 2001. Prospective comparative study of brain protection in total aortic arch replacement: deep hypothermic circulatory arrest with retrograde cerebral perfusion or selective antegrade cerebral perfusion. *The Annals of thoracic surgery*, 72, 72-79.

- ORTUNO, S., DELMAS, C., DIEHL, J. L., BAILLEUL, C., LANCELOT, A., NAILI, M., CHOLLEY, B., PIRRACCHIO, R. & AISSAOUI, N. 2019. Weaning from venoarterial extra-corporeal membrane oxygenation: which strategy to use? *Ann Cardiothorac Surg*, 8, E1-e8.
- OSHIMA, T., KARASAWA, F., OKAZAKI, Y., WADA, H. & SATOH, T. 2003. Effects of sevoflurane on cerebral blood flow and cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen in human beings: a comparison with isoflurane. *European journal of anaesthesiology*, 20, 543-547.
- PACINI, D., DI MARCO, L., LEONE, A., TONON, C., PETTINATO, C., FONTI, C., MANNERS, D. N. & DI BARTOLOMEO, R. 2010. Cerebral functions and metabolism after antegrade selective cerebral perfusion in aortic arch surgery. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg*, 37, 1322-31.
- PAPADEMETRIOU, M. D., TACHTSIDIS, I., ELWELL, C. E., ELLIOT, M. J. & HOSKOTE, A. 2012. Multichannel near infrared spectroscopy indicates regional variations in cerebral autoregulation in infants supported on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Journal of biomedical optics*, 17, 067008.
- PELLICER, A. & DEL CARMEN BRAVO, M. Near-infrared spectroscopy: a methodology-focused review. Seminars in fetal and neonatal medicine, 2011. Elsevier, 42-49.
- PETERSON, E. C., WANG, Z. & BRITZ, G. 2011. Regulation of cerebral blood flow. *International journal of vascular medicine*, 2011.
- PHELPS, H. M., MAHLE, W. T., KIM, D., SIMSIC, J. M., KIRSHBOM, P. M., KANTER, K. R. & MAHER, K. O. 2009. Postoperative cerebral oxygenation in hypoplastic left heart syndrome after the Norwood procedure. *The Annals of thoracic surgery*, 87, 1490-1494.
- PLUNKETT, A. & PARSLOW, R. C. 2016. Is it taking longer to die in paediatric intensive care in England and Wales? *Archives of disease in childhood*, 101, 798-802.
- POLITO, A., BARRETT, C. S., WYPIJ, D., RYCUS, P. T., NETTO, R., COGO, P. E. & THIAGARAJAN, R. R. 2013. Neurologic complications in neonates supported with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. An analysis of ELSO registry data. *Intensive care medicine*, 39, 1594-1601.
- POLITO, A., RICCI, Z., DI CHIARA, L., GIORNI, C., IACOELLA, C., SANDERS, S. P. & PICARDO, S. 2006. Cerebral blood flow during cardiopulmonary bypass in pediatric cardiac surgery: the role of transcranial Doppler–a systematic review of the literature. *Cardiovascular Ultrasound*, 4, 1-11.
- PRYDS, O., ANDERSEN, G. & FRIIS-HANSEN, B. 1990. Cerebral blood flow reactivity in spontaneously breathing, preterm infants shortly after birth. *Acta Paediatrica*, 79, 391-396.
- RAJARAM, A., MILEJ, D., SUWALSKI, M., YIP, L. C., GUO, L. R., CHU, M. W., CHUI, J., DIOP, M., MURKIN, J. M. & LAWRENCE, K. S. 2020. Optical monitoring of cerebral perfusion and metabolism in adults during cardiac surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass. *Biomedical Optics Express*, 11, 5967-5981.
- RAMAN, L. 2017. Impairment of cerebral autoregulation in pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Qatar Medical Journal*, 2017, 37.
- REINSFELT, B., WESTERLIND, A. & RICKSTEN, S. E. 2011. The effects of sevoflurane on cerebral blood flow autoregulation and flow-metabolism coupling during cardiopulmonary bypass. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*, 55, 118-123.
- REUTER, S., MOSER, C. & BAACK, M. 2014. Respiratory distress in the newborn. *Pediatrics in review*, 35, 417.

- REVES, J. G. 2019. Toward Understanding Cerebral Blood Flow during Cardiopulmonary Bypass: Implications for the Central Nervous System. *Anesthesiology*, 130, 609-613.
- RHEE, C. J., DA COSTA, C. S., AUSTIN, T., BRADY, K. M., CZOSNYKA, M. & LEE, J. K. 2018. Neonatal cerebrovascular autoregulation. *Pediatric research*, 84, 602-610.
- RILINGER, J. F., SMITH, C. M., ANN O DEREGNIER, R., GOLDSTEIN, J. L., MILLS, M. G., REYNOLDS, M., BACKER, C. L., BURROWES, D. M., MEHTA, P. & PIANTINO, J. 2017. Transcranial Doppler Identification of Neurologic Injury during Pediatric Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Therapy. *Journal of Stroke* and Cerebrovascular Diseases, 26, 2336-2345.
- RIMENSBERGER, P. Mechanical ventilation in paediatric intensive care. Annales francaises d'anesthesie et de reanimation, 2009. Elsevier Masson, 682-684.
- ROBINSON, S. & PEEK, G. 2015. The role of ECMO in neonatal & paediatric patients. *Paediatrics and Child Health*, 25, 222-227.
- ROLLINS, M. D., YODER, B. A., MOORE, K. R., BARNHART, D. C., JONES, C., NULL, D. M. & DIGERONIMO, R. J. 2012. Utility of neuroradiographic imaging in predicting outcomes after neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Journal* of pediatric surgery, 47, 76-80.
- RÜFFER, A., TISCHER, P., MÜNCH, F., PURBOJO, A., TOKA, O., RASCHER, W., CESNJEVAR, R. A. & JÜNGERT, J. 2017. Comparable Cerebral Blood Flow in Both Hemispheres During Regional Cerebral Perfusion in Infant Aortic Arch Surgery. Ann Thorac Surg, 103, 178-185.
- SANTO, K. C., BARRIOS, A., DANDEKAR, U., RILEY, P., GUEST, P. & BONSER, R. S. 2008. Near-infrared spectroscopy: an important monitoring tool during hybrid aortic arch replacement. *Anesth Analg*, 107, 793-6.
- SARKAR, M. & PRABHU, V. 2017. Basics of cardiopulmonary bypass. *Indian journal of anaesthesia*, 61, 760.
- SATO, K., SADAMOTO, T., HIRASAWA, A., OUE, A., SUBUDHI, A. W., MIYAZAWA, T. & OGOH, S. 2012. Differential blood flow responses to CO2 in human internal and external carotid and vertebral arteries. *The Journal of physiology*, 590, 3277-3290.
- SCHMIDT, M., BRÉCHOT, N., HARIRI, S., GUIGUET, M., LUYT, C. E., MAKRI, R., LEPRINCE, P., TROUILLET, J.-L., PAVIE, A. & CHASTRE, J. 2012. Nosocomial infections in adult cardiogenic shock patients supported by venoarterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Clinical infectious diseases*, 55, 1633-1641.
- SCHRAMM, P., CLOSHEN, D., FELKEL, M., BERRES, M., KLEIN, K. U., DAVID, M., WERNER, C. & ENGELHARD, K. 2013. Influence of PEEP on cerebral blood flow and cerebrovascular autoregulation in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Journal of neurosurgical anesthesiology*, 25, 162-167.
- SEGAL, A., ABERNETHY, W., PALACIOS, I., BELUE, R. & RORDORF, G. 2001. Stroke as a complication of cardiac catheterization: risk factors and clinical features. *Neurology*, 56, 975-977.
- SELNES, O. A., GOTTESMAN, R. F., GREGA, M. A., BAUMGARTNER, W. A., ZEGER, S. L. & MCKHANN, G. M. 2012. Cognitive and neurologic outcomes after coronary-artery bypass surgery. *N Engl J Med*, 366, 250-7.
- SHAHAN, C. P., GRAY, R. I., CROCE, M. A. & FABIAN, T. C. 2017. Impact of circle of Willis anatomy in traumatic blunt cerebrovascular injury-related stroke. *Trauma* surgery & acute care open, 2.
- SKOW, R. J., MACKAY, C. M., TYMKO, M. M., WILLIE, C. K., SMITH, K. J., AINSLIE, P. N. & DAY, T. A. 2013. Differential cerebrovascular CO2 reactivity in anterior

and posterior cerebral circulations. *Respiratory physiology & neurobiology*, 189, 76-86.

- SLUPE, A. M. & KIRSCH, J. R. 2018. Effects of anesthesia on cerebral blood flow, metabolism, and neuroprotection. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 38, 2192-2208.
- STEINER, L. A., PFISTER, D., STREBEL, S. P., RADOLOVICH, D., SMIELEWSKI, P. & CZOSNYKA, M. 2009. Near-infrared spectroscopy can monitor dynamic cerebral autoregulation in adults. *Neurocritical care*, 10, 122.
- STEINER, P. 2019. Brain fuel utilization in the developing brain. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism, 75, 8-18.
- STILES, J. & JERNIGAN, T. L. 2010. The basics of brain development. *Neuropsychology review*, 20, 327-348.
- SUNDGREEN, C., LARSEN, F. S., HERZOG, T. M., KNUDSEN, G. M., BOESGAARD, S. & ALDERSHVILE, J. 2001. Autoregulation of cerebral blood flow in patients resuscitated from cardiac arrest. *Stroke*, 32, 128-132.
- TABBUTT, S., NORD, A. S., JARVIK, G. P., BERNBAUM, J., WERNOVSKY, G., GERDES, M., ZACKAI, E., CLANCY, R. R., NICOLSON, S. C. & SPRAY, T. L. 2008. Neurodevelopmental outcomes after staged palliation for hypoplastic left heart syndrome. *Pediatrics*, 121, 476-483.
- TAN, C. O. 2012. Defining the characteristic relationship between arterial pressure and cerebral flow. *Journal of applied physiology*, 113, 1194-1200.
- TAŞDEMIR, O., SARITAŞ, A., EREF KÜÇÜKER, Ş., ÖZATIK, M. A. & ŞENER, E. 2002. Aortic arch repair with right brachial artery perfusion. *The Annals of thoracic surgery*, 73, 1837-1842.
- THEORELL, C. 2002. Cardiovascular assessment of the newborn. *Newborn and Infant Nursing Reviews*, 2, 111-127.
- THIAGARAJAN, R. R., LAUSSEN, P. C., RYCUS, P. T., BARTLETT, R. H. & BRATTON, S. L. 2007. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation to aid cardiopulmonary resuscitation in infants and children. *Circulation*, 116, 1693-1700.
- THIARA, A., HOEL, T., KRISTIANSEN, F., KARLSEN, H., FIANE, A. & SVENNEVIG, J. 2007. Evaluation of oxygenators and centrifugal pumps for long-term pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Perfusion*, 22, 323-326.
- TIAN, F., MORRISS, M. C., CHALAK, L., VENKATARAMAN, R., AHN, C., LIU, H. & RAMAN, L. 2017. Impairment of cerebral autoregulation in pediatric extracorporeal membrane oxygenation associated with neuroimaging abnormalities. *Neurophotonics*, 4, 041410.
- TIECKS, F. P., LAM, A. M., AASLID, R. & NEWELL, D. W. 1995. Comparison of static and dynamic cerebral autoregulation measurements. *Stroke*, 26, 1014-1019.
- TLÁSKAL, T., HUCÍN, B., KOSTELKA, M. & MAREK, J. 1998. Primary repair of transposition of the great arteries with interrupted aortic arch. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg*, 13, 310-2.
- TOBIAS, J. D., RUSSO, P. & RUSSO, J. 2009. Changes in near infrared spectroscopy during deep hypothermic circulatory arrest. *Ann Card Anaesth*, 12, 17-21.
- TRIVEDI, U. H., PATEL, R. L., TURTLE, M. R., VENN, G. E. & CHAMBERS, D. J. 1997. Relative changes in cerebral blood flow during cardiac operations using xenon-133 clearance versus transcranial Doppler sonography. *Ann Thorac Surg*, 63, 167-74.
- TRUEMPER, E. J. & FISCHER, A. 1993. Cerebrovascular developmental anatomy and physiology in the infant and child. *Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography*, 355-75.

- TSIVGOULIS, G., ALEXANDROV, A. V. & SLOAN, M. A. 2009. Advances in transcranial Doppler ultrasonography. *Current neurology and neuroscience reports*, 9, 46-54.
- TSOU, P.-Y., GARCIA, A. V., YIU, A., VAIDYA, D. M. & BEMBEA, M. M. 2020. Association of cerebral oximetry with outcomes after extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Neurocritical care*, 1-9.
- TSUJI, M., SAUL, J. P., DU PLESSIS, A., EICHENWALD, E., SOBH, J., CROCKER, R.
  & VOLPE, J. J. 2000. Cerebral intravascular oxygenation correlates with mean arterial pressure in critically ill premature infants. *Pediatrics*, 106, 625-632.
- TYSZCZUK, L., MEEK, J., ELWELL, C. & WYATT, J. 1998. Cerebral blood flow is independent of mean arterial blood pressure in preterm infants undergoing intensive care. *Pediatrics*, 102, 337-341.
- TZENG, Y.-C. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2014. Blood pressure regulation IX: cerebral autoregulation under blood pressure challenges. *European journal of applied physiology*, 114, 545-559.
- UDOMPHORN, Y., ARMSTEAD, W. M. & VAVILALA, M. S. 2008. Cerebral blood flow and autoregulation after pediatric traumatic brain injury. *Pediatric neurology*, 38, 225-234.
- VAN BEL, F., LEMMERS, P. & NAULAERS, G. 2008. Monitoring neonatal regional cerebral oxygen saturation in clinical practice: value and pitfalls. *Neonatology*, 94, 237-244.
- VAN DER LINDEN, J., PRIDDY, R., EKROTH, R., LINCOLN, C., PUGSLEY, W., SCALLAN, M. & TYDEN, H. 1991. Cerebral perfusion and metabolism during profound hypothermia in children: a study of middle cerebral artery ultrasonic variables and cerebral extraction of oxygen. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*, 102, 103-114.
- VAN HEIJST, A., LIEM, D., HOPMAN, J., VAN DER STAAK, F. & SENGERS, R. 2004. Oxygenation and hemodynamics in left and right cerebral hemispheres during induction of veno-arterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *The Journal of pediatrics*, 144, 223-228.
- VAN HEIJST, A. F., AMERIK, C. & IJSSELSTIJN, H. ECMO in neonates: neuroimaging findings and outcome. Seminars in Perinatology, 2014. Elsevier, 104-113.
- VAVILALA, M., MUANGMAN, S., TONTISIRIN, N., FISK, D., ROSCIGNO, C., MITCHELL, P., KIRKNESS, C., ZIMMERMAN, J., CHESNUT, R. & LAM, A. 2006. Impaired cerebral autoregulation and 6-month outcome in children with severe traumatic brain injury: preliminary findings. *Developmental neuroscience*, 28, 348-353.
- VAVILALA, M. S., KINCAID, M. S., MUANGMAN, S. L., SUZ, P., ROZET, I. & LAM, A. M. 2005. Gender differences in cerebral blood flow velocity and autoregulation between the anterior and posterior circulations in healthy children. *Pediatric research*, 58, 574.
- VERLHAC, S. 2011. Transcranial Doppler in children. Pediatric radiology, 41, 153-165.
- VERSTRAETE, S., VAN DEN BERGHE, G. & VANHOREBEEK, I. 2018. What's new in the long-term neurodevelopmental outcome of critically ill children. *Intensive care medicine*, 44, 649-651.
- VESOULIS, Z. A. & MATHUR, A. M. 2017. Cerebral autoregulation, brain injury, and the transitioning premature infant. *Frontiers in pediatrics*, 5, 64.
- VUTSKITS, L. 2014. Cerebral blood flow in the neonate. Pediatric Anesthesia, 24, 22-29.

- WAITZER, E., RILEY, S., PERREAULT, T. & SHEVELL, M. I. 2009. Neurologic outcome at school entry for newborns treated with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for noncardiac indications. *Journal of child neurology*, 24, 801-806.
- WANG, X., YANG, F., ZHU, J., LIU, Y., SUN, L. & HOU, X. 2020. Aortic arch surgery with hypothermic circulatory arrest and unilateral antegrade cerebral perfusion: perioperative outcomes. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*, 159, 374-387. e4.
- WARE, L. B. & MATTHAY, M. A. 2000. The acute respiratory distress syndrome. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 342, 1334-1349.
- WEBER, T. R. & KOUNTZMAN, B. 1996. The effects of venous occlusion on cerebral blood flow characteristics during ECMO. *Journal of pediatric surgery*, 31, 1124-1127.
- WERNOVSKY, G. 2006. Current insights regarding neurological and developmental abnormalities in children and young adults with complex congenital cardiac disease. *Cardiology in the Young*, 16, 92-104.
- WIEN, M., WHITEHEAD, M., BULAS, D., RIDORE, M., MELBOURNE, L., OLDENBURG, G., SHORT, B. L. & MASSARO, A. N. 2017. Patterns of brain injury in newborns treated with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 38, 820-826.
- WILLIE, C., COLINO, F., BAILEY, D., TZENG, Y., BINSTED, G., JONES, L., HAYKOWSKY, M., BELLAPART, J., OGOH, S. & SMITH, K. 2011. Utility of transcranial Doppler ultrasound for the integrative assessment of cerebrovascular function. *Journal of neuroscience methods*, 196, 221-237.
- WILLIE, C., MACLEOD, D., SHAW, A., SMITH, K., TZENG, Y.-C., EVES, N., IKEDA, K., GRAHAM, J., LEWIS, N. & DAY, T. 2012. Regional brain blood flow in man during acute changes in arterial blood gases. *The Journal of physiology*, 590, 3261-3275.
- WILLIE, C. K., TZENG, Y. C., FISHER, J. A. & AINSLIE, P. N. 2014. Integrative regulation of human brain blood flow. *The Journal of physiology*, 592, 841-859.
- WONG, J. K., SMITH, T. N., PITCHER, H. T., HIROSE, H. & CAVAROCCHI, N. C. 2012. Cerebral and lower limb near-infrared spectroscopy in adults on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Artificial organs*, 36, 659-667.
- XIE, A., LO, P., YAN, T. D. & FORREST, P. 2017. Neurologic complications of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a review. *Journal of cardiothoracic and vascular anesthesia*, 31, 1836-1846.
- ZABROCKI, L. A., BROGAN, T. V., STATLER, K. D., POSS, W. B., ROLLINS, M. D. & BRATTON, S. L. 2011. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for pediatric respiratory failure: Survival and predictors of mortality. *Critical care medicine*, 39, 364-370.